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Property Development and Investment YJ¥#ERERKRE

B [E, No.1 Longting Lake, Kaifeng Deson Century Place (Section G)
FHEBEEHLREESTHIRERGE)
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Property Development and Investment YJ¥BRERKRE

Hainan Jingheng Hotel
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Trading of Medical Equipment $HEBERE

Medical Technologies Limited

HEBEREZ2ER[RAA

Ottobock. Exoskeleton Series facilities to take off pressure from the workers according to the
biomechanics of repetitive and strenuous activities. No electricity is needed to drive the exoskeletons.
They are light weighted and highly flexible, which could be used in both indoor and outdoor.

Ottobock. INEHBERBEM NEREERETAES
BREBTHSRERNES - EMEFERENERE
B BEEONEESERLL  EANEINGESE
H o

In 2024, Medical Technologies Limited joined two exhibitions: OSH Innovation & Technology Expo &
Third Runway Division Safety Promotion. Application of non-electrical driven tools will be the trend in
the field of occupational safety.

20244 - L%lﬁ’“@ﬂ{&%g*ﬁﬁﬁ ADRM2MT [BLRAFEMREE | M =ERER *» X2
BAE MERE - FE @IEE’JFEFHH EXNABILZE2RENEE -

Hope4Care AR Rehabilitation Training system is developed by the Biomedical Engineering Department
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. It provides exercise programs with real-time monitoring of
users’ body movements. Also following with the development of tele-rehabilitation, Hope4Care
provides a platform with cloud service for remote training, body movements recordings and remote
review.

HopedCare ARIEIZERERIIREREBETXARBAEYBETIRAME - REBKRE - BRE
AR FORBEIE - (8 EZEBEROEE - Hope4Care ARKYHIRTMER — BEimF & iR &R
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In 2024, we showed Hope4Care AR Rehabilitation
Training system in OSH Innovation & Technology Expo
to promote smart monitoring of warm-up exercises in
workplace. And the first system in hospital is also
launched in March 2024.
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Medical Technologies Limited took part in the exhibition
which held by the Hong Kong Physiotherapy Association in
June 2023, we are invited to exhibit Hope4Care AR and give
a speech about and to promote the relationship of
Hope4Care AR and tele-rehabilitation, and the introduce the
future trend of tele-rehabilitation.

20236 H - MR B BERSERARZE T HEEYIRR
ERHeRRNRE - AR I3 BUR HHopedCare AR MBS
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B ERE o

Neurological rehabilitation system combining with smart rehabilitation promotes motor learning and
brain reorganization to improve function, reduce symptoms, and improve the well-being of the
patient.

HEERRBES TR EFRRITREESHEEMAMER  AREEENREBYE  REAERILNE R
BEVRERE o

In December 2023, Medical Technologies Limited participate in the exhibition held by the Hong Kong
Occupational Therapy Association, showcasing state-of-the-art equipment for whole-body and cognitive
rehabilitation.

20235127 R BERERERARARSETHEERFAFMBERNRE RN TREENZHT
REMBIERRME ©

In March 2024, Medical Technologies Limited take part in booth held
by the Hong Kong Society for Hand Therapy for the first time to
showcase a range of devices for hand therapy, including Tyromotion
AMADEO. This is the world’'s first device covers passive and active-
assistive and resistive trainings of individual fingers.

2024F3F  HEERBEESRFRAREAZ
BT HEBFS /mﬁﬁ;;\%ﬁ#wﬁ o LRBER R
T—RIFHRERE EFE ?ETyromotlon
AMADEO : 2IkE & EE B F15II5kMNeE
EWE) - EBEFENFBE NFIER o

EZEREBEEEARQR —T_WFFR



Trading of Home Security and Automation Products SHERERZR BELLEM

Deson Innovative Limited and other associates companies

HELSRASARAGAREMEE QT

Deson Innovative Ltd. has extensively provided applications of artificial intelligence (“Al”) video analysis
systems throughout the current year. We have successfully provided human data analysis services for a
renowned international art exhibition, assisting the organizers in adjusting the plans and enhancing the
visitor experience through crowd analysis and age-gender statistics. Additionally, we have collaborated with
multiple nursing home to offer anti-wandering detection solutions. Through our Al video analysis system,
we accurately identify abnormal behavior in elderly individuals, improving their safety and reducing the
workload of healthcare professionals.

Furthermore, we provide personnel safety equipment detection solutions for construction sites. Utilizing Al
technology, we autonomously monitor the safety conditions of building sites, identify potential safety risks,
and ensure personnel safety, thus enhancing site security and management efficiency.

To promote our company's products and application solutions, we actively organize seminars to showcase
the latest technological features and solutions to clients and industry professionals. Simultaneously, we
collaborate with industry partners to organize seminars, expand our market influence, and attract a wider
range of potential customers.

Deson Innovative Ltd. remains committed to continuous efforts in innovating and improving our products
and solutions to meet customer demands and maintain a leading position in the market.

BEEERARERATAERNFERZRERE T ATERBEINAGHRR - BRI RERBEREMN
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Famous International Art Expo
EHEEREMEES

At this international art exhibition, we applied Al
video analysis technology to analyze visitor age,
gender, and attendance statistics. In order to protect
personal privacy, we strictly comply with relevant
regulations and privacy policies. All collected data
does not contain personal information, and all
statistical figures are transmitted to the organizers so
that they can better optimize event planning and
arrangements for future similar activities.

EEBEBREMEL  RPAEATARBED RN - 2
A B Fe - ERIMABGE - BT REEARAL -
BFIBRBETHBERMELEE A KREZRET
SEAEHR - XS ARABFERERTT - UEM
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Latest Al Product Solutions Seminar
RHAIER A RS

In this year, multiple product solution seminars
have been held to promote the latest Al
application solutions to clients from various
industries. In addition to the traditional security
market, new industries such as healthcare,
Internet of Things (loT), retail, and government
agencies have been introducted.

FRBRZSERH RPN E, EZFHAl &
AARERGTRTENTR, KTELGHNE
Pimis, #E T EE  MBE  TE - BTRE

=T °

Hong Kong Historical Architectural
Buildings — Audio-Visual System
BEELTEESEY — XEERED

In a historic architectural structure situated in Sham
Shui Po, we provided an advanced audiovisual
system, encompassing a multimedia system,
projector edge blending system, conference system,
and visitor experience system.

RTERFKENEERZENLZRKEERR, B8R
ZRBRG BREMEGAHER @REGND
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We"), | hereby
present to you this annual report (the “Annual Report”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (“Reporting Period” or the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since July 2023, as the Central Government and local
governments at all levels have been successively introducing
policies such as issuing of RMB1 trillion worth of sovereign
bonds, relaxing property purchase limit, and supporting the “three
major projects” including redevelopment of urban villages, market
expectation has started to stabilise with confidence boosted,
which is conducive to the stable and healthy development of the
real estate market. The Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development and the National Financial Regulatory
Administration, adhering to the principle of “pursuing progress
while ensuring stability, consolidating stability through
advancement, and prioritising development before addressing
problems”, and have introduced measures and mechanisms to
satisfy rigid and discretionary housing demand. They included real
estate financing coordination mechanisms, lowering mortgage
interest rate, city-specific, location-specific measures and aiming
for precision in rolling out policies. Generally speaking, the
optimisation of policies in core cities has continued, and the
property market has gradually bottomed out and stabilised.

The Group’s financial performance primarily arose from sale of
properties, rental income from investment properties, sale of
medical equipment, sale of home security and automation
products and income from operation of a hotel.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$128.1 million (2023: approximately HK$97.6
million). The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$75.7 million (2023: HK$91.0 million),
representing a decrease in loss of approximately HK$15.3 million
or 17%.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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The significant drop in loss was due to (i) the gain arising from
the disposal of the investment property in Haikou, the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC”) amounting to approximately
HK$14,497,000 (after taxation); (ii) the gain arising from the
disposal of the commercial properties in Haikou, the PRC via the
disposal of a subsidiary amounting to approximately
HK$2,487,000 (after taxation); (iii) the gain arising from the
disposal of the commercial properties in Haikou, the PRC via the
disposal of a subsidiary amounting to approximately
HK$24,254,000 (after taxation) and (iv) the dividend income
received from an investee amounting to approximately
HK$74,865,000 due to the disposal of one of the equity
investments that was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
by that investee.

The above was partially offset by (i) the increase in fair value loss
on equity investments designated at fair value through profit or
loss from a loss of approximately HK$75,709,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to a loss of approximately
HK$104,893,000 for the Reporting Period due to the significant
decrease in the share price of one of the equity investment that
was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock Exchange; (ii) the change
in fair value of investment properties from a gain of
approximately HK$46,284,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 to a loss of approximately HK$32,364,000 for the Reporting
Period; and (iii) the increase in the provision for net realisable
value of property held for sales from approximately
HK$10,374,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$15,696,000 for this Reporting Period.

Loss per share for the Reporting Period was HK5.16 cents (2023:
6.20 cents).

The consolidated net assets value of the Group as at 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$1,342 million (2023: approximately
HK$1,467 million). The consolidated net assets value per share as
at 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$0.91, based on
1,466,820,600 shares in issue, as compared to approximately
HK$1.00 per share based on 1,466,820,600 shares in issue as at
31 March 2023.

Chairman’s Statement
TEBREE
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, geopolitical uncertainties risk reducing economic
activity and disrupting global supply chains. Elections around the
world could also introduce new political risks and volatility. China
faces considerable domestic challenges from sluggish property
market to weak consumer sentiment. Spurring consumption will
be important but challenging. Recent relaxation of property
cooling measures in Hong Kong breathes new life into the
housing market but underlying economic performance depends
heavily on the economy of Mainland China given the deepening
integration. Overall, with numerous external and domestic
uncertainties compounding volatility, business outlook remains
clouded, and these challenging conditions may take an extended
period to fully resolve.

From a macro perspective, with the issuance of RMB1 trillion in
sovereign bonds, the economy of China is expected to make a full
recovery and enter a new cycle of development. The prospects of
the real estate industry, as a backbone of the national economy,
are becoming increasingly clear with restrictions on property
purchase and financing relaxing. Looking at the market, the real
estate industry and related upstream and downstream industries
still constitute a huge market with annual sales of more than
RMB10 trillion. We have always been confident about the
country’s economic development and believe that the future
remains promising.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the directors of the Company (“Directors”), |
would like to express my heartfelt thanks for the long-term
support and trust of the Company’'s shareholders, business
partners and customers. | would also like to express my sincere
appreciation to all of my colleagues for their dedication and
commitment to make valuable contributions to the Group during
the Year. In the coming year, the Group will carry on dedicating
its efforts and with our combined efforts, we are looking forward
to overcoming all those challenges and hence deliver sustainable
returns to the Company’s shareholders.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group’s major business segments during the year ended
31 March 2024 comprise:

(@)  the property development and investment business segment
where the Group is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding of
investment properties;

(b)  the trading business segment where the Group is engaged
in the trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products, including the provision of related
installation; and

(c)  the "others” segment comprises, principally, the operation
of a hotel.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$128,074,000 (2023: HK$97,563,000),
representing an increase of approximately 31% as compared to
last year.

In Mainland China, the overall economic activities had improved
as compared to the corresponding period in 2023 as pandemic
restrictions were removed during the early part of 2023. During
the vyear, the Central Government continued to provide
accommodative monetary policy and necessary fiscal stimulus to
boost economic recovery. Despite the magnitude of economic
recovery was below expectation because of the continued trade
and political tension with the U.S., Growth Domestic Product
growth of about 5% was recorded for 2023. However, the
property sector continued to weaken as many property developers
have yet to resolve the credit and liquidity problems carried
forward from previous years and there existed a lack of
confidence in the general market. In general, overall property
sales and sales prices declined as compared to the previous year
across sectors and regions in Mainland China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWKR DN

Property development and investment business

The Group’s revenue for the vyear ended 31 March 2024
generated from this segment was approximately HK$86,284,000
(2023: HK$34,818,000), representing a significant increase of
approximately 148% as compared with last year. Revenue
generated from this segment was derived from the sales of
properties in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and
rental income earned from investment properties located in the
PRC.

(i) Sales of properties

Revenue increased significantly from approximately
HK$10,910,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$68,114,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing a significant increase of approximately
524%. Sales for the Reporting Period were mainly
contributed by the sales of the animation center (area:
5,823 sg.m.) at the World Expo Plaza in Kaifeng, the PRC
("World Expo”) amounted to RMB34 million (approximately
HK$37 million). Compared with the corresponding period
last year, certain remaining commercial units at the World
Expo were sold with smaller contract sums. On the other
hands, Section G of Century Place in Kaifeng, the PRC has
been launched to the market during the Reporting Period.
It also caused the increase of turnover.

(ii) Rental income from investment properties
Rental income from investment properties decreased from
approximately HK$23,908,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$18,170,000 for the Reporting
Period, representing a decrease of approximately 24%.

The main decrease was due to the drop in rental income
from Haikou, the PRC. As the Group has sold the
commercial properties in Haikou to an independent third
party in August 2023, the tenancy agreement that expired
during the Reporting Period has not been renewed. On the
other hand, the decrease in the average exchange rate of
Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars from 1.14 to 1.09 also
caused the drop in rental income during the Reporting
Period.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

MERBRREXR

HE-_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE 4X&
B 8z EREURA#86,284,000/8 L (=
T =4F : 34,818,000/ 7T)  BMEFKIE LT
H148% ° ZRBWARAHEMRPEAR
HANHE(HEDOMEREBMNRPRENEE
MERBOBESUA -

(i) HEYE
WABHBE-_E-_=F=A=+—H801F
FEH10,910,0008 T RIE LFAEEHSE
TE-ME=ZA=1+—-BILEEYH
68,114,000/ 7T * K18 £ F+%)524% -
MEHRBANEE ZEZREDEMNF
FRME T EES ([HEES ) NEhResE
(A :5,823FFK) rZE@ARME
34,000,000 (#737,000,0005% T ) °
HEFRBMAL  BHEBESNE TH
THEBNUREKAENSHELE - Z—
FHE PERAMLRAGEENERE
HEAMELTS  TEREEBREMLE
F o

(i) BREYFEHL KA
KEMERSW AREE_T=_=F=
A=+—B1E%/E#4923,908,000/& T T
PR E IREHIM4918,170,00058 7 + A
l%/q 240/0 °©

FETBRIBEAFEEOMHES KA
T AN AEBMER T -=FNA
B—&BYE = HAHEMRNEATNE
¥y RRESHERNEROEERZ
KESEE - B—HmE ARELETLY
FHERB114TRE.097 E RS
HEANBES U AR D -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Segment loss generated from this segment during the Reporting
Period amounted to approximately HK$53,170,000 (2023: profit
of HK$36,367,000). The loss noted for this Reporting Period was
due to the combined effect of the following:

) the fair value loss on investment properties (before deferred
tax) of approximately HK$32,364,000 (2023: gain of
HK$46,284,000); and

i) the increase in the provision for net realisable value of
property held for sales from approximately HK$10,374,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$15,696,000 for this Reporting Period. The provisions
recognised for the properties held for sales were mainly
attributable to the properties located in Kaifeng, the PRC
where a significant drop was noted for the unit price for
unsold villas at Zone C and Zone F of Century Place,
Kaifeng, the PRC due to the worsen economy.

Very substantial disposal of an investment property
and certain properties in Hainan via the disposal of
companies

On 20 October 2022, Honour Advance Limited (“Honour
Advance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Fanning Properties Limited (“Fanning Properties”), an
independent third party entered into a letter of intent (“Letter of
Intent”) with Haikou Longhua City Investment Holding Co., Ltd.*
(CBOMBEERMMREZERAGRAF), in relation to a proposed
disposal of their entire interests in Honour Advance Real Estate
(Hainan) Limited* (T# &% (87 ) AR A F]) by Honour Advance
(“Disposal 1”) and Hainan Fruitful Business Management Ltd*
(BREmEEEEEMRARF) which held a property for the
benefit of the Group by Fanning Properties (“Disposal 2"”) at the
aggregate consideration of RMB385,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$427,778,000). On 7 August 2023, the parties
entered into the formal definitive agreement relating to the
Disposal 1 and Disposal 2. The Disposal 1 and Disposal 2 were
completed on 30 August 2023.

* English name for identification purpose only.
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Based on the total consideration for the Disposal 1 and Disposal
2 of RMB385 million (equivalent to approximately HK$427.8
million) and after deducting the net asset position of Honour
Advance Real Estate (Hainan) Limited* (T E % C8m) GR A7)
and the net book value of the investment property held on
behalf by Hainan Fruitful Business Management Ltd.* (& F = i
BEEEARAF) as at 30 September 2023 and the discount
effect due to deferred payment of the total consideration, the
enterprise income tax, transaction cost (including professional
fees, finder’s fee, administrative fees and related taxes), the
Group recognised a gain of approximately HK$24.3 million and
HK$17.0 million from the Disposal 1 and Disposal 2, respectively.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
7 August 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
31 August 2023 for details of the Disposal 1 and Disposal 2.

Trading business

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$28,715,000 (2023: HK$52,176,000), representing a significant
decrease of approximately 45% as compared with last year.

Revenue generated from this segment arises from the trading of
medical equipment, wellness and pandemic prevention products as
well as home security and automation products, including the
provision of the related installation and maintenance services.

(i) Trading of medical equipment, wellness and

pandemic prevention products

Revenue decreased significantly from approximately
HK$45,345,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$24,746,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing a significant decrease of approximately
45%. The decrease was due to more orders completed in
the last reporting period due to the significant increase in
demand of air purifiers because of the coronavirus
pandemic. On the other hand, the purchase department of
the Hospital Authority (one of our major customers) has put
more focus on those urgent orders for anti-pandemic
products in the first half of 2022 which caused the
significant increase in turnover in the last reporting period.
Our major customer has deferred some of the non-urgent
orders to coming years.

* English name for identification purpose only.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(ii) Trading of home security and automation

products

Turnover decreased significantly from approximately
HK$6,831,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$3,969,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing a decrease of approximately 42%. The
decrease in turnover was because of the termination of the
trading of home security and automation business at China.
For the sales in Hong Kong, the drop was due to economic
growth was not up to as expectation,
became more conservative which causing the drop in sales
and demand of security products.

our customers

Segment operating loss generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$2,782,000
(2023: profit of HK$6,466,000). The loss noted for this Reporting
Period is due to the drop of sales due to the decrease of
demand our products and no more sales was noted at the China
region.

Other business, principally operation of a hotel

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$13,075,000 (2023: HK$10,569,000), representing an increase
of 24% as compared with last year. Revenue generated from this
segment arises mainly from the operation of a hotel. The Group
operates only one hotel, namely Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng City
Center ("Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng”) during the Reporting
Period. Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng is located in the city centre of
Kaifeng, with a total gross floor area of approximately 14,000
sg.m.. It consists of 243 guest rooms, including 100 king bed
standard rooms, 106 single bed standard rooms, 18 king bed
superior rooms, 18 single bed superior rooms and 1 suite. There
are also 3 meeting rooms with a total gross floor area of
approximately 460 sqg.m..

As the coronavirus crisis eased, the tourism business resumed
progressively to pre-pandemic levels. During the Reporting Period,
the overall performance of the Group’s hotel in the Mainland
China was greatly improved. The average occupancy rate
increased from 21% in last reporting period to 37% to this
Reporting Period.
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Segment operating loss generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$10,118,000
(2023: HK$6,931,000). This is mainly due to the recognition of
deficit from revaluation of property, plant and equipment, being
the hotel premises at Kaifeng, the PRC (before deferred tax) to
approximately HK$3,436,000 (2023: HK$1,271,000).

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$75,691,000 as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 of
approximately HK$90,967,000.

The significant drop in loss was due to (i) the gain arising from
the disposal of the investment property in Haikou, the PRC
pursuant to Disposal 2 amounting approximately HK$14,497,000
(after taxation); (ii) the gain arising from the disposal of the
commercial properties in Haikou, the PRC via the disposal of a
subsidiary under Disposal 2 amounting approximately
HK$2,487,000 (after taxation); (iii) the gain arising from the
disposal of the commercial properties in Haikou, the PRC
pursuant to Disposal 1 amounting approximately HK$24,254,000
(after taxation); and (iv) the dividend income received from an
investee amounting to approximately HK$74,865,000 due to the
sales of one of the equity investments that was listed in China on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange by that investee.

The above was partially offset by (i) the increase in fair value loss
on equity investments designated at fair value through profit or
loss from a loss of approximately HK$75,709,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to a loss of approximately
HK$104,893,000 for the Reporting Period due to the significant
decrease in the share price of one of the equity investment that
was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock Exchange; (ii) the change
in fair value of investment properties from a gain of
approximately HK$46,284,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 to a loss of approximately HK$32,364,000 for the Reporting
Period; and (iii) the increase in the provision for net realisable
value of property held for sales from approximately
HK$10,374,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$15,696,000 for this Reporting Period.

Loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK5.16 cents (2023: 6.20 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2024,
amounted to approximately HK$128 million,
approximately 31% as compared with last year.

the Group’s revenue
increased by

Such increase was mainly because of the increase in sales at the
property development and investment business segment because
of the sales of the old animation center (area: 5,823 sg.m.) at
the World Expo of RMB34 million (approximately HK$37 million)
during the Reporting Period. The increase was partially offset by
the drop in the demand for air purifiers which caused a
significant decrease in sales for the trading segment.

Revenue generated from the property development and
investment business, trading business and other business
amounted to approximately HK$86 million, HK$29 million and
HK$13 million, respectively, representing an increase of
approximately 148%, a decrease of approximately 45% and an
increase of approximately 24%, respectively, as compared with
the corresponding period of last year.

Gross profit margin

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s gross profit
margin was approximately 33%, down by approximately 19
percentage points as compared with last year's 52%.

This was mainly because of a lower gross margin noted for the
sales of the old animation center at the World Expo (around
17%) in Kaifeng, the PRC comparing with the sales of properties
in Haikou, the PRC. On the other hand, the decrease was driven
by a smaller proportion of rental income included in turnover
from property development and investment business segment in
the Reporting Period as compared with the same period last year,
decreasing from approximately 69% to approximately 21%. The
gross profit margin of the rental income was much higher than
that of the sales of properties. As a result, overall gross profit
margin was lower in the Reporting Period.
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Fair value (loss)/gain on an equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss

The amount represents the fair value change of the equity
investments designated at fair value through profit or loss. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has disposed all the shares of
one of the equity investments that was listed in China on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. At the disposal date, the share price
has decreased significantly comparing with the share price as at
31 March 2023 and fair value loss of HK$99.1 million was
recognised.

Other income and gains

During the Reporting Period, the Group has disposed all the
shares of one of the equity investments that was listed in China
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange through an equity investment.
Dividend income of approximately HK$74,865,000 was received
from that equity investment in the Reporting Period.

Liquidity, financial resources and gearing ratio

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources and also other borrowings. The Group adopted a
prudent cash and financial management policy.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$1,978,784,000, which were financed by total
liabilities, shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$637,194,000, approximately HK$1,353,075,000
and approximately HK$11,485,000 (debit balance), respectively.
The Group's current ratio as at 31 March 2024 was 1.80 as
compared with 2.73 as at 31 March 2023.

Gearing ratio is calculated by the total interest-bearing debts less
cash and cash equivalents divided by the total equity as at the
end of the respective reporting periods and multiplied by 100%.
The Group had a net gearing ratio of approximately 24% as at
31 March 2024 (2023: 31%). We analysed the maturity profiles
of our borrowings and manage our liquidity level to ensure a
sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness and meet cash
requirements arising from our business. We will explore various
financing opportunities to improve our capital structure and
reduce our cost of capital.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital expenditure
Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$339,000.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments
contracted, but not provided for, of approximately
HK$1,435,000.

Charges on group assets
Details of the charged asset of the Group are set out in note 26
of the financial statement.

Treasury policies

The Group had adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 March
2024. The Group strives to reduce its exposures to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Exchange risk exposure
The Group is mainly exposed to balances denominated in RMB
which mainly arise from certain entities’ foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities for the
Group’s operating activities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy to eliminate the currency exposures against changes in
exchange rates of RMB against Hong Kong Dollar.
management monitors the related foreign currency exposures
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposures should the need arises.

However,
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PROSPECTS

Property development and investment

In Mainland China, the economic outlook in 2024 depends on a
number of key factors, such as domestic policies, the global
economic conditions, and the international trade environment. It
is expected that the Central Government will continue its effort
to provide proactive and accommodative monetary policy and
fiscal stimulus to ensure stable economic growth. To revive and
support the property market, more supportive policies and
measures by Central Government are expected to be put in place
as the property market is very vital to the overall economy. With
the support from the Central Government to boost confidence
for the economy, it is anticipated that the property market will
gradually recover and improve in the long run.

During the Politburo meeting in December 2023, top leadership
has committed to boosting domestic demand and solidifying the
economic recovery in 2024. To achieve this, fiscal policy will be
moderately strengthened, while a prudent monetary policy will be
executed with flexibility, moderation, precision, and effectiveness.
With the goal of establishing a virtuous cycle between
consumption and investment, profound reforms will be
implemented in key areas, providing a strong driving force for
high-quality development.

To support post-pandemic economic recovery, the Central
Government has implemented a series of policy measures in
recent months. In the property sector, several initiatives have been
introduced to stimulate the market. These include the reduction
of payment ratios, the lowering of interest rates for second
homes, the adoption of a non-loan-based mortgage system, and
the removal of upper limit pricing restrictions on land sales in
additional cities. Since November 2023, the Central Government
and Central Bank have consistently offered support for the
reasonable financing needs of real estate companies. These
measures aim to reduce financial pressure and encourage a
healthy cycle between finance and real estate. The Group remains
positive about the future of the mainland property market in the
medium-to-long term.
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Century Place, Kaifeng

On 9 June 2005, the Group was granted the land use rights of a
development site with in Long Ting District of the city of Kaifeng,
Henan Province, the PRC, which has been developed into a
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor
area of approximately 210,500 sq.m., known as “Century Place,
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this report, the construction of a
gross floor area of approximately 190,000 sq.m. has been
completed and a total sales contract sum of approximately
RMB767 million has been achieved.

The unsold area at the Century Place Section A - Section F,
Kaifeng consists of the following:

CURRENT USE

EEENWR DN

Es Ry ST

R-ZEZRFNANA  KREEERPET
MARTmRE=RE —REEREMR 2 T FER
BEoZMREAEA—HREEMEGTNA
210,500 F F R ZFERREELSASER - 218
BIRHHLEE | -EEARTEHEH L
190,000 F A REEEED R T » FIEHEES
#RRERE E A AR 767,000,0007T °

Mt L SIEAREFE AL E@EBEA
T&IE:

GROSS FLOOR AREA

R0 E S EEEE
Section A Investment properties — Shops (leased out) 53,600 sg.m.
Al BREMFE — EmH(EH8) 53,600 75 2K
Section B Properties held for sales — Apartments 200 sg.m.
B& FEWE — 2B 200°F 77 K
Car park 70 units
&% 7018
Section C Properties held for sales — Villas 6,000 sg.m.
Clz TEME — RE 6,000 75 K
Section D Properties held for sales — Offices 1,200 sg.m.
D& HEME —PR=E 1,200 75 K
Car park 10 units
&% 101
Section E Properties held for sales — Shops 350 sg.m.
El TEME — B 350 75K
Section F Properties held for sales — Shops 4,900 sg.m.
Fl= TEME — BE 4,900F 75 K
Investment properties — Hotel (leased out) 6,200 sqg.m.
KEME — BE(EHHE) 6,200 75 K
Car park 86 units
BE5 861

During the Reporting Period, the Group has leased certain area of
Section F to an independent third party to operate a hotel.
Rental income was earned and such portion has been reclassified
as investment properties. In view of the improvement of the
tourism industry, the Group expects to lease out other unsold
area to reliable tenants to earn additional rental income.

RBEHEA > AEECRA—2BLFE =7
HEFRZ A TEBEARZEE-RBRE - B
WABKRE  BZHBOCEFDERKE
M BERNIRBEFAMNE  AEEFAEHE
HEEMARERE TR EEP - URIGES
HEUWA -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The remaining part of the land (Section G) has been launched to  #Z T Z Fl&rE8 5 (GIR) B R R & B A H#
the market during the Reporting Period. The unsold area at the HH5 - 42 FIBGEHAHEBBEBEIEAT

Century Place Section G, Kaifeng consists of the following: £I8
CURRENT USE GROSS FLOOR AREA
SR AR EEER

Section G Properties held for sales — Apartments 17,000 sqg.m.

Gl FEME — OB 17,000 75 %
Properties held for sales — Shops 3,400 sg.m.
FEWE — B 3,400°F 77 K
Car park 88 units
BE5 881

Up to the date of this report, the construction of a gross floor HZEAIREHE - BEMAEL 1,500 F KB
area of approximately 1,500 sq.m. has been completed and a &K¥T @ WEKERASLIHEARBHARE
total sales contract sum of approximately RMB23 million has been  23,000,0007T °

achieved.

World Expo, Kaifeng Bt HE %

On 16 February 2012, the Group successfully won a bid for the R-ZE——"F - F+/NH  KNEEKINFE
acquisition of land use right of a residential and commercial site  ER{5Ap Bl 59 354 70 — 18 73 (£ b 158 1Y) 3 {58 PR 4
in the city of Kaifeng, the PRC, which has been developed into a 3 B [ % & — {f {51 22 28 T 7 4995,000F /5
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor KZ{EERBEELATER  BiFAHEHE
area of approximately 95,000 sq.m., known as “World Expo, E#H| - EEAREHE  ABEBZRI 42
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this report, this project has been HERELEEIEXA68,000F 5K @ FiEALD
completed and achieved a total sales of gross floor area of #2%F8#%) A K #573,000,0007T °
approximately 68,000 sq.m. with a contract sum of

approximately RMB573 million.

The unsold area at the World Expo, Kaifeng consists of the BIFftEESMAHEEEEENATRE

following:
CURRENT USE GROSS FLOOR AREA
= Al A& EEHEE
Commercial Section A Property, plant and equipment — Hotel 14,000 sqg.m.
EAAR ME - BELRE — BB 14,000 77 K
Commercial Section B Properties held for sales — Shops 2,300 sg.m.
7 AB &R FEME — B 2,300 75 K
Residential Blocks 1-3 Properties held for sales — Apartments 6,700 sg.m.
FE1-30% FEVWE — 0F 6,700 75 K
Car park 142 units
BE5 1421@
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products

Medical equipment

The increasing standard of living around the globe, especially in
Hong Kong and major cities in the PRC, and increasing health
awareness, in particular from high-income consumers living in
urban areas, together create additional demand for medical
equipment. Consequently, this segment is expected to continue to
be a worthwhile investment. In the coming reporting period, we
will expand our distribution channels and introduce a broader
range of products to boost sales growth.

The Group has set up two associates, namely Hope4Care Limited
(20% owned by the Group) and UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd.
(35% owned by the Group), with independent third parties.

Hope4Care Limited (“Hope4Care”) is a research and development
company which engages in inventing intelligent human-computer
interaction rehabilitation training platforms for the elderly and
persons with chronic diseases. The Group cooperates with a
professor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong to develop
the online augmented reality and virtual reality training platforms
for stroke survivors and the elderly, including upper limb, lower
limb, balance and coordination exercises. The products specially
target on elderly and persons with chronic diseases and to
provide online rehabilitation service to improve their quality of
life.

During the Reporting Period, Hope4Care has been granted
ISO13485, which is applicable to research, design, development,
marketing and distribution of medical software. On the other
hand, Hope4Care has been granted HK$1.1 million under the
Chinese University of Hong Kong Technology Start-up Support
Scheme for Universities 2024-2025.

UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd. ("UltraX") (&£ RIS AR A
Al), is a company incorporated in Taiwan which holds the licence
for trading of medical equipment for both retail and wholesale
markets in Taiwan. UltraX has successfully obtained the
distribution right from EWAC Medical, a world market leader in
aquatic rehabilitation equipment. Based on our experiences in
hydrotherapy products, the Group intends to increase its market
share in Taiwan medical market.
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Home security and automation products

Through one of the associates of the Group, Axxonsoft Hong
Kong Limited, the Group continues to promote the application of
artificial intelligence ("Al”) video analysis technology, which can
provide various functions such as preventing loitering, assist in
controlling the spread of diseases, analysing human posture and
behaviour, and assisting property valuation.

In addition, with the improving standard of living and technology
in Hong Kong, major cities in the PRC and Southeast Asia, the
Group aims to provide a series of solutions to smart city
development for shopping malls, government facilities, border and
airport, etc.

In Hong Kong, we provide people flow analysis services to
financial institutions located in different areas to help them better
understand customer traffic patterns. We also provide advanced
video management platform software to various organisations of
the Hong Kong Government to enhance their monitoring and
management capabilities.

In Mainland China, we have successfully obtained the first
large-scale airport project which integrates multiple different
systems, such as access control systems, intrusion alarm systems
and fire alarm systems, etc.,, while combining over 18,000
channels of video cameras, some of which are equipped with Al
analysis capabilities, to provide more comprehensive physical
security information management services for airport managers.

We actively increase our market share by attending seminars and
exhibitions in order to promote our products and expand the
sales channel.

The Group will continue to adopt efficient cost management
strategies and maintain tight credit control measures to cope with
challenges and to improve competitiveness within the volatile
operating environment. The Directors will continue to make every
effort to maximise the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hotel operations

The Group has signed an agreement with InterContinental Hotels
Group (Shanghai) Ltd.* (a member of IHG Hotels & Resort) to
operate the hotel under the name of “Holiday Inn Express
Kaifeng City Center”. Holiday Inn Express is one of the
world-famous selected service hotel brands. Holiday Inn Express
Kaifeng was opened in January 2020.

In view of the increasing number of visitors at Kaifeng, the PRC,
the Group will continue to improve the quality of its hotel
services to ensure hotel guests will have enjoyable experiences
during their stays in the hotel.

The Board will strive for new breakthroughs in terms of industry
and geographical coverage by improving the Group’s corporate
governance to comply with the Listing Rules, increasing the risk
control level, enhancing asset management capability, further
forging a professional and high-quality talent team to seize
development opportunities and actively develop new customers.
The Group will also pay attention to maintain relationships with
existing customers and explore deeper cooperation with quality
customers in order to achieve steady and long-term development
of the Group.

On 25 June 2024, Deson E-Commerce (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd. (B %
ZmE (FHE)BMRAF) and Deson Property Development
(Kaifeng) Co., Ltd. GhE BZRE () AR A F]), both being
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into
eight lease agreements in respect of the lease of eight premises
with eight lessors, all are independent third parties, for a period
of 180 months commencing from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2039
(both days inclusive).

Each of the premises is a four-storey house located at Building
No. 4, 1 Longting Lake e Xiyuan, Longting Area, Kaifeng City,
Henan Province, the PRC. The Group intends to operate the
premises, together with other premises owned by the Group
located at the same location Building No. 3, 1 Longting Lake e
Xiyuan, Longting Area, Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC for
a new hotel business under the franchised brand of “Orange
Hotel”. The Group had entered into a hotel franchise agreement
with a member of H World Group Limited (NASDAQ: HTHT;
HK: 01179), a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ and
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and is involved in the
principal business of development of leased and owned,
manachised and franchised hotels mainly in the PRC.

* English name for identification purpose only.

EEENWR DN

BIEEE

AEES EMNEBEEEE T SNEEEIE
(EB)BRARZE: WE - U HHAESER
BEEBEE|2EZEEZEBE - SR BHB/E
BERMEGRBERBSEERE 2 — - B
HEBRAEEONR S-S E—-ARE-

ERTERBEMZHEARTEEM - NE
BHEEREDEREER BRESER

SR MROEERR -

EZeEENEARENEEERANEST
EmRA AKRTERMEBRERE LS
SKET R - TR IESIKE - BB EEE
e H  E—SHEBEXMELNATEEK -
NIEREEREELEBRBERHIETL - AKE
MFTRRRATPERREF  WnaRE
BXFPAF BAKEEZRREMRENHE
B

R-E-_NMFEXA-+HBE HEEEEHE
(A BRARLRBEEEXEER (FHH)BR
RNABHAEARRIZEZEZENB AR BN
HHBEANBOAEBYE=F)EENEAME
AN \HEERZE B WM&+ A—H
BE_Z-AGENA=ZTHIH(BREEEMW
H) - AH1801& A -

EWMEHAVRTENEAMAEMESTRE
IR e BERAFEZINESEE - A5
RERASBEEAUNE 2 (AP RTE
EHEMESEES NI« EE35HIE) 2 &
Y E—HREEZEME  WAIETBE]
B ERERENREEYR ASEDH
F(F LB AR QA (NASDAQ : HTHT : HK :
01179) (— MDA RETE 7 ME R FTER -
MZARR)  EBEKATENFEABRES
MEEEEMBEREHECEBEZKE AR
RINBIERS S R o

* WX ETEEM-ET -

HEEREBEEARAR —T_NFEFER

27



28

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWKR DN

FUNDRAISING FOR THE PAST TWELVE MONTHS
Placing of bonds and use of proceeds

On 29 January 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for the placing of unlisted corporate bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$20,000,000. The interest
rate is 10% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. The net
proceeds from the bond placing will be used by the Company to
offset outstanding amount of 13M Bond (as disclosed in note 28
to the notes to financial statement). As at the date of this report,
bonds of an aggregate principal amount of HK$13,000,000 were
subscribed for by one placee, who is an independent third party.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 136 employees, 87 of
whom were based in the PRC and the remaining employees were
based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefits expenses
including directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$36.0 million as compared with
approximately HK$37.7 million in the previous year. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in bonus and sales commission
for trading segment as higher sales was noted in the last
reporting period.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
were reviewed and approved by the Directors. Apart from
pension funds, in order to attract and retain a high calibre and
motivated workforce, the Group offers discretionary bonus and
share options to staff based on individual performance and the
achievements of the Group's targets.
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of (a) property
development and investment; (b) trading of medical equipment as
well as home security and automation products; and (c) operation
of a hotel.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 103 to 106.

No interim dividend was paid during the Year (2023: Nil). The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide a steady return to shareholders
and at the same time to maintain a strong financial position for
investment opportunities and sustainable development in the
future. Dividends proposed or declared, or not recommended, is
subject to financial performance, cash flows and future
investment opportunities of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) will be convened and
held on 27 August 2024 (Tuesday). A notice convening the AGM
will be published and despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as shareholders
of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 22 August 2024
to 27 August 2024, both days inclusive. In order to qualify as
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company are required to
lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 21 August 2024.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on page
48 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options
during the Year, if any, are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there was no equity-
linked agreement entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 107 and 108 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed in accordance
with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
amounted to approximately HK$89,739,000. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account and capital redemption
reserve, in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$255,310,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the

Company may make distributions from its contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 28 of this Annual
Report. These discussions form part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

This business review is made pursuant to paragraph 28(2)(d) of
Appendix D2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which further analysis of and
discussion on the above principal activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)
are made. In the opinion of the Directors, the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management discussion and
analysis” provide a comprehensive review of the performance of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 as well as its
future prospects.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are
considered to be of significance and have potential to affect the
Group’s businesses, results of operations and financial position.
However, this list is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks
and uncertainties which may arise as a result of changes in
economic and other conditions over time. The Group employs a
risk management and internal control framework to identify
current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
organisation so as to take preventive actions to avoid or mitigate
their adverse impacts.
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Risks relating to property development and
investment business segment

The property development and investment segment is one of the
major businesses of the Group, particularly in Mainland China.
Accordingly, this segment is subject to economic, political and
legal developments in Mainland China as well as the economies
in the surrounding region. In recent years, property market
movements in Mainland China have been concurrently affected by
the economic trend and government policies, including but not
limited to, the adoption of category-based regulatory measures
and the bilateral regulatory measures for the real estate market,
policy changes in mortgage levels and ownership, interest rate
changes, supply and demand conditions as well as the overall
economic volatility in Mainland China. The Group’s property
development and investment business segment is expected to
continue being exposed to these risks, which may affect the
Group's investment strategy as well as its performance. In this
respect, the Group actively assesses the overall economic, political
and legal developments as well as the property markets in other
provinces in Mainland China in deciding viable acquisitions and
selling strategies. For each potential project, detailed feasibility
studies and stress tests in regard to all aspects will be carried out
before an acquisition to minimise the risks.

Risks relating to financial conditions and results of

operation

(i)  The Group's finance costs fluctuate with changes in interest
rates. The Group’s borrowings also include amounts
denominated in RMB, in Mainland China. The People’s Bank
of China adjusts its benchmark lending rates from time to
time in response to domestic and global economic changes.
The Group may be affected by changes in the prevailing
interest rates of the global credit market. Any increase in
interest rates in connection with the currencies the Group
borrows will increase the Group’s finance costs and
customers’ mortgage interest rates and may adversely and
materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial position,
results of operations and growth prospects.
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(ii)

(iii)

The Group is required to reassess the fair value of its
investment properties at the end of every reporting period
to which financial statements are made up. Pursuant to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, investment
properties are stated at their fair value, and the changes in
their valuation should be taken to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of the financial period in which
it is incurred. Based on the valuation conducted by
independent external valuers, the Group recognises the
investment properties at fair value and the related deferred
tax in the consolidated statement of financial position, while
the changes in fair value and the related deferred tax of
investment properties are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Therefore, the assumptions
made in the valuation of investment properties would
change under changing market conditions. Notwithstanding
any variations in profit and loss, fair value gains and losses
are non-cash items and will not increase or decrease cash
and cash equivalents. The amount of revaluation adjustment
has been and will continuously be subject to changes in
market conditions. As such, there can be no assurance that
changes in market conditions will continue to generate
gains from fair value changes in investment properties at
similar level or at all, or there will be no decline in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties. If a property
market in the region where the Group operates slows
down, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
may decline.

With the majority of the properties located in Mainland
China, the general economic climate, regulatory changes,
government policies and the political conditions in Mainland
China may have a significant impact on the Group’s overall
financial results and condition. The Group’s rental income
may experience more frequent adjustments resulting from
competition due to oversupply in retail and office spaces.
Furthermore, rental levels may also be impacted by external
economic and market conditions including but not limited
to fluctuations in general supply and demand, performance
in stock markets and financial volatility, which may
indirectly affect the Group’s property investment
performance. The spread of COVID-19 pandemic and the
resultant government measures exert economic pressure on
the tenants of the Group. The weak retail markets affect
the Group’s financial results leading to decreases in revenue
and adverse effects on profits and cash flows.

(ii)

(iii)
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(iv)

Properties developed by the Group for sale in Mainland China
are subject to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”"). LAT is
calculated based on proceeds received from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures as provided in the
relevant tax laws. Pending settlement with the relevant tax
authorities, the Group makes provisions for the amount of
LAT in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations from time to time. Provisions for LAT are made
on the Group’s own estimates based on, among other
things, its own apportionment of deductible expenses which
is subject to final confirmation by the relevant tax
authorities upon settlement of the LAT. The Group only
prepays a portion of such provisions each year as required
by the local tax authorities. The Group cannot assure that
the relevant tax authorities will agree with its calculation of
LAT, nor can it assure that the LAT provisions will be
sufficient to cover its LAT obligations in respect of its past
LAT liabilities in relation to its combined property business.
If the relevant tax authorities determine that its LAT exceeds
the LAT prepayments and provisions, and seek to collect
that excess amount, the Group’s cash flows, results of
operations and financial position may be materially and
adversely affected. As there are uncertainties as to when
the tax authorities will enforce the LAT collection and
whether it will apply the LAT collection retrospectively to
properties sold before the enforcement, any payment as a
result of the enforcement of LAT collection may significantly
restrict the Group’s cash flow position, its ability to finance
its land acquisitions and to execute its business plans.
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(v  The Group operates a hotel in Kaifeng, the PRC. Hotel
performance is usually subject to a high degree of
fluctuations caused by both predictable and unpredictable
factors including seasonality, economic conditions, social
stability, epidemic diseases and ease of traveling. Each
factor has varied the development pattern of the tourism
and hospitality industry. The segment has been adversely
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and respective
governmental Counter measures such as
restriction on cross border travels and social distancing
adopted by governments unavoidably impacted our
operations and financial results leading to a plunge in
revenue, increases in costs and adverse effects on profits
and cash flows. In this respect, hotel segment closely
assesses the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic particularly on
revenue and cash flow as well as cost control and
operational efficiency to mitigate the adverse financial
impacts. It also takes continual reviews of competition, legal
and political changes as well as market trends for setting its
business strategies including marketing and pricing to
protect and drive profitability and cash flow.

responses.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working
practices and paying close attention to ensure that all resources
are efficiently utilised. The Group strives to become an
environmental-friendly corporation by saving electricity and
encouraging the recycling of office supplies and other materials.

The Group and its business activities are subject to requirements
under various laws. The laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group include, among others, Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Immigration
Ordinance (Chapter 115 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has put in place in-house rules containing measures and work
procedures to ensure that the Group’s operation is in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations.
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The Group’s major business is property development in Mainland
China, which is a heavily-regulated industry. Property developers
must abide by various-laws and regulations, including rules
stipulated by the national and local governments. To engage in
property development, the Group must apply to relevant
government authorities to obtain and renew various licences,
permits, certificates and approvals, including but not limited to,
land use rights certificates, qualification certificates for property
developers, construction work commencement permits,
construction work planning permits, construction land planning
permits and pre-sale permits. Before government authorities issue
or renew any certificate or permit, the Group must meet the
relevant requirements. Set out below is a summary of certain
aspects of Mainland China legal and regulatory provisions relating
to our property development and investment operations and
business. These include laws and regulations relating to:

Establishment of a real estate development enterprise

o Qualification of a real estate developer
o Land for property development
o Sale of commodity properties

. Transfer of real estate

o Mortgages of real estate
J Real estate management
o Measures on stabilising property prices

o PRC taxation

o Foreign currency exchange

o Labour protection

The Group is committed to complying with the above laws and

regulations and for the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no
reported case of material non-compliance.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and
congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group provided health and
safety communications for employees to present the relevant
information and raise awareness of occupational health and safety
issues. The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In
order to provide employees with health coverage, staff are
entitled to medical insurance benefits as well as other health
awareness programs.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a headcount of 136
employees (2023: 129), 87 of whom were based in the PRC and
the remaining employees were based in Hong Kong. Salaries of
employees are maintained at a competitive level and are reviewed
annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market as
well as the minimum wages guidelines as prescribed by the local
government from time to time. The total employee benefits
expenses including directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 March 2024 was approximately HK$36.0 million as compared
with approximately HK$37.7 million last year. The decrease was
due to the decrease in commission bonuses to salespeople under
the trading segment.

The Group awards discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based upon profit achievements of the Group and individual
performance. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme in order to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to align the interests of the employees with the Group’s
interests. Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are
reasonably remunerated and continues to improve and regularly
review and update its policies on remuneration and benefits,
training, and occupational health and safety.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers
and has on-going communication with the customers and
suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic
mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
PROVISION

Each Director or other officers of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has maintained
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in
the past five years is set out on pages 255 to 256 of this Annual
Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 46% (2023: 37%)
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 29% (2023: 16%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 42% (2023: 66%) of the total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 11% (2023: 41%).

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or any other shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
Year.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

¥e A B TR B B2 AR B ik XX

ARAZSUEBZFHEMSRABGERLEAR
NAIZEERGRE AEBEITH S HE
ZEEMERT  IREHBHZABERX
FEEREHFEMBERFLHE - RBE—
ZMF=ZRA=1+—HILFEAR AEEHTD
?’f%¥1$‘il§$&%2&/\§\El’ﬁﬁf'%ii&%ﬁ

REEEENEETNSMABEERR
TFEMBERE
AEENBERFNEE BERAGBHRE

AR ANFHRE 25522568 °

FEEFRHER
HE-_ZT-_NFZA=Z+—HILFE A&
BREAEPZHE HFNHEBTENI6%
—E =4 37%) EFmABEPZIHE
BEHME29% (ZE-=F : 16%) - KAEER
AARPERZHE  HFARBAELO2%
ZEZ=F 1 66%) HRRHEAHRERK
BrZE2ENEN%(CTEZF 1 41%) o

ARAEFHETABEA(ERR TR
)  HAREBEFAAREBARRE D BITRA
5% A EZ EMEMAR  REABEREE A
SEEARAATPRHEANEMNES#ES -



DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of the Annual Report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. TJIA Boen Sien*®
(Managing Director and Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing Ning*®
Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William
Ms. TSE Hoi Ying

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond**®

Mr. SIU Kam Chau**#@

Ir Siu Man Po

Mr. Song Sio Chong*#®

* audit committee members
# remuneration committee members
@ nomination committee members

Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William and Mr. Siu Kam
Chau will retire by rotation according to the Company’s Bye-Laws
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM to be held on Tuesday, 27 August 2024.

The Company considers that Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu
Man Po, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong are
independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and that it has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of them.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company'’s board of Directors with reference to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. For
further details of the Directors’ emoluments, please refer to note
8 to the financial statements.

Please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in pages 50 to 56 in this
Annual Report for biographical information in respect of the
Directors and senior management.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Continuing connected
transactions” and note 38 to the financial statements, no
Director, a connected entity of a Director nor a controlling
shareholder of the Company had a material beneficial interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which he would
be deemed or taken to have under Section 344 and 345 of the
SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company:
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Name of Directors EEHZ (BrE2) (BrE2) &% (HE&E3)

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien ("Mr. Tjia") FEEE(HEE] 129,002,400 (L) 524,902,500 (L) 653,904,900 4458
(Note 1) (BF7E1)

Mr. Wang ling Ning TRELE 39,644,100 (L) — 39,644,100 2.70

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William B 3,600,000 (L) — 3,600,000 0.25

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ERET 727,500 (L) — 727,500 0.05

Ir Siu Man Po FOK T2R0 1,580,000 (L) — 1,580,000 0.11
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Notes:

1. Sparta Assets Limited (“Sparta Assets”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI") and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, is beneficially interested
in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Tjia is deemed to
be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company held by Sparta Assets
by virtue of the SFO.

2. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of
the Company.

3. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue
as at 31 March 2024.

Long positions in Sparta Assets, being an associated
corporation:

GEX

1. EEBRZHEE ((REELHES ) AMAK A
F £ 2B E 2 Sparta Assets Limited ([ Sparta
Assets]) & H & A AN 22 1524,902,500 8% f 1
Hit  RIEZBH REEGRI - HEERE BN
Sparta Assets$¥ A 2 N2 &)524,902,500 i A% 17
BB -

2. LRZEBALRARTEBRO OG-

3. FEDBRR-IZE-MF=A=T-BEEITRA
#8#11,466,820,600/% i {5 -

R EE LB Sparta AssetsfViF & -

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROEE SORESME

Percentage

Directly Through of the Sparta

beneficially controlled Assets issued

owned corporation Total  share capital

{fSparta

Assets

HE pgcl 2817

Name of Director BEpE BRES Pl E &t i N= e

Mr. Tjia* WAL 1,000 — 1,000 100.00
* Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, * Sparta Assets (— &0 BB i 2 B S s A 2 I

is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 ordinary shares of the Company.

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share
option scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above and note 31 to the financial statements,
none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ interests and
short positions in shares and underlying shares” above and
“Share option scheme” below, and share option scheme
disclosures set out in note 31 to the financial statements, at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, nor were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations.

No share options was outstanding under the Scheme during the
Year.

Further details of the Scheme are included in note 31 to the
financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors of the
Company, the following persons/entities (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short
position in shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Division 2 and
3 of part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register of
interests of the Company required to be kept pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

FERRRHEMATRBRG REBRR
DHEERAR

R-ZZF-_WFE=ZA=1+—H BARAES
PR TOIAL BB (BEERAQAETET
BABBRIN) RAR B SKARRER D -
BREES LR EROIFEXVEFE2 R FE3DH
BRNRARE  REHARRBIRIEES
KB IGRDIE336IRZRNEREF 2 EmBRL
HMEOERIORE

Long positions: Ha
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
ordinary issued share
Capacity and nature shares held Capital
Name of interest (Note 3) (Note 4)
LR NN
21T
FEEBEREE BAEAB DL
=L SHOREREME (PFF&E3) (Fff=£4)
Sparta Assets (Note 1) Beneficial owner 524,902,500 (L) 35.79
Sparta Assets (Fi#E1) E=EAA
Granda Overseas Holding Co., Ltd Beneficial owner 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
("Granda”) (Note 2)
Granda Overseas Holding Co., Ltd E=BEAA
([Grandal) (F17E2)
Mr. Chen Huofa Interests of controlled 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
corporation
BR O S RPEE 2w
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Notes:

1. Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia,
is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Tjia is deemed to be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company
held by Sparta Assets by virtue of the SFO.

2. Granda, a company incorporated in the BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen
Huofa, is beneficially interested in 260,548,110 shares of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Chen Huofa is deemed to be interested in 260,548,110
shares of the Company held by Granda by virtue of the SFO.

3. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of
the Company.

4. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue
as at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company has
not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be notified to the Company under Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or were recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALES OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There was no change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION TO HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any relief or exemption available to
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Share Option
Schemes” in this section, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Group during the year under review or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Leases of office premises in Hong Kong

On 20 March 2023, Grand On Enterprise Limited (“Grand On"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Fitness Concept
Limited (“FCL"), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien
("Mr. Tijia"), the Managing Director and Chairman and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, for the leasing of a
property (the “Property”) of the Group in Hong Kong. The
Tenancy Agreement was for a term of one year from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024, with a rental of HK$18,000 per month
payable in advance. The annual rental fee payable by FCL to
Grand On for the year ended 31 March 2024 did not exceed
HK$216,000.

On 20 March 2024, Grand On entered into a renewed tenancy
agreement (“Renewed Tenancy Agreement”) with FCL for the
leasing of the Property. The Renewed Tenancy Agreement was for
a term of one year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025, with a
rental of HK$14,000 per month payable in advance. The annual
rental fee payable by FCL to Grand On for the financial year
ending 31 March 2025 are not expected to exceed HK$168,000.

Given that Mr. Tjia is the Managing Director and Chairman of the
Company and a substantial shareholder of the Company
interested in an aggregate of approximately 44.58% equity
interest in the Company at the time of entering into the
Renewed Tenancy Agreement, FCL, being wholly-owned by
Mr. Tjia, is a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules, the transaction therefore constitutes
a continuing connected transaction of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios of the transaction
under the Tenancy Agreement calculated with reference to the
annual rental fee payable by FCL to Grand On was less than 5%
and the total considerations involved were less than
HK$3,000,000, pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions were exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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EsgRE
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES MEFR
The properties held for sale of the Group are as follows: REBEFEMEDT
Attributable
interest of the Gross floor
Location Group Tenure  Current use area
b, B AEEEILERS FH B Al A& EEER
Phase | to IV of 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 1,312 sgq.m.
Asian Villas City Square a term of 70 years, commercial
Southern Area commencing on 13 May 1998 complex
Jinpen Industrial and expiring on 12 May 2068
Development Zone
Haikou
Hainan Province
PRC
Y 100% HEWMEFH T=E/  1312FHK
BEAE B—ANANFRA+T=RZ HEHFEEAR
O ZERNERATZAL
TRIXHER REI704F
A &
TMZIEA RS
E—2mH
Sections B to F 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 12,661 sg.m.
1 Xi Da Jie terms of 40 to 70 years, commercial
Kaifeng City commencing on complex
Henan Province 17 January 2008 and
PRC expiring on 20 July 2079
o 100% ZEMEFH FE/ 12,661F 7%k
NEES) —EENFE-AT+EHE HEHFESHER
HESh) T hFEEAZTHIE
PR 15] RHE40ET0EF
BEFE
Section G 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 15,947 sq.m.
1 Xi Da Jie terms of 40 to 70 years, commercial
Kaifeng City commencing on complex
Henan Province 22 December 2016 and
PRC expiring on 22 December 2081
PRI EERET 100% gxwyeaem TE/HEL  15947FHK
Gl ZEN—F+ZA=Z+=HI
BHI40ET70F
Commercial Zone A, B, C 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 9,000 sg.m.
and D terms of 40 to 70 years, Commercial
Core Lot No. 2012-1 commencing on 13 May 2013
Zheng Kai Avenue and expiring on 13 May 2083
Kaifeng City
Henan Province
PRC
i 100% HEMEFH T /HE 9,000 FHK
EEEEY e i) H-_Z—=FAHA+=HZ%

BiFA K38 2012-15% =i
A B CKDEZZ

—EN=FRA+=81F"
BEA0ET0F
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The investment properties of the Group are as follows: REEREMEDT :
Attributable

interest of the Gross floor
Location Group Tenure Lease term  Current use area
1t B FEEEGER FH iR BRI A% EEEE
12 Haixiu Avenue 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 22,803 sg.m.
Meilan District a term of 70 years,
Haikou commencing on 15 September
Hainan Province 2006 and expiring on
PRC 14 September 2076
& 100% ZEMEEH =30 mE  22803FHK
BrEE M-_ZTRFAATRAE
/Om “EERFAATEAL
XWE REA70%
BHERR125%
Section A 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 53,624 sg.m.
1 Xi Da lJie a term of 40 years,
Kaifeng City commencing on 20 July 2009
Henan Province and expiring on 20 July 2049
PRC
& 100% REMEEH =31 B¥E  53,624FFK
A —EZNFLAZTREE
B ™ ZEMAFEA AL
ARH1% RH405F
Al&
Section F 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 6,202 sg.m.
1 Xi Da lJie a term of 40 years,
Kaifeng City commencing on 20 July 2009
Henan Province and expiring on 20 July 2049
PRC
& 100% RENFEEH R [GES 6,202 77 K
A —ETAFLAZTHE
R ™ —EMAFLAZTBIL
78R 5% RH405F
Fl&
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
accordance with the requirements of the Corporate Governance
Code for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over
the Group’s internal controls, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of the annual results for
the Reporting Period, and adequacy of resources and
qualifications of the Company’s accounting staff. The audit
committee comprises of three independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu
Kam Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong. Mr. Siu Kam Chau is the
chairman of the committee.

The annual results of the Group for the Reporting Period have
been reviewed by the audit committee members who have
provided advice and comment thereon.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) had resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 13 January 2022. Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”) has been appointed as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 14 January 2022 to fill
the casual vacancy following the resignation of EY.

Baker Tilly will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for their
reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBAEBZEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. TJIA Boen Sien (“Mr. Tjia”), aged 80, is one of the
co-founders of the Group. He is the Managing Director and
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tjia is the member of
remuneration committee and the member of nomination
committee of the Board. Mr. Tjia is well respected and has
established connections in the PRC construction industry through
his extensive experience. He has over 40 years’ experience in the
construction industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Tjia is
responsible for the overall corporate strategy and the daily
operations of the Group, including business development and
overall management.

He graduated from chemistry studies at the Huagiao University
(ZEBKE) in the PRC in July 1966. He was admitted as member
of The Chartered Institute of Building in November 1996 and is a
professional member of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors since October 2002. Mr. Tjia previously served as the
vice chairman and honourable member of Zhan Tian You Civil
Engineering Science and Technology Development Fund
Management Committee (EXRE T RITREREBRMBERASER
ZE®)

Mr. Tjia is father of Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William (Executive Director
of the Company) and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying (Executive Director of the
Company).

Mr. WANG Jing Ning (“Mr. Wang”), aged 68, is an executive
Director of the Company and was appointed as a director of the
Company in September 1993. Mr. Wang is a member of the
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board. He is also a director of various main
operating subsidiaries of the Group, among others, Deson
Ventures (HK) Limited, Winsome Properties Limited and Honour
Advance Limited. Mr. Wang has over 40 years' experience in
hotel management and construction engineering in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. He is responsible for managing the
Group's projects in Mainland China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William (“Mr. William Tjia”), aged 48, is an
executive Director of the Company since January 2015.
Mr. William Tjia joined the Group in February 2000. He is a
director of Deson Innovative Limited since July 2005, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 23 years of experience
in business management. He is responsible for A.l. business of
the Group and the Group’s development including property
investment and overall management. He graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Arts with Honours
Degree in Information Systems in 1998. He is the son of Mr. Tjia
Boen Sien, the Managing Director and Chairman of the Group
and the younger brother of Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, the Executive
Director of the Company.

Ms. TSE Hoi Ying (“Ms. Tse”), aged 52, is an executive Director
of the Company since 1 March 2022. Ms. Tse joined the Group
in August 1999. She is the director of the Group’s subsidiaries,
Medical Technologies Limited, Allied Health Elements Company
Limited and Medical Technologies Engineering Limited. She is also
the director of the Group’s associate company, namely UltraX
Technologies Company Limited, a Taiwan company which holds
appropriate importer medical equipment license as well as
providing medical equipment distribution to Taiwan hospitals.
Ms. Tse is also a director of another joint venture start-up
company, Hope4Care Ltd. with the cooperation of the professor
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong which aims to bring
HK invented technologies into the world. In 2022-23, Hope4Care
products has won some major awards such as TSSSU+ (the
Technology Start-up Support Scheme for Universities) from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong as well as silver award in
International Exhibition of Inventions Geneva 2023. Ms. Tse is
responsible for building distribution network for medical and
healthcare equipment, sometimes with engineering work required
to get the site ready for equipment installation. Ms. Tse has set
up a medical engineering company for the Group for building the
first medical grade modular hydrotherapy pool in Asia. As for the
emerging market for occupational safety, Ms. Tse also introduces
different safety tools to prevent work injuries. She also provides
related consulting business for the Group regarding healthcare
area. Ms. Tse graduated from the University of British Columbia
(Canada) with a Bachelor of Arts (Psychology) in May 1995.
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Ms. TSE Hoi Ying (Continued)

Ms. Tse was elected as the President of the Rotary Club of Hong
Kong (RCOHK), the most senior club in Hong Kong, for
2023/2024 and was selected to be “President with Platinum
Distinction” which is around top 12% in Rotary District 3450.
RCOHK is dedicated to bringing professional leaders together to
“Create Hope in the World” as of Rotary theme of this year. She
has been elected as an Incoming Deputy Assistant Governor for
Rotary District 3450 in the coming Rotary year to further provide
more services to the community.

She is the daughter of Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, the Managing Director
and Chairman of the Group and the elder sister of Mr. William
Tjia, an executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), sBs, MBE, S.B. St. J., JP,
aged 85, independent non-executive Director of the
Company and was appointed as a director of the Company in
September 1993.

is an

Dr. Ho has 60 years' experience in the fields of civil, structural,
energy, environmental and geotechnical engineering and direct
project management of many mega size engineering projects
including 50 years in Hong Kong and 10 years in the United
Kingdom. He has direct management responsibility in the HK$3.0
billion (cost at the time) project of Electrification and
Modernisation of Kowloon-Canton Railway (now called “The East
Rail”) from the mid-70's till early 80's; and all the
government-funded infrastructure works for Shatin New Town and
Tseung Kwan O New Town from early 80's till the end of 1993,
experience including construction of tunnels, bridges, flyovers,
roads, dockyards, wharves, jetties, hospitals, hotels, incinerators,
high-rise  commercial/residential buildings, slopes, reclamation,
chimneys, Hong Kong Ocean Park, environmental studies and
environmental protection projects.

Dr. Ho holds a doctorate degree in civil engineering from the City
University of London, United Kingdom; Honourary Doctor of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong;
Honourary Doctor of Laws from University of Manchester, United
Kingdom; a postgraduate diploma in geotechnical engineering
from Manchester University, United Kingdom; and a bachelor
degree in civil engineering from the University of Hong Kong; and
was awarded Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Hong Kong and Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Central Lancashire, United Kingdom.
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Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (Continued)

Dr. Ho was formerly a partner and senior director of Maunsell
Consultants Asia Limited from January 1976 to August 1993.
Dr. Ho was formerly Hong Kong Deputy to the 10th & 11th
terms of National People’s Congress of the PRC, member of the
1st, 2nd, 3rd & 4th terms of Legislative Council (Engineering
Functional Constituency) (1998-2012), member of the Provisional
Legislative Council (1996-1998), President of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers (1987/1988), Member of the Former Basic
Law Consultative Committee, Founding Council Chairman of the
City University of Hong Kong, Council Chairman of the former
City Polytechnic of Hong Kong, Chairman of Hong Kong
Technology Committee of the Industry & Technology
Development Council (ITDC) and member of ITDC, Chairman of
the Transport Advisory Committee, Hong Kong Affairs Adviser,
Chairman of the Infrastructure Development Services Advisory
Committee of the HKTDC, board member of the Hong Kong
Airport Authority (2008-2014), member of the Court of the City
University of Hong Kong, member of the Chinese Medicine
Consultative Committee of the School of Chinese Medicine of
Hong Kong Baptist University, member of Consultative Committee
on the New Airport and Related Projects, Professional Advisor
(Architecture, Engineering and Surveying) to the Ombudsman of
HKSAR and member of the Gas Safety Advisory Committee.
Currently, Dr. Ho is Honorary Chairman and Past Chairman of
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant, LingAo Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee.

Dr. Ho currently is the director of the following companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”):

An Independent Non-executive Director

GCL Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 3800)
ChinLink International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997)
AP Rentals Holdings Limited (stock code: 1496)

Dr. Ho has been the director of the following companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange in the past three years:

an independent non-executive director of Fu Shek Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263) for the period from
22 January 2020 to 1 October 2021; and

an independent non-executive director of Superland Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 368) for the period from 16 July
2020 to 17 July 2023.
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Ir SIU Man-po (“Ir Siu”), is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2001.

Ir Siu was awarded the MEDAL OF HONOUR (MH) by the Chief
Executive of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR) in July 2004 for his dedication and
meritorious services to the development of engineering profession
in Hong Kong.

Ir Siu, aged 86, obtained his Master of Science in Civil
Engineering in 1963 from Auburn University in Auburn, Alabama,
U.S.A.

Ir Siu has extensive experience in construction field including the
construction of Tsing Yi Power Station in 1966-1977, MTR
stations in 1977-1987, and Hong Kong Baptist University campus
development in 1989-1999. Ir Siu was the Managing Director of
Ho Wang Siu Mak Management Ltd. (an engineering consultancy
company) from 2008 to 2019.

Ir Siu is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers.

Mr. SIU Kam Chau (“Mr. Siu”), aged 59, joined the Company
in March 2014 as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Siu
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and member of the Nomination
Committee of the Board. Mr. Siu graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’'s degree in
Accountancy. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a Certified Public Accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong. Mr. Siu has over 30 years of working
experience in auditing, accounting, company secretarial and
corporate finance. Mr. Siu was an executive director of Minerva
Group Holding Limited (formerly known as Power Financial Group
Limited) (stock code: 397) from 29 April 2020 to 21 June 2021
and is currently an independent non-executive director of Wang
On Group Limited (stock code: 1222) which are companies listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. SONG Sio Chong (“Mr. Song”), aged 69, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 May 2023.
Mr. Song is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, the
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Board.

Mr. Song has more than 25 years of experience in structural
design, site supervision and contract management. Mr. Song
graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as
the Hong Kong Baptist University) Civil Engineering Department
with a Diploma in June 1979 and was awarded Associateship in
Civil and Structural Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
November 1982. Mr. Song obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration and a Doctoral Degree of Chinese Literature from
Hong Kong Chu Hai College (formerly known as Chu Hai
University) in July 1983 and June 1988, respectively. He also
obtained a Bachelor Degree in Law, Master Degree in Civil Law
and Doctoral Degree in Constitutional and Administrative Laws
from Peking University in July 1991, July 1996 and July 1999,
respectively, and further received his Certified Postgraduate
Examination Diploma in English Law and Hong Kong Law from
The Manchester Metropolitan University of the United Kingdom
("UK") in September 2001. Mr. Song is a member of both The
Institution of Structural Engineers of the UK and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers. He is also a Registered Professional
Engineer (Structural) in Hong Kong and a Class 1 Registered
Structural Engineer in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Song was appointed as the honorary consultant of China Law
Office from July 2003 to July 2008. He served as a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong
Kong from 2007 to 2008 and was a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese Association of Hong Kong & Macao
Studies from 2016 to 2022. He has been a full-time professor of
the Centre for Basic Laws of Hong Kong and Macau Special
Administrative Region at Shenzhen University from 2010 to
2022.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Wing Wai, Angus (“Mr. Lam”), aged 48, joined the
Group in September 2005. He is the Company Secretary and the
Financial Controller of the Group. He is responsible for
monitoring all the Group’s accounting, finance, listing compliance
and company secretarial functions. He holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Before joining the
Group, he has several years’ experience with an international
accounting firm.

Mr. KWOK Chun Fai (“Mr. Kwok"), aged 80, joined the Group
in February 1991. He is the project manager of the Group and is
responsible for the Group’s construction projects in Mainland
China. He has over 50 years' experience in the industry. He
graduated from Fujian Overseas Chinese University in Mainland
China in Civil Industrial and Civil Building. He obtained the
International Engineering and Professional Manager Qualification
Certificate and is a Member of Architectural Society of Chinese.

Mr. WONG Suen Ping (“Mr. Wong”), aged 39, joined the
Group in February 2006. He is the Senior Product Manager of
Deson Innovative Limited and Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited, and
appointed as the Director of SecurePlus Limited in May 2020,
which are the subsidiaries or associate company of the Group.
Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the trading business of
Security System and Smart loT equipment, and further responsible
for the business development and company operation. He has
over 18 years of experience in this industry. He graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Engineering
with Honours Degree in Electronics Engineering (Electronics and
Communication) in year 2012.

Mr. MAK Nikan (“Mr. Mak"), aged 38, joined the Group in
August 2006. He is the General Manager of Medical
Technologies Limited and appointed as the Director of the
company in April 2021. Mr. Mak also appointed as the Director
of Allied Health Elements Company Limited in February 2020 and
the Director of MTL Engineering Ltd. in July 2022. All of these
companies are the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Mak also
appointed as Chief Operating Officer of the associated start-up
company, Hope4Care Ltd in November 2022. The main
responsibility of Mr. Mak is to oversee the business development,
financing, sales performance and coordination with the
manufacturers and business partners. He has over 18 years of
experience in rehabilitation and medical equipment. He has been
studied in the University of Western Australia in Physiology in
years 2004-2006.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in enhancing the
confidence of shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and
business partners and also the growth of its business. The
Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles of good corporate governance (“Principles”) and code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) of Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Company has
complied with most of the code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024 save for the deviation
from the Code Provision C.2.1, details of which are explained
below. The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance
practices in order to meet the rising expectations of stakeholders
and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements,
and to fulfill its commitment to excellent corporate governance.

Summary of deviations from the CG Code:

Code Provision C.2.1

CG Code Provision C.2.1 requires that the roles of Chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

The Company has deviated from CG Code Provision C.2.1 to the
extent that the roles of chairman and chief executive (or in the
context of the Company, the managing director) are performed
by Mr. Tjia. Having considered the existing structure and
composition of the board and operations of the Group in Hong
Kong, the board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman
and Managing Director in Mr. Tjia facilitates the effective
implementation and execution of its business strategies by, and
ensure a consistent leadership for, the Group. Further, a balance
of power and authority between the board and management can
be ensured by the operation of the board, whose members
(including the four independent non-executive directors) are
individuals of high calibre with ample experience, such that the
interests of shareholders can be safeguarded. The Company will
continue to review the structure and composition of the board
from time to time to ensure that a balance of power and
authority between the board and management is appropriately
maintained for the Group.
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THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
AND PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important role of its Board of
Directors (“Board”) in providing effective leadership and direction
of the Company towards its objectives and ensuring transparency
and accountability of all operations. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board
and delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership
and approves strategic policies and plans with a view to enhance
shareholders’ interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management with proper
supervision from the Board. The Board reserves for its decisions
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, corporate
governance, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
management;

senior

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for Board meetings. All Directors have full and timely
access to all relevant information as well as the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Managing Director and the
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board after being reported on by
management. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant decisions being made or significant transactions
or commitments being entered into by the abovementioned
officers, who cannot exceed any authority given to them by
resolutions of the Board or the Company.

The Board has the full support of the Managing Director and the
management to discharge its responsibilities.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against the Board and to indemnify its
directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and
strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is
aligned. Acting with integrity and leading by example, the
Directors promote the desired culture to instill and continually
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, in order to facilitate the long-term sustainability
of the Group. The Group has adopted anti-fraud and
anti-corruption policy and whistleblowing policy to provide forums
for reporting issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to
uphold business integrity in its operations.
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TERERRSE

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board, which is currently
chaired by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, comprised eight members, 7 males
and 1 female. All of the eight members served the Board
throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
Report.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
members, consisting of four executive Directors, and four
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company had adopted a Board diversity policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve the diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board has in its composition a balance of skills, expertise,
qualifications, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
for independent decision making and fulfilling its business needs.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members.

The Nomination Committee will follow a range of diversified
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
made upon possible contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien (Managing Director and Chairman)
(Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wang Jing Ning (Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William

Ms. Tse Hoi Ying

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
(Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Song Sio Chong (Member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Member of Nomination Committee)

Ir Siu Man Po

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Chairman of
the Company and the other Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 50 to 56 of this Annual Report. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and
efficiently. Save for:

O] Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, who are
father and son;

(i) Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are father
and daughter; and

(i) Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are
siblings,

none of the members of the Board are related to one another or
have any financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships with each other.
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The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure
independent views are available to the Board, including providing
the Directors with sufficient resources to perform its duties and
shall seek, at the Company’s expense, independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board at all times
complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring independent
judgement on issues of strategies direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management through their contribution at
Board Meetings.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will scrutinise the
performance of the Company in achieving corporate goals and
objectives and monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they
are able to contribute positively to the Company’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments at Board and committee meetings.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

EXESNCBUES  UBREFSVES
BUBR BEANESRUEHNERAET
HBE YHEBEESRKBETEEXZRIUE
THBRE BRBARRRRAE-

REE-_ZT-_NWE=ZA=+—HItFE £
E@FA ETHEBIE3001)E3.10Q) K2R
T OERELERIZEBIUINITES BHF
LB EEHEEETEER
e HEEN B EREENE -

AARBEWEIZBILIFRTESTRIE LHAR
AREREBIERE R 2 FERRBL - AR
AR FIABYIIFATESTHANTA LTR
RSS2 B MR SR 2 WAL -

BUFATEFER2HEFTEEE UK
BET R R BR RALEREESSE
H A B S HIEf

BIYFNTESEBRZNTERYBEE
Mt EREREFSRHEBIHE - I
BIUFNTEREBER2BRELTS IS -
EREAIESRNETROMFE L EHERE
ERALRBEZTZES  UEBARAHA
BRCEABRRAMNITEZRE  URER
EBRBOMmE - AL BREABBRNES
ehZEggRELIREBY  ERRMERM
BER - HARAFEREMBRELLE
Y



All the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. The chairman of the
Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least
annually to discuss any issues and concerns.

Any substantial shareholder, Director or his/her associate who has
a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than by
written resolutions. Such Director will be required to declare his/
her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and not
counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose associates,
have no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and inputs are
provided to the Board during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures
for the appointment and succession planning of Directors.
Directors to be appointed will receive a formal letter of
appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Any Board member is entitled to recommend
suitable candidate that meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules for consideration by the Board.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-Laws, every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. All Directors of the Company retire
by rotation once every three years in accordance with the CG
Code and the Company’s Bye-Laws.
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Training for Directors and Company Secretary

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal
induction to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of
the business and his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors regularly
updated and appraised with any new regulations and guideline,
as well as any amendments thereto issued by the Stock
Exchange, particularly the effects of such new or amended
regulations and guidelines on directors specifically. On an ongoing
basis, Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate.

The Company is aware of the requirement to regularly review and
agrees with each Director their training needs. The continuing
professional training programme of the Company for Directors
will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Nomination
Committee. During the year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors
have individually attended seminars and training courses
conducted by qualified professionals on accounting, taxation and
Listing Rules.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever
necessary.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Company

Secretary of the Company has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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Board Meetings

Code Provision C.5.1 stipulates that the Company should hold at
least four regular Board meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of
Directors, either in person or through other electronic means of

communication.

Regular Board meetings were held during the year for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of

the Company.

During the year under review, nine Board meetings, one annual
general meeting and one special general meeting were held.
Details of the attendance of the Directors are as follows:
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Directors’ Attendance

EESHERH
Annual Special
General General Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting
BRREFAE BREBIAE EEg
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien IR K& 1/1 1/1 9/9
(Managing Director and (BB HEFTE)
Chairman)
Mr. Wang Jing Ning TREEE 1/1 1/1 9/9
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William AL E 1/1 1/1 9/9
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying AR 1/1 11 9/9
Independent Non-Executive BYFHITES
Directors
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fIERE L 1/1 11 9/9
Ir Siu Man Po ROKR TA2Rm 171 1”1 9/9
Mr. Siu Kam Chau L ta 171 171 9/9
Mr. Song Sio Chong RN EE 11 1/1 8/8
(appointed on 1 May 2023) (ZEAR-FE-—=4F
AHA—H)

Notices of regular Board meetings were served to all Directors at

least 14 days before the meetings.

For other Board and

committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting so as to ensure that
there is timely access to relevant information. All Directors can
give notice to the Chairman of the Board or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. The Board and the senior management are also
obligated to keep the Directors appraised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director
also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary in a timely manner.

Apart from the above regular Board meetings of the year, the
Board will meet on other occasions when a Board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. The Directors will receive details
of agenda items for decision in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, who is an employee of the Company, is
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings and
Board committee meetings, which record in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. At
Board meetings, all Directors have ample opportunities to express
their respective views, voice any concerns and discuss the matters
under consideration, and the results of voting at Board meetings
fairly reflects the consensus of the Board. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and the final version is open for
Directors’ inspection. Directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and queries will be responded fully. According to
current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves
conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Such Director must abstain from voting
and will not be counted as quorum.

Directors’ commitments

Each Director has confirmed that he can give sufficient time and
attention to the Group’s affairs, and has regularly provided
information on the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
including the identity of such companies or organisations and an
indication of the time involved.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company held the annual general meeting (“2023 AGM") on
28 August 2023. Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, the executive
Director, was elected as the Chairman of 2023 AGM to ensure
effective communication with shareholders of the Company at the
meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although the roles of Chairman and Managing Director, who
perform similar roles as Chief Executive Officer, are both
performed by the same individual, in view of the existing
structure and composition of the Board and operations of the
Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the Board believes
that this can facilitate effective implementation and execution of
its business strategies by, and ensure a consistent leadership for,
the Group. Further, a balance of power and authority between
the Board and management can be ensured by the operation of
the Board, whose members (including the four independent
non-executive Directors) are individuals of high calibre with ample
experiences, such that the interests of shareholders can be
safeguarded. The Company will continue to review the structure
and composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that a
balance of power and authority between the Board and
management are appropriately maintained for the Group.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board, ensuring its
effectiveness in all aspects of its role including taking the primary
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established and ensuring appropriate
steps are taken to provide effective communications with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the Board
as a whole. In his capacity as Managing Director, he provides
planning and implementation with the support of management.

The Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Board
meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured to
encourage open discussion especially between independent
non-executive Directors and executive Directors. All Board
members are encouraged to update their knowledge of and
familiarity with the Group through active participation at Board
meetings.
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The Chairman settles the agenda for each individual Board
meeting, taking into account any additional items arising from
current operating issues, as well as such other matters as may be
raised by the other directors with him, who can include them on
the agenda. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent
in full to all Directors in a timely manner and, where possible, at
least three days before the time appointed for the meeting.

It is also the Chairman’s responsibility to control Board meetings,
to lead discussions to clear conclusions, and to satisfy himself that
the secretary of the meeting has understood each conclusion
reached. The Company Secretary and Financial Controller attend
the meetings and advise, where appropriate, on corporate
governance and accounting and financial matters.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
are kept by a duly appointed secretary of the meeting and open
for inspection by any director. Draft and final versions of minutes
of board meetings are sent to all directors for their comments
and records respectively.

The Chairman holds meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the executive Directors at least once
per year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees have complied with the Code Provisions
and are available on the Stock Exchange website
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website www.deson.com
and are available to shareholders upon request. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses. These Board committees will report back
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations.
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Remuneration Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam
Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong, being two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, respectively, are the
members of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. Siu Kam Chau
is the Chairman of the committee. The primary objectives of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations on
and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the
executives after consultation with the Chairman/Managing
Director and access to professional advice, at the Group's
expense, when necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by
reference to the performance of the individual and the Group as
well as market practice and conditions. The Remuneration
Committee normally meets towards the end of each year to
review the remuneration policy and structure and determination
of the annual remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management and
other related matters. The Group’s remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive remuneration packages based on
business needs and market practice. Factors such as market rate,
an individual’s qualification, experience, performance and time
commitment are taken into account during the remuneration
package determination process. The Remuneration Committee
also reviews matters relating to share option schemes (if any) of
the Company on an annual basis. The Remuneration Committee
held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2024 and
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management for
the year under review. Recommendations have been made to the
Board.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the ¥MMEEeRKEHFERIHEFBEOT
Remuneration Committee meetings are set out below:
Members’
Attendance
Name of Members REHR RE HERE
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) BRI EE (£E) 2/2
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HCBER K AE 2/2
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELE 2/2
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond f4EZRIE L 272
Mr. Song Sio Chong RNFEFE 2/2

Nomination Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam
Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong, being two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, respectively, are the
members of the Nomination Committee and Mr. Song Sio Chong
is the Chairman of the committee. The primary objectives of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition
and identifying and nominating candidates for appointment to the
Board such that it has the relevant blend of skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional
experience and diversity of perspectives. The Nomination
Committee also assesses the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. Candidates for appointment as Directors
may be sourced internally or externally through various channels
such as using the services of specialist executive search firms. The
aim is to appoint individuals of the highest caliber in their area of
expertise and experience. The Nomination Committee held one
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2024 and reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board for the year under
review.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the Nomination
Committee meetings are set out below:
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REAZBEREHFERCHARBOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REHE REHEIRE

Mr. Song Sio Chong (Chairman) RNERA(FE) 11

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien R K& 1/1

Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELEE 1/1

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond A& RIE L 1/1

Mr. Siu Kam Chau IR A& 11
The following policies have been adopted by the Nomination REZZES@TDHMUATEE  UHBHERETT

Committee to assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities as
provided in its terms of reference. The policies may be amended
from time to time by the committee as provided therein.

Recommended candidates

The committee shall consider any and all candidates
recommended as nominees for Directors to it by any Director or
shareholder; provided that in the case of shareholder
recommendations, such recommendations comply with all
applicable notice requirements set forth in the Company’s Bye-
laws, the procedures for a shareholder's nomination to be
properly brought before a general meeting, and the Listing Rules.
The committee may also consider, in its sole discretion, any and
all candidates recommended as nominees for directors to it by
any source.
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Desired qualifications, qualities and skills

The committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high
integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in their
chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and
skills to effectively represent the best interests of all shareholders.
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise good
judgement, to provide the commitment to enhancing shareholder
value, practical insights and diverse perspectives. Candidates will
also be assessed in the context of the then-current composition
of the Board, the operating requirements of the Company and
the long-term interests of all shareholders. In conducting this
assessment, the committee will, in connection with its assessment
and recommendation of director candidates, consider diversity
(including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and
skills) and such other factors as it deems appropriate given the
then-current and anticipated future needs of the Board and the
Company, and to maintain a balance of perspectives,
qualifications, qualities and skills on the board. The committee
may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The above
diversity perspectives, taking into account the Company’s business
model and needs, are set out in a Board diversity policy which
has been established by the Company to see that diversity on the
Board can be achieved.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company notes that increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The Company
adopted a diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. The Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
on an annual basis and will recommend the appointment of new
Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.
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In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’'s business model, specific needs and
meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, including four executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms
of professional experience, skill and knowledge. As at the date of
this Annual Report, our Board consists of seven male members
and one female member with one Director of age 41 to 50 years
old, two Directors of age 51 to 60 years old and five Directors of
over 60 years old. Having reviewed the Diversity Policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that
the requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met and
the Board is sufficiently diverse.

The Board considers that the Company has achieved gender
diversity at the Board level and targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation. The Company will ensure
that gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff
members of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient
resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and
career development to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board and maintain gender diversity.

The Nomination Committee will
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

review the Diversity Policy
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Independence

The committee shall ensure that at least one-third of the Board
members (or such other number of the members of the Board as
prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time) meet the
definition of independent non-executive director. The committee
shall annually assess each nominee for independent non-executive
director by reviewing any potential conflicts of interest that he or
she and their immediate family members (as defined in the Listing
Rules) may have, based on the criteria for independence set forth
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A retiring independent non-executive director who has served the
Board for a period of nine consecutive years or more is eligible
for nomination by the Board to stand for re-election at a general
meeting provided that he or she is still considered independent
by the Board.

When any of the independent non-executive director has served
more than nine years on the Board, such independent
non-executive Director’s further appointment should be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders, with papers
accompanying to that resolution including the factors considered,
the process and discussion of the Nomination Committee in
arriving at the determination that such independent
non-executive director is still independent and should be
re-elected.

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Ir Siu Man Po, Mr. Siu Kam Chau, all being
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, have served
the Board for more than nine years. Notwithstanding their long
term service, given their extensive business experiences and not
being connected with any director or substantial shareholder of
the Company, the Board is of the opinion that they continue to
bring independent and objective perspectives to the Company’s
affairs.

The following information has been set out in the Company’s
circular to shareholders for the proposed resolution to elect an
individual as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why the Board considers the individual to be
independent;
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2. if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

Nominee evaluation process

The committee will consider as a candidate any director who has
indicated his or her willingness to stand for re-election and any
other person who is recommended by any shareholder. The
committee may also undertake its own search process for
candidates and may retain the services of professional firms or
other third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential
nominees. The committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates which is
consistent with those set forth in its terms of reference, the
Company’s Bye-laws, the corporate governance policy and the
policy described herein; provided that the process used for
evaluating a nominee for each election or appointment of director
shall be substantially similar and under no circumstances shall the
committee evaluate nominees recommended by a shareholder
pursuant to a process that is substantially different than that used
for other nominees for the same election or appointment of
director.

Nomination procedures

1. The secretary of the committee shall call a meeting of the
committee, and invite nominations of candidates from board
members, if any, for consideration by the committee prior
to its meeting. The committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting, the committee shall make nominations
to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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4. In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, a
circular will be sent to shareholders. The circular will set out
the names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), and any other information, as required
pursuant to applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the
proposed candidates.

5. A shareholder can serve a notice to the Board of Directors
or the Company Secretary within the lodgement period of
its intention to propose a resolution to elect certain person
as a director in accordance with the relevant procedures
posted on the Company’s website. The particulars of the
candidates so proposed will be provided to all shareholders
for information by way of announcement and/or
supplementary circular.

6. A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving a notice
in writing to the Board of Directors or the Company
Secretary.

7. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.

8. Shareholder proposed resolutions shall take the same form
as the resolutions proposed for the candidates
recommended by the Board.

The Nomination Committee held its annual meeting in June 2023
and 2024 to review the Board composition and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and considered the
suitability of those retiring Directors standing for re-election at the
next annual general meeting as well as the need for a Director
succession plan. The committee also reviewed the nomination
policy and the Diversity Policy and discussed the objectives set for
implementing the latter, and noted that those objectives had
been achieved. The committee concluded that the Board
composition should continue unchanged.
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Audit Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee
comprises Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and
Mr. Song Sio Chong, all being independent non-executive
Directors (including one independent non-executive Director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise) and Mr. Siu Kam Chau
is the Chairman of the committee. None of the members of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant, compliance officer (if any) or external auditor
before submission to the Board,;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees,
terms of engagement and independence, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor;

() to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
financial reporting system, and risk management system,
internal control system and associated procedures; and

(d) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting staffs, their training programme, and budget.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 March 2024 to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and discussed
matters concerning the effectiveness of internal control systems
and the re-appointment of the external auditor. Minutes of Audit
Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary of the
Company. Draft and final version of the minutes of meetings are
sent to all committee members for comments within a reasonable
time after the meeting. There are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Sufficient
resources are provided by the Company for the Audit Committee
to perform its duties.
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There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Details of the attendance record of members of the Audit
Committee meetings are set out below:

EXEQEBELZEOMIINEREE 2 BE
RE BHEIEBABEIEER -

ERREeKEERLRSERABOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REHH B R E
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) B E (£E) 272
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 421G+ 2/2
Mr. Song Sio Chong RN E 2/2

COMPANY SECRETARY

Please refer to section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 56 of this Annual
Report for biographical details of the Company Secretary.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior management are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of directors and senior management by band for
the Reporting Period, is set out as below:

REME
BERALPMENBEE  FL2HAFHE
S6E[EERBREBAEBZERE] 5 -

EERGREEEME
EERTETRABMER IR HER
N e EEEORE D B8R I % R I T
89 -

RIFDFERTRISTANEXES » R EH
MEERSREEEMSEDWT :

Number of

individuals

Annual Remuneration FEMS A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 6
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 JT 2 2,000,000/8 7T 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001% 7T £ 3,000,000 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7L £4,000,000/8 7T 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,0017% 7T £ 5,000,000 7T 1
12

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



DIVERSITY AT WORKFORCE LEVEL

In terms of employment, the Group insists on the principle of
fairness and equal treatment regardless of nationality, race,
gender, religious belief and cultural background, and does not
impose any restrictive requirements on gender, ethnicity,
nationality and region.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including senior
management, as of 31 March 2024 is set out below:
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EEREERE) MR AT

As of 31 March 2024
R=ZZE-NE=ZA=+—H
Percentage of
Number of total number of

persons employee

HEESHAH

Indicator BiE N a4
Male employee BMEES 61 45
Female employee e 8 75 55
136 100

The Group encourages gender diversity across its workplace and
is committed to maintain the proportion of onshore female
employees to around 50%. To achieve diversity at workforce
level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Group has also established talent management
and training programs to provide career development guidance
and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool
of skilled and experienced employees.

During the year under review, the Board was not aware of any
mitigating factors or circumstances which would make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT (“ESG REPORT")

The Company will publish separately an ESG Report in respect of
the financial year ended 31 March 2024 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.deson.com) at the same time as this Annual Report is
published.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy on 1 January 2019.
The Company’s dividend policy allows the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the
Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's
future growth. According to the Company’s dividend policy, in
addition to the final dividends, the Company may declare interim
dividends or special dividends from time to time.

According to the Company’s dividend policy, the Board shall
consider the following factors before proposing and declaring
dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;

(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;

(i) the Group’s liquidity position;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash
operations,
needs;

requirements and availability for business
business strategies and future development

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(vii) the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or

financial performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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www.hkexnews.hk

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Bermuda, the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company and
any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time
by the Board and there can be no assurance that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had engaged the
Group’s external auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, to
provide the following services and their respective fees charged
are set out below:

Fee charged for the year ended 31 March 2024:
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board is responsible for ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations regarding inside information, and
has appointed a disclosure group with specific designated duties
to assist it in, among other things, overseeing and coordinating
the disclosure of inside information. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information
are given in the policy (the “PSI Policy”) adopted by the
Company to ensure that it is able to meet relevant obligations
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap.571) (the “SFO"). The PSI Policy applies to the Directors,
officers and employees of the Group. Under the PSI Policy, the
Company must disclose inside information to the public by way of
an announcement as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours described under
the SFO. Any Director, officer or employee who becomes aware
of a matter, development or event that he or she considers to be,
or potentially to be, inside information shall report it promptly to
the disclosure group. Before the relevant information is fully
disclosed to the public, the disclosure group should take
reasonable precautions to ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential. Where it is believed that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the information should be disclosed
immediately to the public. If the disclosure group needs time to
clarify the details of, and the impact arising from, an event or a
set of circumstances before it is in a position to issue a full
announcement to properly inform the public, the disclosure group
should consider issuing a “holding announcement” which details
as much ascertainable information of the subject matter as
possible and sets out the reasons why a fuller announcement
cannot be made. Following a holding announcement, the
disclosure group should ensure that a full announcement is made
as soon as reasonably practicable. In the event that confidentiality
has not been maintained and it is not able to make a full
announcement or a holding announcement, the disclosure group
should consider applying for a suspension of trading in the
Company’s securities, subject to approval of the Board, until
disclosure can be made. All inside information related
announcements must be properly approved by the Board before
publication, and all unpublished inside information must be kept
in strict confidence until a formal announcement is made. The
disclosure group must further ensure that access to unpublished
inside information is given only to employees on a “need-to-
know" basis for discharging their duties. Apart from reporting to
the disclosure group, every Director, officer or employee who
possesses or has been given access to unpublished inside
information must not disclose, discuss or share such information
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to or with any other parties within or outside the Group. The PSI
Policy also sets out the criteria for advance disclosure of inside
information to certain categories of people as may be necessary
in the circumstances. In this case, the disclosure group should
monitor the situation so that disclosure may be made as soon as
reasonably practicable if there is any leakage of information.
Directors, officers and employees must refrain from dealing in the
shares of the Company at any time when they are in possession
of unpublished inside information. Securities dealings are
governed by the securities codes applicable to directors and
relevant employees (within the meaning of the CG Code), as
described in the section below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been
made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2024. The Company has adopted the same
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code by the relevant employees was noted by the
Company.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
"Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by
the Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A
Whistleblowing Policy is in place to establish policy and system for
the employees and other stakeholders of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties and promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations. The
whistleblowing policies has already disclosed in ESG Reports.
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The identity of each whistleblower and all information provided in
connection with a whistleblowing report will be treated with the
strictest confidence. The Audit Committee reviews the
Whistleblowing Policy annually to ensure its effectiveness and will
recommend appropriate revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the new code provision D.2.7 of the CG
Code, the Board adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.
It outlines guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all
applicable laws and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption
and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud,
to help the Group to defend against corrupt practices and to
report any reasonably suspected case of fraud and corruption or
any attempts thereof, to the management or through an
appropriate reporting channel. The Group would not tolerate all
forms of fraud and corruption among all employees and those
acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group,
and in its business dealing with third parties. The Board and the
Audit Committee will review the anti-fraud and anti-corruption
policy and mechanism periodically to ensure its effectiveness and
enforce the commitment of the Group to the prevention,
deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of fraud and
corruption.

Continuous Disclosure Policy

A Continuous Disclosure Policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information as defined in the SFO is identified and
confidentiality of such information is maintained until timely and
appropriate disclosure is made in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination of
inside information, which includes:

o Roles and responsibilities of the divisions/departments of the
Company in identifying and escalating any potential inside

information within the Company; and

o Procedures for determining the necessity, means and/or
extent of disclosure of such information.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

BUBHRANGHERRBENBREN—Y)
EERBIERE BERZBEEFHLEED
BHRBR BREERE wEHEBRES
CREZBERIEEE REL

REFFRREZBER
RIBOEEEATRAIMITRIGXD2.7 &=
ERMARMFRRETHEK - 1T 5%
SIRREFRE - ARARRES KRB
FrEERERMER  BEESRFENER
T NEPAEERRESTA ARER
EXEBEENRERERSEMEBIRLR
BFEMEREHHEFNEERFREITHE
Mo REBEINBTREERARNEEUR
BEXEAFDITENOALARERFE =TS
MEBRERHREBEANRERES -
EXeNERZEORERRN RRFFERR
BB RS - EARERY - WETASK
B TER - B RARAEERBREANK
FF R EIS AR

SEWMBEBE
REREESLBERITE T ZEEARR
BB BB R B M BZOE B IR T M RE M s B 2
ERMREETRNTEERNE  FERER
ROEBIE - ZBERBRE AN EHE S H B IE A
B e

o ARAREARBAIMFEARRAALZ
BEARHERNAGMBIT &

s REFMEHMBENLEM  FERS
HIEE R ©



RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary, for each financial
period with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the financial year. Management of the
Company has provided such explanation and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before the Board for
approval including monthly updates. The Group’s consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Listing
Rules, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, all relevant statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Group has selected appropriate
accounting policies and has applied them consistently based on
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates.

The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospect in the annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Directors
acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024. The statement of the external auditor of the Group about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent auditor’s report” on pages 92 to 102.
Management of the Group is obligated to provide sufficient
explanation and information to the Board so that it can make
informed assessment of relevant matters.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL MONITORING
Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of
the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of
such systems, while the Board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in year ended
31 March 2024, no significant risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group;

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying

and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed;
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Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out;

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls; and

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements the inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

J The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in year ended
31 March 2024, no significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as
Certified Public Accountant). The IA function is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the
Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and (ii) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the reviews made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that
the resources, staff qualifications, experience of relevant staff and
ESG performance and reporting function were adequate and the
training programme and budget provided were sufficient.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor relations policy and to updating investors on relevant
information/developments in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted from time to time. The
Company also replied to any enquiries from shareholders in a
timely manner. The Directors host the annual general meeting
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The corporate website of the Company at www.deson.com
provides a communication platform via which the public and
investor community can access up-to-date information regarding
the Group.
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The Company’s 2023 AGM was held on 28 August 2023. The
notice of the 2023 AGM, the annual report and the circular
containing relevant information of the proposed resolutions were
sent to shareholders more than 21 days before the 2023 AGM.
All Board members together with the key executives and the
external auditor attended the 2023 AGM. The executive Director
explained the poll voting procedures at the 2023 AGM. Separate
resolutions for each substantially separate issue, including the
re-election of individual Directors, were proposed at the 2023
AGM. All the resolutions at the 2023 AGM were dealt with by
poll. The poll results of the 2023 AGM are available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholders may also send any enquiries, suggestions or
concerns to the Board at any time through the Company
Secretary, whose contact details are as follows:

Address The Company Secretary

Deson Development International
Holdings Limited

11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza

57 Hung To Road,

Kwun Tong

Kowloon, Hong Kong
deson@deson.com

(852) 2570 1118

(852) 3184 3402

Email
Telephone no.
Fax no.

The Company Secretary will forward such communications to the
Board, the relevant Board committees and/or the Chief Executive
Officer, as appropriate.

Corporate Governance Report

TEERRSE

KRR _ZE-_ZFERRAFASER_Z
:Eiﬂﬁ:+ﬂaﬂﬂ°:;:_$rh
RBEFAEzBE FRESBFRIEZ ARG
REBERZBHRER-_ZE_ZFEKEA
FRESARZR2IBRARE - 2BES
GXREEREZITHRAB RINEZEMS A
BE T _—FEREAFRAE -WPITES
REZZFZ=FERRBFRg LRHEIZRE

BRRRZERF - AR REREEENER
FR(BRERENER)CR_F_=FE
BRBEFRELEZ AR _ZT_=FFK
BRBEFAE LREZRBRURRRER
RERATARE - _T_=FERREFAK

SRBREARREZERCTENRARAFEAER
BXPTAEER -

BRERMAIEREBARNENEEGIRLE

R EE c ARIMEZHEFBLT

b 3k BERNEEEREE
At+ESEmFEES &
HEBRREREEEEGRAT
NEIMER

B © deson@deson.com

A (852) 2570 1118

L= (852) 3184 3402

EBEEBRAT  RRAWECEEHEBAER

EERTEEe MABEEEZEe L HITR

BE o

HEEREBEEARAR —T_NFEFER

89



90

Corporate Governance Report
EXERBE

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice of the
annual general meeting, the annual report and the circular
containing information on the proposed resolutions will be sent to
shareholders at least 21 days before the annual general meeting.
Voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting will be by way
of a poll. An explanation of the detailed procedures of
conducting a poll will be provided to shareholders at the
commencement of the annual general meeting to ensure that
shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

Poll results will be counted by Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited and will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange on the day the annual
general meeting held. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the
shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well
as chairmen of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Audit Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer questions
at the annual general meetings. The Company will also arrange
for the external auditor to attend the annual general meetings to
answer relevant questions if necessary.

Separate resolutions are proposed at annual general meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual
directors.

In addition to regular Board meetings, the Board, on the
requisition of shareholders of the Company holding 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company, may convene a special general
meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the Company
Secretary, at the Company’s head office at 11th Floor, Nanyang
Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist(s). Shareholders may also use this
same method to put forward proposals for the next general
meeting.
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Constitutional Documents
There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The latest Bye-laws of the Company is available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholders Communication
Policy to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the
shareholders and the investment community with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, in order to enable the shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow the
shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.

The Board will review the Shareholders Communication Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

CONCLUSION

In the opinion of the Board, good governance was maintained
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report.
The Company shall keep its governance practices under review to
ensure that they are in step with the latest developments.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Deson Development International Holdings Limited
BERREREERRAE

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 254, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

Independent Auditor’s Report
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

The Key Audit Matter
BRESSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZERAEBFSPRUOMEHH

Valuation of investment properties

BREWMRMLEE

Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements

BRI E M RANFIR15

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment
properties measured at fair value amounted to
HK$661,908,000 with an aggregate loss arising from
the changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of
HK$32,364,000 for the year then ended. The fair
values of investment properties were determined by the
Group based on the valuations performed by an
independent professional qualified valuer engaged by
the Group.

RZZEZWF=A=+—H  EEEMBENKREY
¥ZANFEFTE/661,9080008 T BHEEBILEFE
REEEERXABRAEATEZYMEENEEER
32,364,000/ 8L - EEEREMENRAFERER
B BEEEZENBEVEESERGEMETHNMEEM

BT -

The Group’s investment properties portfolio mainly
included completed investment properties in the
Mainland China.
EEENREVELACTIEZARTBEANMERTIREY
E

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI R EF TR

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
i EEEZEAMEMOEN e h REE
/|\/4;E :

o Obtaining the valuation report of each property
and assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methods applied; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
CE LR

BERETSEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEABESTROMEH

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REWMEMGE (&)

Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

BRI ERENFIR15(E)

The valuation of investment properties was derived
from the investment method and the direct comparison
approach. For investment method, the relevant key
assumptions include estimated monthly rental value,
term yield and reversionary yield. For direct comparison
approach, the relevant key assumption is the estimated
market selling price per unit, with reference to recent
transactions of the comparable properties and adjusted
for differences in key attributes such as but not limited
to location and property size.
BREMENGEDRAREEREELBUEME - HR
KREZL HEERBRREREMGTAESEE  FHUS
EREFKRE - REERLBUEME @ HEBRREA
BEMNMGATISEE  T2ZEAELRYERLRR
SRGERBEENZER (FINETRMLE RMEREK)
fEHAE -

All the relevant key assumptions were influenced by
the prevailing market conditions and each property’s
characteristics.

FEHRBENRBRREEBREXENTISGRE REBEYENE
BFRE -

We focus on this area due to the significant quantum
of investment properties to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimate on relevant key assumptions
applied in valuation.
BAFINERETERGEMBRRTEAERED
¥ BEETEBOBEEERKRRKRY REKRHE M
it
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Assessing the reasonableness of relevant key
assumptions used in valuation including estimated
monthly rental value, term yield, reversionary yield
and estimated market selling price per unit by
gathering and analysing the data of comparable
properties in the market and the characteristics of
individual investment property such as location,
age and size.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
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ERETSEEAE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAFTTRUOMEHN

Net realisable value assessment on completed properties held for sale

HECRIVMXTERFENMGE

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

BRIk E M ERENEIR 18

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’'s completed
properties held for sale amounted to HK$580,992,000.
RZZFEZWNFE=A=+—08 ' EXENFEZERIY
% 5580,992,0007%8 JT °

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable value of these properties requires
estimations, including expected future selling prices,
and is assessed by management with reference to the
valuations carried out by an independent professional
qualified valuer engaged by the Group for those
properties.
FEMERRKAEAIZRFEFOREEZT] - 5T FE
ZEMENR BT FEFTEETHET  BERHARKE
B YTHERES2ZH SEXENMZEVEZENBY
HESERGERMETHHEEDTM -

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI R EF TR

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
M EEEZEAMEMORN e h REE
rl\/}: ;

o Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
valuer on which the management’s assessment of
the net realisable value of the properties held for
sale was based;
BREERBTEFEMERNIEE FEMKIEH
HER AR R ERS

o Discussing with and obtaining an understanding
from management of how they would apply the
valuation in their net realisable value assessment
and the rationale; and
HEIRE R T AR E R A B BRFE R R
ERMERERE &

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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B % B, A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
CE LR

BERETSEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEABESTROMEH

Net realisable value assessment on completed properties held for sale (Continued)

HECRIVMETE R FEFMG (H)

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

R A ERENFIR18(E)

Changes in government policies, which affect interest
rates, the required reserve ratio for banks and/or
mortgage requirements for second-home buyers, could
lead to volatility in property prices, particularly for
properties in the Mainland China.

HERE - ROTGRERESER A ZREXEIRBE
REBNTBRREB AL EH Y RERNE - LERTE
ab:it=okz/E

We identified the assessment of the net realisable
value of the properties held for sale as a key audit
matter because of the significance of these properties
to the Group’s total assets and because the assessment
of net realisable value is inherently subjective and
requires significant management judgement and
estimation in relation to estimating future selling prices
which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.
BPREGEENERAIBRFENTHETABRETS
B BARZEMEY BESENEELEEREXR M
BB FENTHEERNENFE N FTEEBED
ET R R E BB IELH S ARG KA - th g nEaR
REBEEERERENRR -
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Examining the data used as inputs for the
valuation, which included making reference to the
market unit selling price of comparable properties
nearby used in the valuation and performing
market value benchmarking against comparable
properties.

ZERELERBANEE  BE2ZHEDER
BMGER BB XN T RIHEER  WEAE
LB ERNTISEETEED T



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R E

ERETSEEAE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAFS TR OMEHH

Valuation of unlisted equity investments

HFELHRERENMGE

Refer to notes 3, 17 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements

R A RN ES ~ 1740

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's unlisted equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss amounted to HK$39,815,000, which were
measured at fair value and categorised as Level 3
within the fair value hierarchy with significant
unobservable inputs.

RZZB_WHFE=A=+—0  EXERQTEFAE
w=ERAYIE E M ARIEIR & /39,815,000 7T + iR AT E
AEVYHSBERATEEBRTEAEATAIHREASE
ME=FEMR -

The Group has engaged an independent professional
qualified valuer to perform the valuation of these
investments. The external valuer has applied valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of these unlisted
investments that were not quoted in active markets.
ERBEEZEBUEXSERMEMEZEREETR
B HNEEEMERARETEAEEZ S RBERTS
WEZIELTRERTE-

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BARNEERNBARFEHE

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
A EEEZEMEEMORIN  EHREE
e

o Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
valuer on which the management’s assessment of
the unlisted equity investments was based;

HR A5 & B2 8 5T 3 - T AR R4 & P HR | (4 (B A
mEEERE

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology and valuation technique adopted in
the valuation of unlisted equity investments;

AP IE BT R IEIR B (R EPTER (R E 7R R A5
AT A

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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B % B, A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
CE LR ]

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAESTROMEH

Valuation of unlisted equity investments (Continued)

HFELMREREWGEE (E)

Refer to notes 3, 17 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

BRI A BEANZ3 - 17R40 (&)
These valuation techniques, in particular those
including significant unobservable inputs, involved

subjective judgements and assumptions. Changes in the
key inputs and assumptions on which the fair value of
these unlisted equity investments is based could have a
material impact on the valuation of these unlisted
investments at the end of the reporting period and
could significantly affect the change in fair value being
recognised for the reporting period.

ZEMETE  LEZSFERERTABEEABEDN

ETEE& W REBAE RREK - ZEIFLMRERE
NHEMKBENBRBAZIERBROES @ HZEFF
Lm&:ﬁﬂi&iﬁﬂﬂiﬁ’ﬂﬁfﬁﬁiéﬁwa I ¥ ¥ &5 1

BHRANAFELPELEATE -
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Evaluating and validating key inputs and
information used in the valuation against the
underlying source information;
HIRMEBAIRER T ZERERANEED R
WABIENER

Assessing the need of key valuation adjustments
by challenging management on the
appropriateness of key assumptions and
judgement employed based on available
information and facts and circumstances of these
equity investments; and
%ﬁi@fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ#%&‘%ﬁﬂé&ﬁﬂ’fjﬁﬁﬁﬂ =
BEREAMRANBERRERAGEES I - 57E
BREEFAENSER: &

Performing sensitivity analysis to evaluate the
reasonableness of the valuation, when
appropriate.
EEENRERETHRRED T AN GEENSIE
Mo



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by those charged with
governance in discharging their responsibility for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R E

Hib &R

BERREFRFHHEMENER - HMEHE
BHERNFHRANER  EREMBHRER R
BTV BEM RS BRI

BAEEEMBERRNERL TRELME
B BT EREFREME R EREAEN
HYEERE Am ©

AERMESEEMBRERNETME - HHD
BEERMEEMER  HUBET  EEH
ERRE BRA M BEHRRIBMIEETB
RHMERNBERFEEARBIEUTF
HEERERBLHBER -

ERBMEATHIE  REMARBSEA
ERGEEERERRL  HAFTEREZE
E-fmahm RfUSBERAHREEE-

EERBEEERAE
FRAENEE

MRS M BHRR

BEATEFAREREE LS HHARER
By (BB BTSSR A ) B BB (A R HI)
RERTHRAEMTANGANERE
UHER BBV BERENRETEE
P 1A B S o $2 35 77 48 B 1 B K 82 2R L
BRI E R -

ERBGEAVBHRERE - ERREEFAET
i ERERNELENREN XEHEEBR
THREEFELLEABNER  UREHE
BREREFER KRIE BERFEEFE
# EREFRIFLEE  IFEEME
BREOERTR -

o

\

BERTEEERBETARABRHE UETH
EE ESRENMBEREEENEE -
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B % B, A

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

omissions,

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with

relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R E

RHE MBS W BBRRAAEN

B (&)

— HEFRARELESTERNRENE
EH &R - RIBFAERMNENGRE @ i
ERAFHARZRABENEHENEAT
REEM - M AT RE B Y BERENR
BREENELERRE - MREFIR
REFEEATEEN  MELEERE
RS P IREEBAAMBEHRRP A
FAWE - BEABORESR - RITM
EEERRIFBREER - RANGEHRE
ERNZEMRER LARENEAR
EeRM RRFEAXBAAES

B EEETRFELE -

— HERAMBmRNBEIEIA A
BHNAT  BERE  ARGAUBR
EATERBRBERXZMES -

— B EEEABERIEBIRDOUBEE
BERRR EENEHRE  UEYH
REVBHRRERER - RMER =
SEFEANTR - BEEMBT - HAI/
BEARRAEEZRNEE-

BPEEEERARBRRT (HPEHE) I
MEESE FHEZHE EAFFTERSE
BREBFERTTENEABEENEAE
RERFE ©
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B &% BET R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024

Tong Wai Hang
Practising certificate number P06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

— A = 2 Z
mEBE®R
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-NWF=A=+—RA1LFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA TTHIR)

2024 2023
—EBIWMEF —FT=%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
M3 FET FiET
REVENUE '@N 5 128,074 97,563
Cost of sales SHE A A (85,172) (46,861)
Gross profit E X 42,902 50,702
Other income and gains H b Ug A R bz 5 92,864 17,062
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment "EWMEZ ANFE
properties (E518), M= (32,364) 46,284
Fair value loss on equity investments at & A F{EzF ABEERE 2 I
fair value through profit or loss, net — ###® & 7 A FEEIE -
g (104,893) (75,709)
Administrative expenses THAX (77,298) (71,663)
Other operating expenses, net HEh &Y - FEE (29,140) (15,574)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMWMEB AR 2 kE~
(E18) 34 31,015 (2,141)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYE 2 W
properties 35 41,641 —
Finance costs MBER 7 (26,408) (36,704)
Share of profits and losses of Ak ay /NI b D
associates, net E518 - JFER 40 1,807
LOSS BEFORE TAX MR AT E R 6 (61,641) (85,936)
Income tax expense P88 F =2 10 (15,133) (7,998)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEER (76,774) (93,934)
Attributable to: LA el -
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEZ N (75,691) (90,967)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR HE o (1,083) (2,967)
(76,774) (93,934)
HK cents HK cents
B Rl
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ARQATEBEBRAFEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EhERER
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted HEARKN#E 12 (5.16) (6.20)

The notes on pages 112 to 254 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

FN2E24B 2 MEBREE I EHRER 2 —
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEREBaERkEMEZE KRS X

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-TZ-NWEF=FA=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEFEEEE (76,774) (93,934)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ Htt2mE (F8) s
INCOME
Other comprehensive loss that may be R LA EARIRIaEEFHT D48
reclassified to profit or loss in ZEECHMEES
subsequent periods: 1B
Exchange differences: ME W ERE
Exchange differences on translation BMEBINEBREEZ
of foreign operations fEHZ%8 (43,002) (112,774)
Share of other comprehensive loss of D LBt & AR EMEE
associates &8 (19) (20)
Reclassification of cumulative FRALEGNEB 2R
exchange fluctuation reserve of STHE R B HE 2
foreign operations disposed of =i
during the year 34 (594) (6)
Net other comprehensive loss that may 7 bAf& BAfE & AT EE#T 5
be reclassified to profit or loss in HEBm 2 HMEEE
subsequent periods =pekc] (43,615) (112,800)
Other comprehensive (lossyincome that RIA% BB S EHH
will not be reclassified to profit or HEER EMEE
loss in subsequent periods: (&518), Wz -
Leasehold land and buildings: ME L REF -
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation B (Ea), B 14 (6,563) 4,107
Income tax effect Rz 2 29 1,237 (529)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income R A% BREETEEHH
that will not be reclassified to profit fEZiEzmzEMAE2ME
or loss in subsequent periods (E518), MWz F 5 (5,326) 3,578
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEHMZEEE KR
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BE (48,941) (109,222)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEREEEAR
FOR THE YEAR (125,715) (203,156)
Attributable to: AT HE(L -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ ZS N (124,651) (199,984)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR A (1,064) (3,172)
(125,715) (203,156)

The notes on pages 112 to 254 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R R

As at 31 March 2024
RZZE-ZMNF=A=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE FHET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Goodwill EES 13 — —
Property, plant and equipment M - WBEMEE 14 253,846 282,463
Investment properties BEME 15 661,908 684,114
Investments in associates REEERNE 2" E 16 5,638 4,736
Equity investments at fair value BAVFEFABREZ
through profit or loss e & 17 39,815 157,463
Other receivables H b B WGRIR 21 163,931 —
Total non-current assets FnBEEMLE 1,125,138 1,128,776
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from associates JFE L Bt 2 N =) FRIA 16 3,868 2,532
Properties held for sale under ?*)E'#‘ﬁ%%%&%%
development and properties ES
held for sale 18 580,992 702,073
Inventories rE 19 3,030 2,883
Accounts receivable JfE Uk BR 1R 20 32,658 14,048
Prepayments, deposits and other TERREIE - e hHEM
receivables FE W SR IE 21 164,055 26,943
Tax recoverable A] Y [ 4 78 22,705 24,940
Pledged deposits [RELEIRER N 22 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIReEEIER 22 42,338 24,408
853,646 801,827
Assets of a disposal group classified as DB AFE 2 HEHAR
held for sale BE 35 — 332,177
Total current assets BB ERE 853,646 1,134,004
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Accounts payable JE 1~ BR I8 23 22,699 5,062
Other payables and accruals E1ﬁfﬂﬁrAIE&J%§Jr§§FH 24 91,239 95,697
Due to associates JE ST & N B FRIB 16 63 —
Due to related parties J?’E%ﬁ?ﬁ@)\i 25 3,914 6,996
Tax payable JE A 7 18 50,967 27,794
Bonds payable JET B # 28 33,000 —
Interest-bearing bank and other ETERITREMEE
borrowings 26 235,103 222,199
Loan from a related party —RBEANTER 25 37,800 —
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 343 326
475,128 358,074
Liabilities directly associated with the HED(EAFEEEER
assets classified as held for sale HEzaE 35 — 57,748
Total current liabilities mEAEELE 475,128 415,822
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 378,518 718,182
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABERRBAEE
LIABILITIES 1,503,656 1,846,958
HERREBREBARAR Z—TZUFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a0l RRR

As at 31 March 2024
WZZEZWNFE=A=1+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s FET FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Bonds payable ERES 28 — 33,000
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEE
borrowings 26 60,500 169,970
Loan from a related party —RBEATZER 25 — 51,300
Deferred tax liabilities BB A E 29 101,235 124,762
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 331 675
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 162,066 379,707
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,341,590 1,467,251
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of  AAQAFEE AELER
the Company
Issued capital B BT 30 146,682 146,682
Reserves f##E 32 1,206,393 1,331,044
1,353,075 1,477,726
Non-controlling interests IR R RE % (11,485) (10,475)
Total equity T 4R R 1,341,590 1,467,251

EHEEEN S _WNEA-TLHILE
TR HERETT -

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
27 June 2024.

Tjia Boen Sien Wang Jing Ning

E 8= FTRE
Director Director
EFE EZE

The notes on pages 112 to 254 form part of the consolidated Z112E 2548 Z MM A M E®REZ —
financial statements. #Bip -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERERBHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE-Z-_WE=ZA=+—RALFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(AETTHIR)
Attributable to owners of the Company
AAREAARSE
Share Property Capital ~ Exchange Share Non-

Issued ~ premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital ~ redemption ~ fluctuation option Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BEARE RONEEER  TABR  EUEE DEEREE  A4HE A1EDEE EZRBGE BRUEHEE B gt reRER  ERSE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

Tin T TEL Tin T TEL Tin T TEL Tin T TEL Tin

At 1 April 2022 RZF-Z§MA-R 146,682 240,853 15,262 23,061 124,603 (9,240) 14,451 71341 95 1043766 1,677,710 (5,606) 1,672,104
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - (90,967) (90,967 97 (93934
Other comprehensive incomefloss) TEREM2ENG/(B8)

for the year
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold land  EfEHELEREF L BH -

and buildings, et of tax REFE - - - - 3578 - - - - - 3578 - 3578
Share of other comprehensive loss of ~ HERERTEM2ABE

associates - - - - - - - (20) - - (20) - (20)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEENERHELL

foreign operations EiEE - - - - - - - (112,569) - - (112,569) Q05 (12,774)
Reclassfication of cumulative exchange ~ EXAEERE &S

fluctuation reserve of a foreign $BCBHERRERE

operation disposed of during the year  (¥534)

fote 3 - - - - - - - ol - - 6l - 6l
Total comprehensive income/(oss) TEERENE/(BE) 88

for the year - - - - 3578 - - (112,595) - (90,967) (199,984) (3172 (203,156)
Release of revaluation reserve Bl r: {2 - - - - (5,509) - - - - 5,509 — - -
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE-RHBAR (Ki34) - - - - - - - - - - - 233%) 233)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the BREXRHEABRERE

lapse of share options - = - - = - - = (925) 925 = - -
Contributions from non-controlling REWBRAFARRRE

shareholders of subsidiaries pid - - - - - - - - - - - 636 636
At 31 March 2023 R-F-=§=A=t+-8 146,682 240,853* 15,262* 23,061* 122,672* (9,240 14,457* (35,254) — 959,233 1477,726 (10475) 1,467,251

HERREBREARAT —T-MEFH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREEgER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_WE=ZA=+—HALEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(AETTHIR)
Attributable to owners of the Company
EDRREAEL
Share Property Capital  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital ~redemption fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BRARA REEER REBR  ABER DEEMER  EABR KANDER EXREER  RERA B FERER  EREE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TERL TR T TERL TR T TERL TEn T TERL TEn TR
At 1 April 2023 W-E-ZEMA-R 146,682 240,853 15,262 23,061 122,672 (9,240) 14,457 (35,254) 959,233 1,477,726 (10475) 1,467,251
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - (15,691 (75,691) (108)  (16,774)
Other comprehensive incomelloss) for the year — AEEEM2 BN/ (B8
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land and EfBETHREFIEL -
buildings, net of tax Rik3E - - - - (5.326) - - - - (5,326) - (5,326)
Share of other comprehensive loss of assocates  AEBERALMAEEE - - - - - - - (19) - (19) - (19)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ~ BEBNEBHELERER
operations - - - - - - - (43,021) - (43,021) 19 (43,002)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange fluctuation  E3AEENEHE G EE L
reserve of a foreign operation disposed of ZHEZRBES (Wii4)
during the year (note 34) - - - - - - - (594) - (594) - (594)
Total comprehensive loss for the year TEEREEREE - - - - (5.326) - — (4363 (15691)  (124651) (106 (125715)
Release of revaluation reserve EfffEZEAD - - - - (5,630) - - - 5,630 - -
Contrioutions from non-controlling shareholder of ~ &~ B A MEERRENTE
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 54 54
At 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=A=+-R 146,682 240,853* 15,262* 23,061% 11,716 (9,240)% 14,457 (78,888)* 889,172 1,353,075 (11485 1,341,590
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBROERGEMBRARANZGREREE
HK$1,206,393,000 (2023: HK$1,331,044,000) in the consolidated statement 1,206,393,000/% jT (= Z = = 4 : 1,331,044,000
of financial position. BIT) °

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess of the
nominal value of the subsidiaries’ shares acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’'s shares issued in exchange

thereof, pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21

1997.

May

The notes on pages 112 to 254 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEHETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_T-_ME=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(A TLHIR)
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M3 FET FiE T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBHBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BrELAIE B (61,641) (85,936)
Adjustments for: M TFIEA EHFE
— Finance costs — UBER 7 26,408 36,704
— Share of profits and losses of — DREE R RDE N &
associates, net B8 - FE8 (40) (1,807)
— Remeasurement loss on investment — o FUEE 8
in an associate for step acquisition R—HEBERAZ
REZEE 6 — 1,984
— Interest income — FEMA 5 (303) (167)
— Imputed interest income — HERA S YA 5 (9,285) —
— Fair value loss/(gain) on investment — &&EWE 2 N FE
properties &8, (Was) 6 32,364 (46,284)
— Dividend income from equity — BAFEFABRE
investments at fair value through 2 BRI B 2 R R
profit or loss N 5 (74,865) (1,350)
— (Gain)/loss on disposal of — HEMBRAF 2
subsidiaries (Uezs) /1B 1E 6 (31,015) 2,141
— Gain on bargain purchase of — ZERE—HEY
an associate NGl 6 (12) —
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of — HEWE  WENK
property, plant and equipment BBIEE BB
(Ya3) 6 3 (56)
— Gain on disposal of investment — HEREME W
properties 35 (41,641) —
— Depreciation of property, plant and — % - BB MEHEZ
equipment e ) 6 12,280 12,702
— Provision for net realisable value of — & ¥3 2 Al #38
properties held for sale, net FERE FE 6 15,696 10,374
— Provision/(reversal of provision) for — TFE&E R, (B
inventories $o]) 6 530 (389)
— Deficit from revaluation of property, — #1% - &= KM%
plant and equipment B EHA 6 3,436 1,271
— Impairment of goodwill — HERE 6 — 1,683
— Impairment/(reversal of impairment) — & U8R ER(E, CRIE
of accounts receivable, net B[O) - FE8 6 6,806 (52)
— Impairment of other receivables — H b U RIB R E 6 975 485
— Fair value loss on equity investments — AT (Bt ABZFE
at fair value through profit or loss, R E 2N
net BER  FHE 6 104,893 75,709
. (15,411) 7,012
Movement in balances with related B ANLT&EH®REEH)
parties (2,502) (5,796)
Decrease/(increase) in properties held EBPEFEMERGE
for sale under development and MmER L, ()
properties held for sale 20,251 (6,078)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE(Em), md (681) 2,871
(Increase)/decrease in accounts JE U BRTE (18 0), R
receivable (28,767) 2,459
Increase in prepayments, deposits and FEfIFRIE - &4 K Hith
other receivables & YL FRIE 18N (10,899) (878)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts FEfTERFRIE N, CRi )
payable 17,981 (1,349)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — E b & {f FIB & fEAT & A
and accruals #an, O ) 27,471 (8,574)
HERREBREBARAR Z—TZUFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_ZT-_NF=A=+—HLHFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2024 2023
—E-MF =%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
Cash generated/(used in) from RESERB(FTA)
operations Re 7,443 (10,333)
Interest paid EAFLE (30,981) (44,757)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded/(paid) ZiR[E(E11) EFH
IS 91 (85)
Overseas taxes paid ARG INE IR (8,995) (487)
Net cash flows used in operating EEE(BFFABRESHRE
activities HER (32,442) (55,662)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBMEBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 U A B 5 303 167
Dividend received from equity BUIE A FE ABRE
investments at fair value through ZBRIERERE
profit or loss 5 74,865 1,350
Purchases of equity investments at fair B EiR AT ET ABRE
value through profit or loss 2R E (3,765) (3,382)
Purchases of items of property, plant B A¥ZE - BE K& E
and equipment 15 H 14 (339) (356)
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — R KT B A A 33 — (1,753)
Disposal of subsidiaries HE B A B 34 11,623 (6)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - BERREE
property, plant and equipment B Fri§50I8 - 71
Proceeds from disposal of investment HE®RE Y EFTEHE
properties 35 51,189 —
Refund of equity investments EERATFE ABERE
designated at fair value through ZRERE R
profit or loss 40 16,520 —
Advances to associates, net M EEE QR RRIE
R (1,273) (133)
Investment in an associate R—REEE QRNEE (1,544) (783)
Dividend income from associates REHE QT MRBIA 16 675 5,614
Net cash flows generated from REXBHMBRERE
investing activities FE 148,254 789
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBMERERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings IR T R EMEE 36 214,589 329,767
Repayment of bank and other BERRITREMES
borrowings 36 (306,285) (389,681)
Principal portion of lease liabilities HEBGB 2 AKEI D 36 (327) (30)
(Repayment to)/advance from a related (R—ZBEEATER),
party RE—EEEALTZ
B3R 36 (10,900) 51,300
Contributions to subsidiaries from FEFE AR M 2 R B B A A
non-controlling interests AE 54 636
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITES B IE 36 — 33,000
Net cash flows (used in)/generated FE ¥ (FTA) g
from financing activities HeREFE (102,869) 24,992

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GREBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_T-_ME=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB TTHIR)
2024 2023
—E-gE TE-=4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE FHET FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH R RREZHIER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i, CRd) BEE 12,943 (29,881)
Cash and cash equivalents at REDzRERREEE
beginning of year EHE 8,660 40,170
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXxgEHsTE
change (1,204) (1,629)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REEZRERRESZE
END OF YEAR EH 20,399 8,660
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH B&RBESZEEBA
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2B
Cash and bank balances e MIRTT 48R 22 42,338 24,408
Bank overdrafts RITEY 26 (21,939) (15,868)
Cash and cash equivalents of a SERFEHEHERZ
disposal group classified as held for R4 RIS EEEH
sale 35 — 120
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS RGZABRERERFANZ
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED HePREEHEER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 20,399 8,660

The notes on pages 112 to 254 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A BB RR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 QEAREEESR

Deson Development International Holdings Limited (the MEEREFEREBRFRAR ([RAR])
“Company"”) is a limited liability company incorporated in E—HFRBREAMKX I BREER
Bermuda. The address of the Company’s registered office is 7] o ANA T Z s SR A Victoria
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place, Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of business Hamilton HM10, Bermuda ' MEEZ&
is located at 11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, EEMMABRENESEREBS7IRE
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. FREZIE -

During the year, the Group was involved in the following FRAEEBZEF2EBOT

principal activities:

(i)  property development and investment; () WEBEEMKE:
(i) trading of medical equipment and home security and (i EEBEXRBERERZLBE
automation products; and fLER: &
(i)  operation of a hotel. (i) B DAL -
Information about subsidiaries EEMELATNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RRREEWBRRIMNFBET :
follows:
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
ERTLZER/
£8 MR MR EES HZMRA FsROER AARBEERALL TEEH
Direct  Indirect
H# GiE:3
Advancost Assets Limited British Virgin Islands (“BVI")/ US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
EBERHS E8 31 REZR
(XBEZHB]) /54
Allied Health Elements Company Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 Ordinary — 90  Selling of wellness and
pandemic prevention
products
BrBERBAERAR 5 3,000,000 EEM HERRLEER
Blocks Success International Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RERTHS/TA 1ET BBEk REER
Century Logistics Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
EBRIES/BA [E8 31 REZR
Deson Commercial City Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HERERBRAR 0 BT BBRKR REER
Deson Development Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$200 Ordinary 100 — Investment holding
HEERKEBRLA EBRIES/BA 200%7T E@k REZR
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued ordinary/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

1 RAREEEHR(H)

FRNELRANER (&)

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRTZER/
28 MR MR ZMBRA FREROER FAAEEREESL FEER
Direct  Indirect
B Bz
Deson E-Commerce (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd (note (a)) People’s Republic of China  RMB32,000,000 N/A — 100  Selling, distribution and
("PRC")/Mainland China marketing of home security
products
BEEREE (RE)ARAF (M) REARANE ((HE])/ AE¥ TER HE  PHRRERERZER
PR 32,000,0007T
Deson Dynasty Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
BERFERE (BE)BERAR BE BT BBk REER
Deson Dynasty Commercial (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 N/A — 100  Selling, distribution and
(note (a)) marketing of home security
products and hotel
management
BEANEE (RE)ARAF (M) RE/RERL AE% TER HE  PHRRERERZER
50,000,0007T RBEER
Deson Innovative Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
BEERHBERERAF BE BT BBk REER
Deson Innovative Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Ordinary — 100  Selling, distribution and
marketing of home security
and automation products
HEBHERBERAT B 1,000,000/ H#k HE HHREERERZR
BBEM
Deson Medical Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
ARELEE/BE 1ET EBK REER
Deson (Ningbo) Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
BE(ERREFRRA RERLES/ B 100271 EBR RAERK
Deson Property Development (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China HK$311,880,000 N/A — 100  Property development
(note (a))
P ERRRE (FH)HRAF (M) hE/ PR 311,880,000 A NEEE
Deson Soho Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100 Inactive
BARBRERAR & 100,000 EiEKR HEXH
Deson Ventures (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
BREEX(BR)ARDA BE BT BBk RAERK
Deson Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
BREREBRAR ARELES/BE 1ET EBK REER
Full Trade (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
22 (PE)ERAF BE 10,0007 HBK REER
Gosford Technology Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
ARELES/BE 1ET EBK REER
Grand On Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Property holding
BREXARAR & BT TRk mELRR

MERREBEEFRAAF

ZEZIUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued ordinary/

1 RAIARKEEEH(A)

FRHBRRANESR (&)

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRTZER/
£ AR MR E Y ZMBRE FAREROEN FAAEEREEIL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
B Gk
Hainan Full Trade Industry Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 N/A — 100  Property investment and
management
BE2BEEBRAR RE/ R E R AR¥E TER MERERER
1,000,0007T
Honour Advance Ltd. Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
THAERRA e BT EBR REER
Intellmission Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERLEE/BR 2EXn EAR REER
Medical Technologies Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100  Trading of medical equipment
EEEAREZERERAF BE 10,0008 7T EBK EERERA
MTL Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100  Installation and maintenance of
medical equipment and
health care products
HERBERTIIRERARF B 2B EEK TEREERBEEIREER
New Perfect Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
RERRES/BH 1ET BB REER
Often Reach Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERTHS/TA 1%n LRk RERK
Peaceful Elite Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
KERLEE/BE 1ET BBKR REER
Quick Skill Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RBRAES/BE 1En EBK RERK
Super Sight Investments Inc. BVI/Mainland China US$1  Ordinary — 100  Property development
HEELEE/MEA 1%n Bk NERRE
Synergy Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
MEmNERAR BE 100,000 7T EiEmAE RARK
Tian Tong Satellite Communication Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100 Inactive
REEERABRAA £ 100,000 7T EREK LEER
Universal Focus Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 Ordinary — 80 Investment holding
KBRERHE/FE 50,0007 EEMR RERRK
Win Glory Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100 Human resources
RIWERERDH BE 10,0008 ERK ANER

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 RAREEEHR(H)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) ERNBLABINESR (&)
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRTLER/
A% A GRS E HEfRA FEROES AARELRZEIN FEEH
Direct  Indirect
B [k
Winsome Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
REEXERRA 5 2B LBk REER
Wonderful Hope Limited BVI/Mainland China US$1 Ordinary — 100  Property development
RERTEHES/REAML 1ET BB NEERE
Woodmont Profits Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERXHES/EA 1ET BBR REER
Yan Man Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
REERRE/BE 127 @R REER
HEHEEEEL (BH)BRAT (note ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A — 100 Property development
HEHHEEEL (B AERAF(HE0)  RE/PERG AR¥E TER NEERE
10,000,0007T
MERGBEEE (FH)ERAF (ote (b)  PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 N/A — 100 Hotel operation
HERMEEER (R ERAR (ME0)  #E/HRERL AR¥E TER BEEE
5,000,0007C
EE%%@%@E(F@Q)% 27 (note (b)  PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 N/A — 100 Property management
HERFELER (M) BRAR (Mb)  +E/PEAR AR#500,000 A NEER
BHEREEERATA (note (b)) PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 N/A — 100  Property investment
BEEREEERRA (HiEb) HE/ R E R AR¥E TER MERE
40,000,0007C
Notes: B3 -
(a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. (a) RERBERFMAIEBERE -
(b) Registered as domestic enterprises under PRC law. (b) RBREERTMRANERE -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company XN ERESTRAGHAEEARSF
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected EHEEBKFEXLEIRUALEEE
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of FEEZHH 2ARRMELRF - ES
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other RAENMEEMMNBARZHBYH &
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in FEARKMFEBANITE -

particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for leasehold land
and buildings classified as property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value.
Disposal group held for sale are stated at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
as further explained in note 2.4. These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual

arrangements; and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS

1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to
HKAS 12

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)
The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition or
presentation of any items in the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.
Since the Group’s approach and policy align
with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The
amendments did not have any significant impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon initial application.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a
mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help
users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current
tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods
in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not
have any impact to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEBE(E)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 EHBERREESE ()

disclosures (Continued)
The implication of abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism:

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government
gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can no longer
use any of the accrued benefits derived from its
mandatory contributions to mandatory provident fund
("MPF") scheme to reduce the long service payment
(“LSP") in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the
service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately
before the Transition Date and the years of service up
to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. In particular, the
guidance indicates that entities may account for the
accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF
contributions that are expected to be used to reduce
the LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the LSP. The
abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have a
material impact on the Group’s result and financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

financial reporting standards
The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of
HKFRS 10 and Assets between an
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture’

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020
Amendments”)" 4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)" 4

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance

and HKFRS 7 Arrangements’
Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2025
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure
the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 April 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 g B (&)

2.3

MERREBEEFRAAF

EEMEERERZE BB

HER (&)
EEERRAREZ HEEB
BT 2 A2 i — S AR
m -

TRV HHRELENEI0RRELE
SR ERE 285 2 BRI IR EE
MBmEERFE10R KB EGF
ERIF 28 ENEEREEFERE
BERRABERLEZIMBERE
EHEITE 2T —BRE - %
FRFHAEERHEENESE
BRRERE  F2mEER N
REMEEZBE -BSREE
ZRHTBRER  AREER
BERRARFIELZBBRIRMN
TERNREERZBERTRE
BLEER 2N - RFER TS
WA EERR - AV B R
SEAF10E N EB G ERIE
285 ZERT R AR E 2 BB EAE
MABERBELGAMASM
Bre BEWLL - BRAERTRE A
TEERAR

FREP G MEERE 1658 2EF]
R EERANRGELAZHE
EREMRZET — AEAZ
BIE - ABRES — ABEAD
SHREMREEREAR T
AEESHE ZFBIR_F
“MFEMA—- B ERIRNE
B AR - WAEWERR A
HIEME M BHRE LR FE 1655
ERA=T-AFMA—HA)®K
RN ERBEORRS - £ FFIRF
ER - 2FEIRHITgHAE
B RREEEAERATE

ZEZIUFEFR

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)
The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is
required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

exercise its

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

2

SETHE (&)

2.3

EEMAERNRERZE BT
wELER ()
TECEFEIREESAEER
MBS ERBMATE - BIELEE
BEEFNERREEES VA
RMEBRGE - BENDET
XERBTEARINTESEAR
MM E - ZFBRI TR
BEETNLNHEBE SR AT RS
B -AEZVEHaENEHE
KEANRNERATANBR
T -BENBERIIerE LY
He _T__FBITE—FEF
EERZHAELECBERRA
FoEEERBREAK ALY
HBTETERNEZBENEA
MBS IERE - AR TERBET
RIBEHAM 1218 A B9 R K R2iE
ZIEMBABEAEMELBEINEE -
ZEBRIAEBYER W TR
FEA -RFEA-_Z_ZFE
I EREARNER_-_Z-_—_F
1BF]  R2IA - AEBEBRILE
T EZEBT2TE  ARR
FERBHEEETEMBE] - RN
IE =S I R RN 1)
REEMNZE VW BRRELETN
EATE -

it



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2R BR ()
24 ERSFHEE

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2
2.4 Material accounting policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its leasehold land and buildings
classified as property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

2

& 3B (A1)
24 BAEHBE ()
AFEHE

AEEREREHRRZQFER
EDER/ME BEAKHZHE
ELHRET REWMELBRE
BE - AFEERFERTSEZ
HEZHNEFRZF  BEE
BEMEDRZERIERAEMN
X2 ER% - RFEAERR
EEEIERAB IR INEE
FEEBNETENERERBLE
MENEATEZEERRER
BHNMGHET TRIFKAMD
BARAEBEELENTIE R
wMIH2EERNKELEN D
1% BEEXABENAFEER
MZ2ERENSEEXREEE
FATARRETE -

FeMARL AVE BRI R
TS R URE KRR
RAENE T8 KD REER
REMEEL S BHBERE
T & 4 T 2 A0 B )

AEBEHETRBERERTR M
B% BRAERHBEFER
FE TREMNABEAUSER
ABIE - RADERTABEREEA
Bz



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

AFEHE (A

AFERHBREN B AREZ
FAAERAR SN E
AFEERTEREE 2 RIEE
AR TAATFEERSE

Level 1:  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in ZBl—: WBEHEREENERE
active markets for identical assets or RSP 2 WmE
liabilities (REERE)

Level 2:  based on valuation techniques for which Zpl— - BEKEREARE
the lowest level input that is significant to (HRAVEAEARE
the fair value measurement is observable, FEE)ANEREL
either directly or indirectly MESR 2 EEAE

Level 3:  based on valuation techniques for which Hrl=: BESELEASE
the lowest level input that is significant to (R FEAZAEE
the fair value measurement is unobservable A BE)TAEBR

ZIEERE

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, properties held for sale under
development and completed properties held for sale,
financial assets, investment properties and a disposal
group classified as held for sale), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) The party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group;
or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or a parent of the
Group; or
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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LA TTEIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  The party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

The entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; and the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or
valuation less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Land and buildings, classified as right-of-use assets
and owned assets, are measured at valuation less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)
Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt
with as movements in the property revaluation
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess
of the deficit is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
An annual transfer from the property revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference
between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a
revalued asset, the relevant portion of the property
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or
reducing balance basis to write off the cost or
valuation amount of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the remaining lease terms
on the straight-line basis
Leasehold Over the remaining lease terms
improvements on the straight-line basis
Furniture and 15% on the reducing balance
fixtures basis
Office and other 15% on the reducing balance
equipment basis
Tools and 15% on the reducing balance
equipment basis
Motor vehicles 15% on the reducing balance
basis
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 B EEX (&)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)
Property, plant and equipment and V¥ -BERZREARITE
depreciation (Continued) (#&)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation amount of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of
the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)
The Group determines whether completed properties
held for sale and properties held for sale under
development would be transferred to investment
properties when, only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future
rental income generated by the property and this is
supported with evidence that there is demand for
rental space; (b) the Group can demonstrate that it
has the resources, including the necessary financing or
capital, to hold and manage an investment property;
(c) the change in use is legally permissible; (d) if the
property must be further developed for the change in
use, the development has commenced and (e) the
change in use is approved by the board.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sales transaction rather
than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a
subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, except
for the leasehold land which is measured at fair
value, less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Leasehold Over the remaining lease
land terms

Leased Over the remaining lease
property terms
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the
Group’s policy for “inventories”. When a
right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset
is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the
Group's policy for “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
buildings and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leased assets to leases
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

of low-value assets are
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue or other income in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the
exception of accounts receivable that does not contain
a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Accounts receivable that does not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI"”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at amortised costs (debt

instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,

removed from

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
"pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
(Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancement that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for accounts receivable which applies
the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1:

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2:

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3:

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that does not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBAFTAIN - HUETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)
Financial liabilities THEE
Initial recognition and measurement XL ER KT E

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include accounts
payable, other payables, certain accruals, amounts due
to associates and related parties, bonds payable and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement for financial liabilities
at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)

Properties held for sale under development
and properties held for sale

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value and comprise land
costs, construction costs, borrowing costs, professional
fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period.

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined by an apportionment of the total costs of
land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the
selling price, less estimated costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
statement of financial position comprise cash on hand
at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present value
at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the

deductible temporary differences,

and the

carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EFBX(E)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EXRGFBCR(E)

Revenue recognition W 7 FE
Revenue from contracts with customers B &AWz
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised EPAEHKENE MR 2 1%
when control of goods or services is transferred to the SIEERERPR  EREAE
customers at an amount that reflects the EFEHGEEEZEEmI RS
consideration to which the Group expects to be RMRE 2z EER -

entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one vyear,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

(@) Sale of properties
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Revenue from the sale of properties is HEMREWNENBEESEY
recognised at the point in time when the WAEBRRIT 2 MESH AT

purchasers obtained the physical possession or
legal title of the completed property, and the
Group has a present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

(b) Sale of products
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the assets
is transferred to customers, generally on delivery
of products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

() Hotel operations
Revenue from the provision of hotel operations
is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from food and beverage operations of
a hotel is recognised at the point in time when
the control of food and beverage products is
transferred to the customer, generally upon
purchase of the food and beverage items by the
customer.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Other income

Rental income from property, plant and equipment is
recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfer control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of loss
per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)
Other employee benefits H g S5 7
Pension schemes BUkz i E

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “"ORSO Scheme”)
under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who were eligible to
participate. The ORSO Scheme operated in a similar
way to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee left the ORSO Scheme before his/her
interest in the Group's employer contributions vesting
fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group
were reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
contributions. With effect from 1 December 2000, the
Group has operated both schemes and those
employees who are not eligible to participate in the
ORSO Scheme are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition
or construction of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds. Where funds
have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate of 1.1% (2023: 2.5%) has been applied to the
expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum of
association and Bye-laws grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BERESHBX (&)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the time whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than
the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

expenses,

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Determining the timing of satisfaction of
contracts related to sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contract with
customers requires the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the legal title of the relevant
property to customers. The Group also determined that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment from
customers for performance completed to date before the
transfer of legal title of the relevant property to customers.
Consequently, the Group concluded that the timing of
transfer of properties is at the point in time when the
purchasers obtained the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed property.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Impairment of non-current assets
In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value does not exist; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections, including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the
commercial property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair
value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of these properties which are leased out and
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Some
properties comprise certain portions that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and other portions that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a
finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties
In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@)  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location (or subject to
different leases or other contracts), adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties in less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and
(when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 March
2024 was HK$661,908,000 (2023: HK$684,114,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimation of net realisable value of properties
held for sale under development and properties
held for sale

The Group considers information from a variety of sources,
including recent prices of similar properties in the same
location and condition, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the dates of
transactions that occurred at those prices. Particulars of the
properties held for sale under development and properties
held for sale of the Group are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on land appreciation tax
("LAT”) implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains
arising from the transfer of real estate properties in
Mainland China with effect from 1 January 1994 are
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures,
including the amortisation of land use rights, borrowing
costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaged in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT,
which have been included in income tax. However, the
implementation of these taxes varies amongst various
Mainland China cities and the Group has not finalised its
LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact on the
income tax and provisions for LAT in the period in which
such determination is made.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimates regarding the realisability of deferred
tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
tax losses at 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$774,000 (2023: HK$774,000). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$319,930,000 (2023: HK$285,713,000).
Further details are contained in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair values of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on
market-based valuation techniques as detailed in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements. The valuation requires
the Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group categorises the fair values of these
investments as Level 3 valuations. Further details are
included in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three (2023: three) reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) the property development and investment business
segment is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding
of investment properties;

(b)  the trading business segment is engaged in the trading
of medical equipment and home security and
automation products; and

() the "others” segment comprises, principally, the
operation of a hotel.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of profit/loss before
tax. The profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that interest and
dividend income, fair value changes on equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss, finance costs, share of
profits and losses of associates, gain or loss on disposal of
subsidiaries, gain on disposal of investment properties as
well as unallocated head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, other
unallocated head office, corporate assets and assets of a
disposal group classified as held for sale as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities and liabilities directly associated with the
assets classified as held for sale as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION gRESFER (E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_E-_WWE=ZA=+—HBLHE
J‘E
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
NERER
REEK EEES Hit @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Segment revenue (note 5) SEBA (K5)
Sales to external customers HETINERP 86,284 28,715 13,075 128,074
Other income and gains HgA Rk 17,491 185 20 17,696
103,775 28,900 13,095 145,770
Total segment results DEEEAT (53,170) (2,782) (10,118) (66,070)
Reconciliation: #Hk -
Bank interest income BITH BB 303
Dividend income from equity BRATEFAERERZ
investments at fair value REREREMRA
through profit or loss 74,865
Fair value loss on equity BRATEFAERERZ
investments at fair value REREZATE
through profit or loss, net BiE ¥ (104,893)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE&E—RMEBELARZ
ogs 31,015
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME 2 Wiz
properties 41,641
Finance costs HEER (26,408)
Share of profits and losses of AEBE ARG RE
associates, net B F8 40
Unallocated expenses APERZ (12,134)
Loss before tax R RIEE (61,641)
Segment assets PEHEE 1,724,780 13,223 116,770 1,854,773
Reconciliation: #Hk -
Investments in associates N ANCIA 5,638
Corporate and other unallocated R AIREMES L
assets BE 118,373
Total assets BERE 1,978,784
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=E=EN

S HLAB TTEIR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REIEEHE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 (Continued) HECZ-_NF=A=+—-HILHF
E (&)
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
WERRER
REXEK EE Y Hit @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T T TR
Segment liabilities PEERE 232,265 10,665 15,129 258,059
Reconciliation: -
Corporate and other unallocated ARREMADEEE
liabilities 379,135
Total liabilities BEESE 637,194
Other segment information: HttnEER:
Fair value loss on investment properties 1% &# %A F{EEE 32,364 — — 32,364
Loss on disposal of items of property, — HEHE « BELR
plant and equipment HRE#E 3 — — 3
Impairment of accounts receivable, net  EWERIER(E  F5E 3,285 829 2,692 6,806
Impairment of other receivables HinEYGIRRE 975 — — 975
Provision for inventories FERE — 530 — 530
Provision for net realisable value of FENF NERFE
properties held for sale, net B 38 15,696 — — 15,696
Deficit from revaluation of property, MmE - BERHEEN
plant and equipment HEZEA - — 3,436 3,436
Depreciation of property, plant and 0¥ BEREERE
equipment 7,521 472 4,287 12,280
Capital expenditure* BARRS 130 54 155 339
* Capital expenditure represents additions of property, plant and * BRBELIETREYYE  BERLDE -

equipment.

BEEREREABFRAT

ZEZIUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReHFER(HE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E-_=Z=f=ZA=+—HBLHE
E
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEZRR
REXHK BHEK Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FHET
Segment revenue (note 5) BB (M)
Sales to external customers HETHEER 34,818 52,176 10,569 97,563
Other income and gains Hip A Rz 14,149 1,107 289 15,545
48,967 53,283 10,858 113,108
Total segment results PHEERT 36,367 6,466 (6,931) 35,902
Reconciliation: #Hk -
Bank interest income HATHEMA 167
Dividend income from equity investments AT Azt ABZEE 2
at fair value through profit or loss B & R SR 1,350
Fair value loss on equity investments at KA FEG ABZEE 2
fair value through profit or loss, net BEREZATE
BB FR (75,709)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBARZ
g (2,141)
Finance costs BHER (36,704)
Share of profits and losses of associates, 91 B2 A A& F &
net BE FH 1,807
Unallocated expenses RABHAX (10,608)
Loss before tax BB ATEE (85,936)
Segment assets PHEE 1,553,825 17,897 134,963 1,706,685
Reconciliation: Eof
Investments in associates N ANCIA Y- 4,736
Assets of a disposal group classified as B AFE 2 HEAT
held for sale BE 332,177
Corporate and other unallocated assets DA REMANEEE 219,182
Total assets EERE 2,262,780
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

KEesBER (&)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued) BE-—S-=f=ZHA=+—HLEF
E (&)
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEEER
REXED EPEY Hit @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THTT THTT AT AT
Segment liabilities PEEE 274,105 9,424 23,204 306,733
Reconciliation: k-
Liabilities directly associated with ENEAFEEEEE
the assets classified as held for Bz &(E
sales 57,748
Corporate and other unallocated RABIREMADEEE
liabilities 431,048
Total liabilities BEET 795,529
Other segment information: ~ HEtt2E&E# :
Fair value gain on investment R EWMEAFERE
properties (46,284) — — (46,284)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items ~ HEWE  BERRME
of property, plant and HEEBE/ (K&E)
equipment 14 - (70) (56)
(Reversal of impairment)/ FE U BRTE (R E ),/
impairment of accounts BE - FE
receivable, net (65) 8 5 (52)
Impairment of other receivables — E b JE MBI (E 485 — — 485
Reversal of provision for FERERD
inventories — (389) — (389)
Provision for net realisable value fFE¥EZATEEFE
of properties held for sale, net &%+ ¥ 10,374 — — 10,374
Deficit from revaluation of ME - WEREEHEN
property, plant and equipment & {E Z B4k - — 1,271 1,271
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% « BERZENE
and Equipment 7,31 743 4,648 12,702
Capital expenditure* BARRT 13 316 27 356
* Capital expenditure represents additions of property, plant and * BARTIERNEWE BB KEE -

equipment.

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Segment revenue from external customers

i EE R

(a) KENEBEFZTEURA

2024 2023

—E-NE —ET =4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Hong Kong G 25,137 45,948
Mainland China AR A 102,937 51,615
Total revenue FEAL N 128,074 97,563

The revenue information above is based on locations
of the operations.

(b) Non-current assets

EAUE A E R T E R A IR
EFh -

(b) ¥EEBEE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FHET

Hong Kong BB 127,135 139,190
Mainland China AR A b 952,550 827,387
Total non-current assets IR EELTE 1,079,685 966,577

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill,
investments in associates and equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss.

Information about a major customer

During the year, revenue of approximately HK$37,371,000
(2023: HK$15,337,000) was derived through sales of
properties (2023: gross rental income) in the property
development and investment business segment from a
single customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

A TSI R)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA-EHEMBARKSE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA -
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with BEFEAHWA
customers
Income from property development and ¥ % ZE R EEK 2
investment business WA 68,114 10,910
Income from trading of medical BEEEELBRRER
equipment and home security and ZRABEMZ
automation products WA 28,715 52,176
Hotel operations B JE &8 13,075 10,569
109,904 73,655
Revenue from other sources H i A RIR
Gross rental income from investment REREMEZLHS
properties PN 18,170 23,908
128,074 97,563
HERREBREBARAR Z—TZUFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

WA~ E A R Wz ()
() DFHFBAESR

2024
—E-NF
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEBRR
REXK ESXE® Hith wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Geographical markets i & 35
Hong Kong aBE — 25,137 — 25,137
Mainland China B A 68,114 3,578 13,075 84,767
Total revenue from BEFPAHNBAEE
contracts with
customers 68,114 28,715 13,075 109,904
Timing of revenue B ARG
recognition
At a point in time B3 — (B 5 T B 68,114 28,715 2,540 99,369
Over time & sy i — — 10,535 10,535
Total revenue from BEFEAHBAEEE
contracts with
customers 68,114 28,715 13,075 109,904
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

(Continued)

WA~ E WA R K& ()

() 2DFVAER (&)

A TSI R)

2023
—E-=F
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEERR
KREFEB BH5ED Hith FEEeE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Geographical markets &5
Hong Kong B — 45,948 — 45,948
Mainland China o B A 10,910 6,228 10,569 27,707
Total revenue from A N
contracts with
customers 10,910 52,176 10,569 73,655
Timing of revenue [ PN
recognition
At a point in time B — {5 R BE 10,910 52,176 3,579 66,665
Over time & B [ — — 6,990 6,990
Total revenue from BEFPAHWABE
contracts with
customers 10,910 52,176 10,569 73,655
HEFREREEARLAR Z—T_NFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA~ HibA R ()
(Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DFBAESR(FE)
(Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TREJFARSHYVENE
recognised in the current reporting period that were &+ WA E AR AU A
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of k-
the reporting period:
2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Revenue recognised that was R|EBMIFAAELD
included in contract liabilities at &&EHNEERUKA
the beginning of the reporting
period
Sale of properties HEME 15,323 2,895
Sale of goods HEEm 1,263 2,359
16,586 5,254
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BREME
Information about the Group’s performance AEBMNBHETERBMNT

obligations is summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property is obtained by the purchaser.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations in
relation to the income from property development
and investment business are a part of contracts that
have an original expected duration of one year or
less.

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the products and payment is generally due ranging
from 30 to 90 days from delivery and payment in
advance is normally required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

(i)

Performance obligations (Continued)

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered.

The performance obligation of food and beverage
operations of the hotel is satisfied when the control
of the food and beverage products is transferred,
being at the point when the customer purchases the
food and beverage items at the food and beverage
operations. Payment of the transaction is due
immediately at the point when the customer
purchases the food and beverage items.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations in
relation to the income from hotel operations are a
part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

WA~ E WA R K& ()

(i) BHEEGE)
B E
BHORERRRHRSG 2 —RERH
MFERK °

BENEREERBNEERR M
Ko SR fmEE mm VAR i R A (AN
BEREREKSMBERM
A B 2R TX RSB
FRETEERMMARMEARZ
By fi] B BBy 21 B o

ERATREN L DEEFER
BHEMECRERKE D REX)
MR HEBTENGEEMBRE
MEEPRE  BAEEEZER
ABBHMBRBEOREIIR
AEMPRS—FHATHEH

B —&#B7 °

HAi WA RSO T

2024 2023

—E-OEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Bank interest income RITH B ULA 303 167
Dividend income from equity investments at & A F(EFFAIBZEREY

fair value through profit or loss MRAEI B AR B A 74,865 1,350

Gross rental income from property, RKEWE - BER

plant and equipment Bz BHES WA 6,197 6,609

Government grants* X 3 76 B — 960

Imputed interest income (note 21) HEFBYA (FFFE21) 9,285 —

Others Hity 2,214 7,976

Total other income and gains E A Rz 4258 92,864 17,062

* The government grants were grants under the Employment Support

Scheme of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

to retain employment and combat COVID-19. As at the end of the

reporting period, there were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these grants.

* R B VAR IR B B R BT R R AT (R 3E 2
s8I ER - URESEREH2019T MK B
SoRMEHK BEEMZEHP 2 RENK
it A FE IR -
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

The Group’'s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

BR Bt B 5 18
AEEBRBAEEDENER GEA)T

(crediting): B
2024 2023
—E-EF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Cost of properties sold BEEWMEKAR 62,184 6,489
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKA 19,061 37,562
Cost of services provided B R AR KA 3,927 2,810
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FERE/(BERD) -
inventories, included in cost of AL LEBEERE
inventories sold above FX AR 530 (389)
Auditor’'s remuneration =BT N & 1,100 1,050
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB REETE
equipment 12,280 12,702
Expense relating to short-term lease FEARHHEZAY 317 604
Rental income on investment properties & %% 2 & KA
less direct operating expenses of BEEZEERT
HK$1,846,000 (2023: HK$2,577,000) 1,846,000/8 7T (=&
— =% :2,577,000/%
JT) (16,324) (21,331)
Rental income on other properties less  H #2584 U AR
direct operating expenses of E#EEERM 517,000
HK$517,000 (2023: HK$515,000) BLT(ZT=%F:
515,000 /#&7T) (5,680) (6,094)
Employee benefit expenses (including EEBMNAX (BEES
directors’ and chief executive’s REZITHAEME
remuneration (note 8)): (H5E8))
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances L& * %% - ALK
==z 35,333 36,994
Pension scheme contributions* RIS EIH R 700 697
Less: Amount capitalised B AR RIE (1,581) (1,643)
Total BER 34,452 36,048
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6 PFRBIATEIER (&)
2024 2023
—E-mE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment BEMENFEEBE
properties (Wgzs) 32,364 (46,284)
Impairment of goodwill* EHERE" — 1,683
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME - BEM&RE
property, plant and equipment” BEMEBE (K" 3 (56)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of  FEUBRIER(E, OB (E
accounts receivable, net” BO)  FF 6,806 (52)
Impairment of other receivables’ H WK IBRE " 975 485
Fair value loss on equity investments at IR AF{EFFABZEZ
fair value through profit or loss, net RiERE 2 AFE
R R 104,893 75,709
Provision for net realisable value of HEWENBIRFE
properties held for sale, net" B FE 15,696 10,374
Foreign exchange differences, net" fEH =% JFE" 2,236 (115)
Deficit from revaluation of property, W% BEEXRBEMR
plant and equipment” &5 At 3,436 1,271
Remeasurement loss on investment in KT REEHAER
an associate for step acquisition” —EHERRZEE
ZEE” — 1,984
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBARZ
(Wez),/ B8 (31,015) 2,141
Gain on bargain purchase of HEBRE —HBE QT
an associate” Z W (12) —

* For the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no forfeited

contributions available to the Group to reduce contributions to the

pension schemes in future years (2023: Nil).

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses, net” in the

* HE-Z-_WE=FA=+—HIFE K
5 B30 SRO8 WA SRAT A R R BUAF R A IR
KREFFERK(ZT==F &) -

. I FEFRFIALZABRRANZ [HBEEH
X FE] e
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

7  FINANCE COSTS 7 HMBEBEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERSITET :
2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on: UTREEZFE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMEE 28,295 43,173
Bonds payable &S 2,707 1,927
Lease liabilities HEAE 45 —
Total finance costs BB REEE 31,047 45,100
Less: Interest capitalised W BERNMEZAE (4,639) (8,396)
Total 4B RE 26,408 36,704
8 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8 EERITETHAEMS
REMUNERATION

REBEETHRAUREFE QR KL F
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () B(D & IA 2 2 &) (3
BESNSER) ROIF280  EFERE

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, sections 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about ZITRABFAMSHEELT -
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Fees we 940 720
Other emoluments: Hib <
— Salaries and allowances — ¥ MOEBL 10,785 11,068
— Discretionary bonuses — MWIBIEAL 430 220
— Pension scheme contributions — RIKSFFEIHE K 114 108
Subtotal INEE 11,329 11,396
Total e 12,269 12,116

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 ESRITETHAEME (E)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFHITES
Fees
we

2024 2023

—E-mEF —EZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond AERELT 240 240

Ir Siu Man Po FR SO TAZAM 240 240

Mr. Siu Kam Chau R T & 240 240

Mr. Song Sio Chong* RN ES 220 —

Total B 940 720
There were no other emoluments paid or payable to FABED T S EN B IERNTT
independent non-executive directors during the year EFZvHMHE(ZE =%

(2023: Nil). /) o
# Mr. Song Sio Chong was appointed as an independent # RNFEEEBRZERAQRBEILIE
non-executive director of the Company with effect from WITER B_T_=FHA—H
1 May 2023. RBAERY o
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

8 DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive

EERFTETBRAENE (B)

(b) MITESERTHAR

2024
—EoMEF

Pension
Salaries and Discretionary scheme Total
allowances bonuses contributions remuneration

Bikestal
e RIER B4 it [t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien ;XA E
("Mr. Tjia")* ([#kE]) 4,200 175 — 4,375
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FTRESRE
("Mr. Wang") (TE%k%E]) 3,000 125 — 3,125
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William AL 1,668 75 96 1,839
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying #BELZ L 1,917 55 18 1,990
Total R 10,785 430 114 11,329
2023
—E-=F

Pension
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme Total
allowances bonuses  contributions  remuneration

RINEETE
e MoRR BIBTEAT Hx B 48 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Mr. Tjia* e 4,200 — — 4,200
Mr. Wang T4 3,000 — — 3,000
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William @ #2544 1,701 — 90 1,791
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying /Rt 2,167 220 18 2,405
Total R 11,068 220 108 11,396

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year (2023: Nil).

AFEANBEEEREXBDER
BEMNe 2T (ZE =4
) o

HWEEMRBAEENTHRAS GE
EREMRED -

* Mr. Tjia is also the chief executive of the Group as defined in *
the Listing Rules.
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR 9
MANAGEMENT

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2023: four) directors including the chief executive,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining

one (2023: one) highest paid employee who is neither a

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

IEBREHEERSREEAES
AEEZhARSHEERENSA (=
T MR)EF(BREETERA
8) ABEME ZF B8N EXXH
?8 ERAFEREHB - R(ZFE_=

F—RB)RFEENFARAEET

director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: BABZz&=FEEZMEFBENOT
2024 2023
ZEMEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 1,178 1,914
Discretionary bonuses 1B TEAL 133 228
Pension scheme contributions RN ETEIERK 18 18
Total AR 1,329 2,160

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

HEETHRE Y RN ES
BABZBSHERAMMT :

2024 2023

—E_mE g S

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/ 7T — —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001%& T2 1,500,000/% 7T 1 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T2 2,000,000/% 7T — —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 C% 2,500,000/% 7T — 1
Total Fak 1 1
HERREBREBARAR Z—TZUFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

10

LA TTEIR)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR 9 IR REHFESRSREEAES
MANAGEMENT (Continued) (%)
Other than the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid BRTUEREC EEME R AU ESH
employees disclosed above, the amounts paid to senior BB IR FIEERAREEAER
management as disclosed in the “Biographical details of CER|-—HEBEcaRERBAEZ
directors and senior management” section are as follows: BT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET T
Salaries and allowances e KoERE 1,907 1,645
Discretionary bonuses )& TEAT 146 113
Pension scheme contributions IRREETEIHER 39 55
Total A 2,092 1,813
INCOME TAX 10 FRBH

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

LAT in Mainland China is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds from the sale of properties less deductible
expenditure, including the amortisation of land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

10 FrEH (&)

2024 2023
—BomF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current — Hong Kong BVHl — &%
— (Oven/under provision in prior years —— @ FE (HB58
BB BETR (66) 85
Current — Mainland China BVH] — A
— Charge for the year — RFEELTH 35,437 —
— Under provision in prior years — BAFEREEBETR — 3,420
Current — Elsewhere BVH — H b=
— Charge for the year — AFEXTH — 490
— Qver provision in prior years — BAFEHERE (2,963) -
LAT in Mainland China B A 2 1 IEE
— Charge for the year — RFEELTH 1,475 —
— Over provision in prior years — BAFEREEE — (285)
Deferred tax (note 29) EERE A (BF5E29) (18,750) 4,288
Total tax expense for the year NEERIBRAY B 15,133 7,998
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

10

1"

LA TTEIR)

INCOME TAX (Continued) 10 FREH (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before BRANERARR T RENE R BT
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the ERERZEEREFTECRBAIEE
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax MBS BREREEAE 2 BERX
charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: HRm -
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Loss before tax B RIE B (61,641) (85,936)
Tax at the applicable statutory tax rates IZEAEEMEAE 2
fi1E (3,995) (8,269)
Profits and losses attributable Bt N B G 3R A 2
to associates &8 (9) (298)
Income not subject to tax THEEZ WA (28,135) (1,475)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR R I8 2 S 930 4,920
Effect of withholding tax at 10% or 5% $’EI§A¢ B 2 Bt &
on the distributable profits of the ~AElZ A R A
Group's PRC subsidiaries U 10% 5% FEFNFE
ZRE (870) (1,402)
Tax relating to disposal of subsidiaries ABHEMB AR ZHEA 33,905 —
Tax losses utilised from previous periods ) fH @ BifE ~ B E & 18 (568) (1,403)
Tax losses and temporary differences not KRz FHIEEIE K
recognised TRER 15,155 11,832
LAT T IR (E R 1,475 (285)
(Over)/under provision in prior years BAEFE(BERE)
BB (3,029) 3,505
Others H A 274 873
Tax expense MIEF X 15,133 7,998

The share of tax charge attributable to associates
amounting to HK$158,000 (2023: HK$209,000) is included

n “Share of profits and losses of associates, net”

on the

face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

DIVIDEND

1"

No dividend has been declared by the Company during the

years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,466,820,600 (2023: 1,466,820,600)
in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
amounts attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company is based on the following data:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

12

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

ARAEBRRAFEARGEER
BR

EREABESRENIREAQRLER
REBAEEFANBENFRAEETZ
AR NFE 9 E01,466,820,6008% (—

T - =4 :1,466,820,600%) 5T & -
VNN xﬁiﬁ#ﬁ/\ﬁgfﬁtﬁxﬁﬁﬁ

BEBRSBIE T IIBIER

2024 2023
—E-MF S
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T T
Loss Bia
Loss attributable to ordinary equity GRERREEEIET
holders of the Company, used in the BMEAZARAE
basic and diluted loss per share BRARE AEBGS
calculation i) 75,691 90,967
2024 2023
—E-—pma —=-—=%
Number of Number of
shares shares
BR 2 % &1
Shares v
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ SREXNE BT E A
shares in issue during the year used in  FRE T E BN
the basic loss per share calculation T 1,466,820,600 1,466,820,600

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no
potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

MERREBEEFRAAF

MER-—BEEMERE_T_NFR
ZE-=F=RA=1+— Eljti&‘fﬁl]z
BREXRNBELBELAZ  RAAXR
SEREE_Z_MFER-_ZT=F=
A=+—BILFEANTEE ZITETH
BT EAR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

13 GOODWILL 13 B8
HK$'000
FAET
Cost at 1 April 2022, net of accumulated impairment RZZEZ_Z_FIONA—HK
B - Bk 25HR1E —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) U B — FET BT /B8 2 &) (B 5+ 33) 1,683
Impairment during the year FRRIE (1,683)
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=F=A=+—8"
and 31 March 2024 —E=FWA—HBK
—ENE=ZA=+—HK
EREDFE —
At 31 March 2024: RZEBE_WNF=A=+—H:
Cost B AR 1,683
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (1,683)
Net carrying amount FREFE —

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of 60% equity interest
in Deson Metals Company Limited (“DMCL"), which is
engaged in trading of construction materials. The goodwill
arising from the acquisition of DMCL has been allocated to
the construction materials trading business for impairment
testing purposes. In view of the increasingly competitive
business environment of construction industry, management
considered that its recoverable amount which was
determined based on value-in-use using discount rate of
12% was minimal. Therefore, the goodwill had been fully
impaired.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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14 PROPERTY,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 Y% - BERRE

Owned assets

RAEEE BEEE
Furniture ~ Office and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold and other  Tools and Motor
land  properties Total  Buildings improvements  fixtures equipment equipment  vehicles Total Total
BAER
RELH HAENE ag : &3 HEXE FAR¥E HitRE IERRE HE ag ag
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
THER TET TERT TERL TR T TET FER FER TER TR
31 March 2024 -gomE
At 31 March 2023 and
1 April 2023
Cost or valuation 103,796 1,031 104,827 176,448 6,097 M 2,491 128 1,617 187,692 292,519
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE - (29) (29) (6,097) (576)  (2.031) (84) (1,239  (10027) (10,056
Net carrying amount REFE 103,796 1,002 104,798 176,448 - 335 460 a4 378 177,665 282,463
At 1 April 2023, net of RZBZ=%MmA
accumulated depreciation —B MRE:
g 103,796 1,002 104,798 176,448 - 335 460 a4 378 177,665 282,463
Additions £ - - - - 155 2 130 19 33 339 339
Disposals HE - - - - - @) - - e} @)
Deficit on revaluation charged REHMB 2z &R
to profit or loss B (1.847) - (1.847) (1,589) — — — — — (1,589) (3,436)
(Deficit)isurplus on revaluation K E {2 E Mz
(charged)/credited to other (18,3t A2
comprehensive income sH(B4)/
a% (11,027) - (11,027) 4,464 - - - - — 4,464 (6,563)
Depreciation provided during 4 3HRHTE
the year (4,215) (344) (4,559) (7,444) - (57) (155) (17) (48) (7,7121) (12,280)
Exchange realignment EX#RZE (516) - (516) (6,136) (1) 3) (9) 3) (6) (6,158) (6,674)
At 31 March 2024 WZZ2ZMm%E=R
=+-H 86,191 658 86,849 165,743 154 277 423 ;3 357 166,997 253,846
At 31 March 2024
Cost or valuation 86,191 1,031 87,222 165,743 5,930 874 2,391 139 1,602 176,679 263,901
Accumulated depreciation - (373) (373) (5,776) (597) (1,968) (96) (1,245) (9,682)  (10,055)
Net carrying amount EHFE 86,191 658 86,849 165,743 154 21 423 3 357 166,997 253,846
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ - BERSZE(E)
(Continued)
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
RRELE EEEE
Furniture  Office and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold and other  Tools and Motor
land  properties Total  Buildings  improvements fixtures  equipment  equipment vehicles Total Total
BRER

BEL HENZ 2% BT HEXE RARKE EbRE TARRE "E 2% et
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TETL TETL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TETL

31 March 2023

At 31 March 2022 and

1 April 2022 =+-HE=%
ZZEmA-A
Cost or valuation KA fEE 115,415 — 115415 184,085 6,904 621 8,644 132 1731 202117 317,532
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE - - - - (6,694) (511) (2,775) (72) (1,284 (11336)  (11,336)
Net carrying amount REFE 115,415 — 115415 184,085 210 110 5,869 60 47 190,781 306,196
At 1 April 2022, net of RZZZZFREA
accumulated depreciation —B - MBE
ik 115,415 — 115415 184,085 210 110 5,869 60 47 190781 306,196
Additions #F - 1,031 1,031 - - 255 99 2 - 356 1387
Disposals HE — - - - - - (1) - @) (15) (15)
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-RKBARA
(note 34) (Fi3¥34) — — - - (18) — (4,247) - - (4,265) (4,265)

(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation MBS (k)

(charged)/credited to profit  FAZEfE

or loss (B4 /B (2,639) - (2,639) 1,368 - - - - - 1368 (1.271)
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation A% EUL

(charged)/credited to other  (31%) /3t A2

comprehensive income B (B4)/

Bk (3,472) - (3,472) 7579 - - - - - 7,579 4,107
Depreciation provided during AR E
the year (4,463) (29) (4,492) (7,101) (177) (17) (845) (14) (56) (8,210) (12,702)
Exchange realignment Ex5EE (1,045) — 0y (9483) (15) (13) (405) ) © 099 (10974
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=%=A4
=t-A 103,79 1,002 104,798 176,448 - 335 460 44 378 177,665 282,463
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=Af
=+-8
Cost or valuation KA EE 103,796 1,031 104,827 176,448 6,097 M 2,491 128 1,617 187,692 292,519
Accumulated depreciation Rt E - (29) (29) — (6,097) (576)  (2,031) (84) (1239 (10,027)  (10,056)
Net carrying amount FEFE 103,796 1,002 104,798 176,448 - 335 460 44 378 177,665 282,463
Note: The Group's right-of-use assets represent prepaid land lease payments Misk: AEBEREEERBEN B ERE
and leased properties. The leasehold land, together with the owned LREEWME HELHWERBEBEF I
buildings, are held for own use. The land leases are expiring in 2047 EER - THEEER _TNLFE-ZT
to 2053. h=F2ZHER -
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were revalued
individually at the end of the reporting period by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer, at an aggregate open market value of
HK$251,934,000 (2023: HK$280,244,000) based on their
existing use.

A revaluation deficits of HK$6,563,000 (2023: revaluation
surplus of HK$4,107,000) and revaluation deficits
aggregating HK$3,436,000 (2023: HK$1,271,000), resulting
from the above valuations, have been charged to other
comprehensive income and charged to profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2024 respectively.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would
have been approximately HK$146,260,000 (2023:
HK$159,345,000).

As at 31 March 2024, certain leasehold land and buildings
of the Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$167,060,000 (2023: HK$163,294,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26).

The Group appointed an external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuation of the Group’s properties held for
own use and had discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 YE- -BERSZE(E)

REBZHEET M RBFRHRERS
B EESERGEMBETHARA
RIERNAGEBREN B ARAMEAR
251,934,000 o (=& = = F :
280,244,000/ 7T) o

B EmEEDEHES A
6,563,000 L (ZZE = =F : EHEHK
4,107,000 L) R EH B A A
3,436,000 L (ZF = = & :
1,271,000 7L) ERAIREE=F =Y
FZA=Z+—HIFEREME2EEKE
MBS o

i 5% 5 1 3 MAE IR £ A AR R aHIT
E7R - HIRME 4 A146,260,000
BT (ZE =% :159,345,000/7T) °

R-ZE-_NE=ZA=+—H  FREEAE
167,060,000 L (=& = = & :
163,294,000 70) < AEBETHEL
HRIEFHE FEE - (EAREERER
ETRITEE Z &R (KisE26) -

AEBZREIMBHEMEESAEERT
B RMZMFRETINGEE - TRHRF
[E B R S AT (E RS - B (E R BEE
BERELGEEGRETIW
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% -BERZE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREMKNEEFEERBYEQTE
hierarchy of the Group's properties held for own use: EER:
2024
—E-mEF
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERMHZ EARUEHE BEXTAHE
HRE WAHIE BARE
(8% B1—) (& 5B1=) (& 5B1=) mat
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTEx TER FTERT
Recurring fair value A TEEETZE
measurement for: PUHLTEHE:
Hotel property* B IR > — — 113,400 113,400
Commercial properties and PEEMERE B>
car park spaces** — — 138,534 138,534
Properties held for own use  $5{EE AW — — 251,934 251,934
2023
—E-=F
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERT 52 ESNGIR 51 BEARPAHE
®E A BIE PN 6
(B 51—) (A=) (H&B1=) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value FATEBETZE
measurement for: BHATEHE:
Hotel property* B EE* — — 127,681 127,681
Commercial properties and EEMEREBEA **
car park spaces** — — 152,563 152,563
Properties held for own use  H{EERY%E — — 280,244 280,244
* Included leasehold land of HK$7,452,000 (2023: HK$10,146,000) * BECAREETHHEELHH7,452,000%8
under right-of-use assets. TL(ZZT =% : 10,146,000 7T) °
*x Included leasehold land of HK$78,739,000 (2023: HK$93,650,000) ** BEGERAREEETHEE 178,739,000
under right-of-use assets. HIL(ZZT =4 : 93,650,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBAFTAIN - HUETIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 P BERRE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANFEER(A)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - Al —8ER = 2 EI /AT
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no EfEvER  TEEEZXEEAR
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). FIZ=(ZZB-=4F &)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within DR ANFESFHEIN =Rz A EE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: B2
2024 2023
B NE T =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year ~ RFEHZKREE 280,244 299,500
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation REMEEKEANER
recognised in other comprehensive 2 B (B4, Btk
income (6,563) 4,107
Deficit on revaluation recognised in profit A 1EZ5HER 2 B E 4
or loss (3,436) (1,271)
Depreciation e (11,659) (11,564)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 33 8 (6,652) (10,528)
Carrying amount at end of year RERZKREE 251,934 280,244
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERKE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANFEER (&)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and BIEERAMEGREMRAZHES ERE
the key inputs to the valuation of properties held for own EMABBHANT
use:
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
HEFE BEARAEERASIE E,MEFTITH
2024 2023
—E-QNF —T_=F
Hotel property Investment method  Estimated rental value RMB39 RMB42
(per square meter per
month)
B IE ) % REE mEteEE(8AEYF AR¥397T AR¥427T
77 K)
Term yield 5.25% 5.0%
FHM =X
Reversionary yield 6% 6%

ERdasx

Commercial Direct comparison Adjusted market unit HK$1,855 to HK$2,192 to
properties approach selling price (per square HK$5,947 HK$6,495

foot)

BEME BEELLEUE KRBTGS EMLER 1,855 T E 2,128 TE
(BFHR) 5,947 % T 6,495 7T

Car park spaces Direct comparison Adjusted market unit RMB240,000 RMB280,000

approach selling price

EEAL BEELEOR rmoARmISEMERE  AKW240,000t AR¥280,0007T

The investment method & E

Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the BIBREE A FEDEZEWEER

basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the BHEZERIREHEE EREERE TS

existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent HETUE R 2 BLEMEET -

of the properties.

192 Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The investment method (Continued)

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties held for own use, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value
and reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental
value generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the
term yield.

An increase/decrease in estimated rental value would result
in an increase/decrease in the fair value of the properties
held for own use while an increase/decrease in term yield
and reversionary yield would result in a decrease/increase in
the fair value of the properties held for own use.

The direct comparison approach

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated by the direct comparison method on the
assumption of the sale of the property interest with the
benefit of vacant possession and by referring to comparable
sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties held for own use, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the market price per square
foot and each car park space.

The key input was the market price per square foot and
each car park space, where a significant increase/decrease
in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the properties held for own
use.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 YE- -BERSZE(E)

RFEER(E)

REE (&)
EITHERSEBERFFEAMELZ
TR BREME  BE - EHK S8
BE ZEREFOLREMEAR  AGHMHE
AAHSEERERKER  RKEEER
REMHPEL2HEEE  UWEHFH
Yas K o

HEIESEEEN RO eEBEES
BYEAFELATK  mEEHkzE
RLERWZRIEN, SR e E RS E
BRWMEAFETY Lo

EBELBZE

BREBEEELEE  RFEDABRLR
- BRMERGARXGEHELESE
BERMSAEGS A LBHEERSME
(CEI

ETHERSEBEERIFEAMELZ
iR BREMUE  EE B S8
BE BEREOHREMGER  USHEE
FHREZFEEMNTIHER -

TEHABRBASFHREEEELLH
45 B+ T B KR | T
W RSB FaRNEATEARL
Tk e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REYX
2024 2023
—E-OEF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year R F#ZEEMEE 684,114 1,011,060
Net (loss)/gain from fair value NFERAEZ (FR),/
adjustment W 5 (32,364) 46,284
Assets included in a disposal group FFALERRIZEE
(note 35) (M$3E35) — (299,250)
Transfer from completed properties held #H 2% THEYE
for sale 45,984 —
Exchange realignment PE 7 3% (35,826) (73,980)
Carrying amount at end of year RERZREE 661,908 684,114

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2024 based on a valuation performed by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer, at HK$661,908,000 (2023:
HK$684,114,000).

As at 31 March 2024, certain investment properties of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$442,800,000 (2023: HK$487,920,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26).

The Group as lessor

The Group leased certain of its properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

At 31 March 2024, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15 REY= (R

AEBEAHEA (E)
RZZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—8  A£ER
BEEPET MW T AT HES LMY - K
RRSEAEREBFIBEEANTHE
EI|HR -

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FHT

Within one year —F RN 23,359 25,898
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEFERF

(PIEEEWF) 79,217 76,531

After five years hF & 54,608 67,041

157,184 169,470

No contingent rental receivable was recognised by the
Group during the year (2023: Nil).

The directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties are hotel properties, commercial
properties and car park spaces, based on the nature,
characteristics and risk of the properties. Each year, the
Group appoints an external valuer to be responsible for the
external valuation of the Group’s properties and has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is performed for
annual financial reporting.

Particulars of the Group's investment properties are included
on page 48.

REBRAFEL EERRAERES
TEC=F )

REBEVMEOEE  FHMEAR - K27
EECHMEREMERBEME  BX
MERFEN - REBESFREIERH
BB BEHAEE Y EETIMNBIEE
YR FEPBHRELETHER - 5iE
BEREMGEEERBEEMETIR

AEERENEZFBHNFI8E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15 REW=E (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRENAEEREMELAFEASES
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: &
2024
—BE-ME
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERMSZ BEARAEHE BEXFAHE
HBE BABE ES DN ¢
(8% B1—) (& 51=) (&/BI=) #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TER TER
Recurring fair value A THEEETZE
measurement for: FUHATESE:
Hotel properties B S — — 219,108 219,108
Commercial properties EEME — — 442,800 442,800
— — 661,908 661,908
2023
—E-=F
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERT 52 ESNGIR 51 BEARPAHE
®E A BIE PN 6
(B 51—) (& B1=) (H&B1=) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value FATEBETZE
measurement for: BHLATEHE:
Hotel property B IE — — 196,194 196,194
Commercial properties and EEMEREEN
car park spaces — — 487,920 487,920
- — 684,114 684,114
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - B —EBF R = 2 HIEAF
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no BEFfEcEE  TEERSIEBEAR
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). FI=(ZTB-=4F &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBAFTAIN - HUETIIR)

15 REWXE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) REEER(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within DERANTEERBN=A X FEE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: B8R
Commercial
properties
Hotel and car park
properties spaces Total
BMENER
icpry/ES FEN wmat
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2022 A=
WA—BZEmE 193,725 817,335 1,011,060
Net gain from a fair value KEEERAFEA
adjustment recognised B F5E 16,644 29,640 46,284
Assets included in a disposal group FFAHREMERIZEE
(note 35) (Mt7E35) — (299,250) (299,250)
Exchange realignment PE X A% (14,175) (59,805) (73,980)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 R-ZT - =4
and 1 April 2023 —A=+—8k
—E-=F
MA—HZEREE 196,194 487,920 684,114
Net loss from a fair value RECHERATE
adjustment recognised FEEE - FE (12,744) (19,620) (32,364)
Transfer from completed properties ##H 2% T2 REH
held for sale L/ 45,984 — 45,984
Exchange realignment PE 5 % (10,326) (25,500) (35,826)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 MR Z=—Z P4
=A=+—H2
AREAE 219,108 442,800 661,908

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

BREWE (&)
AFEER(E)
BEMEGEMBZHEFERERE
ABEB T

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
RER % EXTHEENAHE BE METLH9H
2024 2023
—B-NF e
Hotel properties Investment method  Estimated rental value RMB31 to RMB38 to
and commercial (per square meter per RMB39 RMB42
properties month)
BIEMEREE REZX HEtEeEE ARM3IITE AR¥38TLE
LUES (BAEFHK) AR¥397T ANR¥427T
Term yield 2.00% to 6.00% 2.00% to 6.00%
FHIW R 2.00% %£6.00%  2.00% %£6.00%
Reversionary yield 6.00% to 7.00% 6.00% to 7.00%
EREWaE= 6.00% %£7.00%  6.00%%7.00%
Car park spaces Direct comparison Adjusted market unit N/A RMB160,000
approach selling price
BEAL HELBOR KRARMSEMLER TER AR%160,0007T

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the
basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent
of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which included the location, size,
shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value
and reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental
value generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the
term yield.

An increase/(decrease) in estimated rental value would result
in an increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties while an increase/(decrease) in term yield and
reversionary yield would result in a decrease/(increase) in
the fair value of the investment properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The direct comparison approach

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated by the direct comparison method on the
assumption of the sale of the property interest with the
benefit of vacant possession and by referring to comparable
sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which included the location, size,
shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the market price of each car
park space.

The key input was the market price of each car park space,
where a significant increase/(decrease) in the market price
would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15 REWXE (&)

AFEZER (&)

BEERE Y

BEEELEE R FEIUNEELR
o BEEEGIRTHELLLE
BTG ES Z AL BRIEER S MIE
fhEt -

ETHERSEBERREMEZE
oBRMUE ERE-FR S8 8
B ZERENHREMER  UAEHEE
BRIETIHERE -

TEHABB RSB EEMATIHERS -
EMHERARLA (TR E &8
BREMERTFERE LT (T -

16 RBERNT2RE

2024 2023

—E-_MME 2=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of net assets B EEFE 5,638 4,736
Amounts due from associates g NI F 2z 3,868 2,532
Amounts due to associates ARE S NEIE/ S (63) —

The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

HEE AR 2 SR AR - 28R
REREE -

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Percentage of

REBE QR ZRE ()
TEHLARZHBOT :

Percentage of

ownership attributable to ownership attributable to

the Group as at
31 March 2024

the Group as at
31 March 2023

R-ZB-ME=ZR=+-HRZT-_=F=A=+—H
AEERGEEEETIL AEBEEREEEIL

Issued ordinary/ Group Group
Place of incorporation/  registered share effective  Held by a effective  Held by a
Name registration and business capital interest  subsidiary interest  subsidiary  Principal activities
BRTEE/ FEEER H-BNE AREER £-REHB
A% AMRYL BEEREEBY EMRE EE  NAES Ex  RARE  EEEE
Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$500,000 50 50 50 50  Investment holding and
software licensing
0 500,0007 7 REBRRD I RE
New Leaves Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$100 30 30 30 30 Investment holding
RERTHS/TA 100% 7T REER
SecurePlus Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 40 40 40 40  Trading of intelligent
security system
equipment
BE 1,500,000/ 7 BRREEZRREEE
Hope4Care Limited Hong Kong HK$10 20 20 20 20 Research and
development of
medical equipment
BEEGREERAA BE 10%7 BERERE
UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd. Taiwan TWD3,000,000 35 35 35 35 Trading of medical
equipment
R NREBRAT aE #76%3,000,0007 BERHBES

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of excessive length.

The Group’s shareholdings
through subsidiaries of the Company.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

16

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

E/\\\Hﬁf‘(' /L\\jz*ﬁﬁ(nﬂ)
TRIRAER 2 B R R 20 IEE R

information of the Group’s associates that are not BEEZCATHMBAER
individually material:
2024 2023
—EZMEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Share of the associates’ profits and Pak(=): Tk NS b p
losses for the year, net KEE - F8 40 1,807
Share of the associates’ other SEEE AR AEMEE
comprehensive loss B8 (19) (20)
Share of the associates’ total Pak(a): NS S
comprehensive income B 21 1,787
Dividend received BB (675) (5,614)
Gain on bargain purchase of additional (BB HEE QA RFEN
interests in associates 2w 2 W 12 —
Aggregate carrying amount of the A& E R B A A R E R
Group’s investments in the associates TBERZEEZR
that are not individually material HEAZ 5,638 4,736

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
loss of an associate, Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited, because
the share of loss of the associate exceeded the Group’s
interest in the associate and the Group has no obligation to

take up further losses.

The amount of the Group's

unrecognised share of losses of this associate for the
current year and cumulatively were HK$268,000 (2023:

HK$858,000)
respectively.

and HK$1,126,000

(2023: HK$858,000),

MERREBEEFRAAF

REBERIEBERESEHE QA
Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited 2 &518 -

AN HEE AR BEBLASER
5&%@ Rl Z i - MANEBY EE &
BHE—FEER - NEERAFERER
DMEHLBERRBEZEBO ARt A
268,000/ 7T (=& = = £ : 858,000/
J0) 51,126,000 T (Z T = = F ¢
858,000/ L) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

17 EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17 ZBAFEFAEZROBRERSE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
ZEZNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Equity investments at fair value RATETABEREN
through profit or loss BERE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 3F M R#ERE -
b /NS |
— Century Rosy Limited — Century Rosy Limited 3,845 9,695
— Deson Development International — HEERBEEEE
Holdings Investment Limited KREBR AR
("DDIHIL") (FEE#ERER
KERE] — 109,162
— Excel Castle International Limited — BREBEARA A 32,305 34,633
— Pamfleet Shanghai Real Estate Fund Il, — Pamfleet Shanghai
L.P. Real Estate Fund II,
L.P. 3,665 3,973
Total ks 39,815 157,463
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received REBEE-ZT-_NF=A=1+T—HIEHF
dividend in the amount of HK$74,865,000 (2023: E-AEEEHEEREREERER
HK$1,350,000) from DDIHIL. 3 P% 274,865,000 L (Z T - =4 :
1,350,000/ 7¢) °
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18 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE UNDER

19

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES HELD FOR

18 BEPEHENRREGENE

SALE
2024 2023
—E-E —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Completed properties held for sale ERTIFEME 580,992 450,862
Properties held for sale under BRERPGEDE
development — 251,211
580,992 702,073
Properties held for sale under BRERPGTEDE
development
Expected to be recovered within one FEH AT R —F AL D
year — 251,211

As at 31 March 2024, certain properties held for sale under
development and properties held for sale of the Group with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$145,800,000 (2023:
HK$145,692,000) were pledged to secure certain banking

facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

Particulars of the Group’s properties held for sale under
development and properties held for sale are included on

MR-E-_WNFE=A=+—H ' REALE
145,800,000 Tt (& - = F :
145,692,000/ 7T) « AEEE TEHEF
SEMERSEMEDER - EAEEE
BEERETRITEE 2BR (H5E26) ©

AEBBRTFEFENERFEMERZF

ISEHNELTE -

page 47.
INVENTORIES 19 F&
2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trading goods RHEm 3,030 2,883

BEEREREABFRAT

T EFR 203
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 20 FEUYERIE
2024 2023
—EZmEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Accounts receivable &Y BR 18 48,294 27,434
Impairment B (15,636) (13,386)
32,658 14,048

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally ranging from 30 to 90
days for the sale of trading goods and up to 180 days for
the sale of completed properties held for sale. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group had certain concentrations of
credit risk as 59% (2023: 34%) and 89% (2023: 70%) of
the total accounts receivables were due from the Group’s
largest external customer and the Group's five largest
external customer respectively. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its accounts
receivable balances. Accounts receivable are non-interest-
bearing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

20

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

FE W BR 1R (48)

REERER - REZABARINKRERE
BiErTECRKRIE ZRE TN
T

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 90 days 90H N 6,198 7,682
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 26,341 1,893
181 to 360 days 181 HZE360H — 1,759
Over 360 days #360H 119 2,714
Total 458 32,658 14,048

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

R FRIR 2B EERBEEESHNT

2024 2023

—E-OEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year REL) 13,386 13,504
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment), & {E &1~ (R B &

net (note 6) @) - FEE (H5E6) 6,806 (52)

Written-off G (4,471) —

Exchange realignment PE H TR (85) (66)

At end of year RER 15,636 13,386

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region and product type). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

HEHREREEERAQA

REHRE AR ABEREETRE
DT UFTEFRMERERX - #EXT)
ERAREARUBERRN (A iRnE
BEMEMAR)NZEEP D EET
DM ABIE BEGETE - & ERR
EREMEER EEBERNEEH
WA S BRRBESE - EATERME K
KELEAMRTBAN AR A FEER -

ZEZIUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEWER™E (&)
An analysis of accounts receivable by operating segment is REESHEREBBI>TAT -
as follows:
2024 2023
—EC-ME —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Property development and investment — ¥IEEIE NI E XK

business 31,060 5,339
Trading business =R 14,108 18,499
Operation of a hotel 2iE—MEE 3,126 3,596
Total st 48,294 27,434
Property development and investment business MEBRRREER
Set out below is the information about the credit risk VAN #5175 8 {50 R 18 18 b eB ol (8 Bl R A
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the property H B B R R A E B E R ARIER
development and investment business using a provision EERRER

matrix or individual assessment:

2024
—EME

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BHEE
BKR= HIREME FEHEERX BRE FE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 T T8 T T8 T
Current = 8.0% 1,883 (151) 1,732
Less than 3 months past due BELR=@EA — 205 — 205
3 to 6 months past due wEA=Z=XEA 8.0% 28,634 (2,303) 26,331
6 to 12 months past due BmEAE+T A — — — —
Over 12 months past due BET AL 94.1% 338 (318) 20
Total PR 8.9% 31,060 (2,772) 28,288
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEWERE (&)

Property development and investment business MEBRERREXEK (F)
(Continued)

2023
—E =4

Expected Gross Expected Net

credit loss carrying credit carrying

rate amount losses amount

EHEE

BRE WMEETFE MHEEBX BREFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T

Current EH — — — -

Less than 3 months past due BmELR =1 A 27.4% 226 (62) 164

3 to 6 months past due mEI=ZX1EA 25.0% 12 (3) 9

6 to 12 months past due mEARE+ @A 41.1% 141 (58) 83

Over 12 months past due mE+ @A L 78.5% 4,960 (3,893)* 1,067

Total 48z 75.2% 5,339 (4,016) 1,323
* Included in the expected credit losses of HK$2,942,000 was assessed * T AE@ERBIFEE B HA{E B8 282,942,000

individually. PETT ©
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEURBRIE (1)
Trading business BEZ¥EK

ATHINEBERRERENEEE S
EBEBEENEERBRER

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the trading

business using a provision matrix:

2024
—EomE

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
BR=E REEE BHEEERX fREFE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 T T8 T T8 T
Current =4 0.5% 3,344 (17) 3,327
Less than 3 months past due BEALR =18 A 0.4% 493 (2) 491
3 to 6 months past due wEA=Z=XEA 100.0% 2 (2) —
6 to 12 months past due BEIRET @A 100.0% 39 (39) —
Over 12 months past due AT @A L 99.0% 10,230 (10,131) 99
Total k) 72.2% 14,108 (10,191) 3,917

2023
—E-=F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BHEEE
BRX MEEEE FWHEERBRX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Current =t 1.9% 4,430 (84) 4,346
Less than 3 months past due wELR=1EA 3.1% 2,827 (88) 2,739
3 to 6 months past due wmEB=F @A 43.6% 376 (164) 212
6 to 12 months past due WEANE+ @A 77.9% 849 (661) 188
Over 12 months past due WET @A L 83.5% 10,017 (8,368) 1,649
Total PR 50.6% 18,499 (9,365) 9,134
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

FE W AR TR (48)

BE-BBEE

ATN#5 AR MR EREN AR ZE
—EERKRENEERBRER

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20
Operation of a hotel

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the
operation of a hotel using a provision matrix:

2024
—E-mE

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BHEE
BR=E REEE BHEEEX fREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 T T8 T T8 T
Current & H — 411 — 411
Less than 3 months past due BN =1E A — 32 — 32
3 to 6 months past due BmE=ENEA 33.3% 15 (5) 10
6 to 12 months past due BMENET @A — — — —
Over 12 months past due BET—EANUE 100.0% 2,668 (2,668) —
Total 4azE 85.5% 3,126 (2,673) 453

2023
—E-=F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
BRE MEREE BHEERX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Current B — 390 — 390
Less than 3 months past due mE LR =1EA — 42 — 42
3 to 6 months past due BmHA=Z=NEA — 1,677 — 1,677
6 to 12 months past due mERE+T A — 1,482 — 1,482
Over 12 months past due E @A E 100.0% 5 (5) —
Total R 0.1% 3,596 (5) 3,591
MEEREFEEARAT —T_WHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

21 TR RERHEMEWRIE

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FAT
Prepayments AR FRIB 12,971 12,487
Deposits e 1,642 954
14,613 13,441
Other receivables — current (note (i) Efth e Uk FR08 —
BIVER (BT 3EG)) 171,871 37,051
Impairment A (22,429) (23,549)
149,442 13,502
164,055 26,943
Other receivables — non-current H e WERIE —
(note (i) JEBDER (BT Ex)) 163,931 —
Total 4ERE 327,986 26,943
Note (i); On 20 October 2022, Honour Advance Limited (“Honour EIOE RZZEZZF+A=Z+H  &A2H

Advance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Fanning Properties Limited (“Fanning Properties”), an
independent third party entered into a letter of intent
(“Letter of Intent”) with Haikou Longhua City Investment
Holding Co., Ltd.* (B8O MEEERM ML EERERAF]), in
relation to a proposed disposal of their entire interests in
Honour Advance Real Estate (Hainan) Limited* (T# & % (5
%) AR A7) by Honour Advance (“Disposal 1") and Hainan
Fruitful Business Management Ltd* (SR EHEEEEEEGRA
A]) which held a property for the benefit of the Group by
Fanning Properties (“Disposal 2”) at the aggregate
consideration of RMB385,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$427,778,000). On 7 August 2023, the
parties entered into formal definitive agreement relating to
the Disposal 1 and Disposal 2. The Disposal 1 and Disposal 2
were completed on 30 August 2023.

The outstanding consideration receivable for the Disposal 1
and Disposal 2 of approximately RMB285,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$316,667,000) (“Outstanding
Consideration”) is to be received in four instalments, with
the first instalment payable before 31 October 2024 and the
last instalment payable before 31 October 2027.
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(I REBHEREAR AT
([EBHE] —2BLE=H)HA
HOMRERSTREERERA
AFIVEmME(ZERE] WA A
HAREZINEENINEX (8mM)
ERAGBzE2HMBRE(HESE
1DRESMELRER EEEME
¥EBRARATRN(AAEEN SR
E—EWE)Iz2E2HBRE(THES
H2]) BHBREARAREK
385,000,000 (M E R
427,778,000 70) c RZZE =4
NAEB FIHAREEEEIR
PEFHE2IT L EA&EKRIHE -
EFTEIREEFE2ER 2T ==
FNA=+THZEK -

PEEEE RILEFHE2EWRZ &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(Note (i)): (continued)

A discounted effect of approximately HK$33,515,000 was
considered due to the repayment schedule of the Outstanding
March 2024,
imputed interest income amounted to approximately
HK$9,285,000 had been generated from the Outstanding

Consideration (note 5).

Consideration. During the year ended 31

The discounted Outstanding Consideration of HK$292,437,000
was classified as other receivables under non-current assets,
except for RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$133,333,000) being the first instalment payable before 31
October 2024 and the corresponding discounted amount was
HK$128,506,000.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
7 August 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
31 August 2023 for details of the Disposal 1 and Disposal 2.

* English name for identification purpose only.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted
to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied
to other receivables of HK$22,429,000 (2023:
HK$23,549,000) relating to debtors that were in financial
difficulties or were in default in payments as at 31 March
2024 was 100% (2023: 100%).

Other than the above impairment made, the financial assets
included in the above balances relate to receivables of
which there was no recent history of default and past due
amounts. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Deposits and other receivables that were not impaired
related to receivables for which there is no recent history of
default.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

21 FEMNRE- - ZeRHEMERKIE

(#%&)

B () ()
EREARBEREZERFRR
B & BT % 2 433,515,000
T -RBEE-Z-_NE=/=+—
BIEEE WREERECELTRE
7 B Uk A 499,285,000/ 7T (F 7E
5) °

EMEEABEREEAR
292,437,000 LD B AR A
EEBE T ZHMEWRFIE  ER=F
—E+A=+—HAENZE—
HA 9 HA 5 30 A R #120,000,0007T
(B 7 #133,333,000/8 1) &
S T M FEPT R & B A
128,506,000/ 7T ©

EHREEEEIREEEBE2 ZF
5 B2EARRAHAE_T ==
FNAELRZRAERARARBHA
—EZ=FN\A=t+—HzZBEK-

* HXETEEMRET -

REREA  K2EAEKEZELE
Btk RABRELLEEZETRES
o BB R g rEH AR A RMBE ATk
R R SR AR R 2 TER (RnsE AR ) o
R-ZE-_NE=ZA=+—H AHEER
B 75 TR 88 sl HE RSP SR 2 (B 75 A 2 Eo At JE
U 5K 1B 22,429,000 T (Z T = =4 :
23,549,000 L) v HABELEX A
100% (ZZE =4 : 100%) °

B a2 ERRRES - Bl
RE R E BT BIE R8N B
TRZEBFERR BE-T_NF

ZEZ=F=RA=+—8  EFERE
WAF (A REE o

ROBME 2 42 & o E Al FE Uk B4 # 30
B ROk ERBRIAB R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21
RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The movements in the provision for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

RANRE - e R EMERFIR

(%)

Hitp EURIBZ BEREZIWT

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
At beginning of year REY] 23,549 24,732
Impairment losses (note 6) WAEE K (H5E6) 975 485
Written-off Hh 58 (957) -
Exchange realignment PE 5 A% (1,138) (1,668)
At end of year RER 22,429 23,549
Included in the above provision for impairment of other it A EUGRIE 2 RERE B SR
receivables is a provision for individual other receivables B8 2 AR At EUGRIE 2 s - B
where the repayments were defaulted and these receivables LREYGRIATE AR RE U E] o« AR E R
were not expected to be recovered. The Group does not MZEEMSEEANERRSEMEER
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these AL HE o
balances.
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e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 RAEeRkBREEZEEERSEAE

PLEDGED DEPOSITS EN

2024 2023

—E-WE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Cash and bank balances e MIRTT R 42,338 24,408

Time deposits FHTF K 4,000 4,000

Subtotal N 46,338 28,408

Less: Pledged deposits for banking B RITEEZEER
facilities (note 26) F (Mi5E26) (4,000) (4,000)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIRE&EEER 42,338 24,408

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate cash and
bank balances and deposits of the Group denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$37,283,000 (2023:
approximately HK$19,478,000). This RMB balance is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

MERREBEEFRAAF

RBERR  REBUAARBHEZR
S RBITEHRNTRBELN A
37,283,000 L (Z 2 =% : &
19,478,000/ 7T) ° b A R #5842 T 7]
BEREBAHMEE  AMBETFER
HONEE B R TR - SIE R EE
BRTE  AEBWATEREREETT
INEEFZBITHEARBRIBAREME
ﬁé} °

RITREREE B RITFAMNERZH
MEREE - MEEREFERAR BN T
—HE=ZATE  BRFAKELA
BREB/RME LR EAENRTF
A REREUM S - VRITEHR R EERE
RERPAT A B R DR 2 FER
HERTT °

ZEZIUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

23 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 23 ENERE
An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of REBRER - ETREREE T
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as BEZRETNT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 90 days 90HW 19,347 1,310
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 17 230
181 to 360 days 181H=360H 56 32
Over 360 days #360H 3,279 3,490
Total B 22,699 5,062
Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are normally ERNEBEA®S  —RENIA RN
settled on 30-day terms. g
24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24 HitENRERESER
2024 2023
—EBC-QWEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Deposits received B iz e 4,570 16,805
Other payables H th & 1~ 5B 27,826 30,333
Contract liabilities (note a) A’ (MTa) 8,582 21,058
Accruals fEst & A 33,259 11,099
Due to non-controlling shareholder of & —FEIF B A 7] FFHE A%
a subsidiary (note b) A& 18 (M sEb) 17,002 16,402
Total ik 91,239 95,697
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24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Contract liabilities

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

24

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

Htt BN RAREFER (R)
(@) &HEE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHBEBEHFBET
2024 2023
—E-ME —ETo=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FAET

Short-term advances received BWEF ARG R
from customers

Sale of properties HEWHE 4,080 19,460
Sale of trading goods HEXSEm 4,502 1,598
Total Bza 8,582 21,058

Contract liabilities included short-term advances
received to transfer property interests and to deliver
trading goods to customers. The decrease in contract
liabilities in the current year was mainly due to the
decrease in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sale of properties at the
end of the year.

Due to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

BRAEEREKE R EHERIA
BENERIZURRINRZE M
ERF -AEEANABRIE
EHNFREEVENEREF
COPSEEEE 0 R

(b) EN—EHMBARFEZRRR
IR
JEAT — I M B 8 A FEHE AR B ER 5K
AREERR RS RARERE

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

25 BALANCES DUE TO/LOAN FROM RELATED

25 BENBEEALEER FEREEA

PARTIES TEX
2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Current BN HA
Excel Win Limited (note (i)) Excel Win Limited
(B EEG)) 3,833 6,653
Mr. Wang (note (ii)) F 5 A (B EE (i) 37,866 343
Fitness Concept Limited (“FCL") (note (i)) EREEAIZ AR A A
([ R ] () 15 —
41,714 6,996
Non-current JE RN AR
Mr. Wang (note (ii)) T4 (B REGI) — 51,300
41,714 58,296

(i) The balances due to related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

A director of the Company has significant influence
over these related companies.

(i) As at 31 March 2024, except for the interest payable
amounted to HK$66,000, the remaining balance due
to Mr. Wang, executive director of the Company, was
unsecured, interest-bearing at 8.84% per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, except for the interest payable
amounted to HK$343,000, the remaining balance due
to Mr. Wang, executive director of the Company, was
unsecured, interest-bearing at 8.84% per annum and
repayable over one year.
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26 FTERITRHEMEER
BORROWINGS
2024
—E-ME
Contractual interest
rate per annum Maturity HK$’000
EHFEFIE B A FET
Current B #A
Bank loans — RITENR 3.45% to 7.18% 2024 144,328
secured — HEH 3.45% %7.18% —EF
Bank overdrafts RITEX Prime lending rate On demand 21,939
-0.5% to 1.0% RER
above HIBOR or
Prime Rate or bank
best lending rate
-1.5%
EEEEEFNE-05%
EHEBRITAEREM
1.0% B REERER
RITREER
EFE-1.5%
Trust receipt loans EEBIBEE R 5.8% to 6.94% 2024 1,722
5.8% %£6.94% —Z-mEF
Other borrowings Hinfg & 8.0% to 13.0% 2024 to 2025 67,114
— unsecured — EIEH 8.0%%13.0% —E_MEE
—EB-HE
235,103
Non-current JF BN AR
Bank loans — RITER 6.37% 2025 to 2026 40,500
secured — B —E-HEZR
—E-RE
Other borrowings Hitnfg & 9.0% 2026 20,000
— unsecured — EI ZEDXRE
60,500
295,603
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26
BORROWINGS (Continued)

HERTREMES (R

2023
—E=F
Contractual interest
rate per annum Maturity HK$'000
EX G ES F 83 H T
Current B HA
Bank loans — RITEN 3.65% to 6.83% 2023 156,398
secured — BiEM 3.65%%6.83% —Eo=F
Bank overdrafts RITHET Prime lending rate On demand 15,868
-0.5% to 1.0% ZENK
above HIBOR or Prime
Rate or bank best
lending rate —1.5%
HEBEENE-05%
ZEEBRITRAZER SN
1.0% 3 B AN K5
RITHES
BEME-15%
Trust receipt loans ErEIEE R 4.8% to 7.15% 2023 7,382
48%%27.15% —E-=
Other borrowings Hinfg & 6.0% to 12.0% 2023 42,551
— unsecured — IR 6.0%Z12.0% —E-=
222,199
Non-current Ik BP HA
Bank loans — RITENK 6.37% 2024 to 2026 71,250
secured — HIEH ZEZNFERE
—ERF
Other borrowings HEMfEE 7.0% to 10.0% 2024 98,720
— unsecured — 7.0%Z10.0% 4
169,970
392,169
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e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26 FTEBTREMEBE (E)
BORROWINGS (Continued)

2024 2023

—s-—maE —E-=s

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: EEERITER:

Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEK 167,989 179,648

In the second year FE_F 27,000 28,500

In the third to fifth year EZERF 13,500 42,750

Subtotal INET 208,489 250,898

Other borrowings, repayable: EEEHMEER:

Within one year or on demand —FRRILZENR 67,114 42,551

In the second year B _F — 98,720

In the third to fifth year FE-ERF 20,000 —

Subtotal NE 87,114 141,271

Total k) 295,603 392,169
Except for secured bank loans of HK$117,828,000 (2023: MO EIRERTTE 117,828,000/ 7T (=
HK$146,148,000) and unsecured other borrowings of T =4 : 146,148,000/ 71, ) & K 1
HK$41,114,000 (2023: HK$69,770,000) which are H b E41,114,0008 (T ==
denominated in RMB, and trust receipt loans of F 169,770,000 ) A ARBETE -
HK$385,000 (2023: HK$276,000) and HK$737,000 (2023: RARIAET EBTFHENEFRBES
HK$2,107,000) which are denominated in USD and Euro FX385,000/ 7L (ZF = =4 : 276,000
respectively, all remaining borrowings are denominated in L) &737,0008 T (ZE = = F :
Hong Kong dollar. 2,107,000/870) 245N » FTEH TEEY

LA JTETE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group's banking facilities are secured by:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

In addition,

the pledge of certain of the Group's leasehold land
and buildings situated in Hong Kong and the PRC of
HK$167,060,000 (2023: HK$163,294,000) (note 14);

the pledge of certain of the Group’s investment
properties situated in the PRC of HK$442,800,000
(2023: HK$487,920,000) (note 15);

the pledge of certain listed equity instruments held by
the Group’s equity investee with a fair value of
HK$34,358,000 as at 31 March 2023 and no equity
instruments held by the Group’s equity investee is
pledged as at 31 March 2024;

the pledge of certain of the Group’s properties held
for sale under development and properties held for
sale situated in the PRC of HK$145,800,000 (2023:
HK$145,692,000) (note 18);

the assignment of rental income from the leases of
certain of the Group’s properties; and

the pledge of the Group’s time deposits of
HK$4,000,000 (2023: HK$4,000,000) (note 22).

certain banking facilities are secured by

corporate guarantees executed by the Company as at
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023. One of the Group’s

other borrowings is secured by a personal

guarantee

executed by a director of the Company as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023.
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AEBEZRITEETATISELE
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HE&RE
The Group as a lessee EEEEREBAA
The Group has entered into leases for properties used in its REBECHHEEFMAMELEE -
operations. Leases of properties generally have lease terms MERSEHERRERIF - —KM
of 3 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning T AEEANAAAREEAIA T EE
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. EoMEMEEEE -
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are as follows: HEABRZIHMASTHT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Analysed into: WA
Within one year —FR 343 326
After one year but within two years —FREMFNR 331 344
After two years but within three years MW F&EBE=F R — 331
674 1,001
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash REEHREMEREIN L HIBBIFELE
flows comprise of cash outflows for leases of HK$362,000 FRmEE s cHERRE DA A
and HK$327,000 (2023: HK$604,000 and HK$30,000) in 362,000 T 327,000 L (ZE ==
operating and financing activities respectively. £ : 604,000/ 7T 130,000/ 7T) ©
BONDS PAYABLE 28 ENES

On 1 June 2022 and 22 August 2022, the Company issued
unlisted corporate bonds at a principal amount of
HK$13,000,000 (“13M Bond”) and HK$20,000,000 (“20M
Bond"”) respectively, which are unsecured, bears a fixed
interest rate of 10% and 7% per annum respectively, and
are fully redeemable by the Company after 2 years from the
issue date at its principal amount of HK$13,000,000 and
HK$20,000,000.

On 1 February 2024, the Company issued an unlisted
corporate bond at a principal amount of HK$13,000,000
("13M New Bond"”), which is unsecured, bears a fixed
interest rate of 10% per annum, and are fully redeemable
by the Company after 1 year from the issue date at its
principal amount of HK$13,000,000. The Company and the
holder of 13M New Bond, who is also the holder of 13M
Bond, agreed to offset with the subscription money of 13M
New Bond with the outstanding amount of 13M Bond.

The effective interest rate of the unlisted corporate bonds
are approximately 10%, 10% and 7% for 13M New Bond,
13M Bond and 20M Bond respectively.

RZEZZFRA—HEZZTZZFN
AZ+-HB AXRQRAIDHEAEHE
13,000,000 . ([13ME# ) &
20,000,000/% 7t ([20M1&E % |) 17 3
EHREES - BEER - DRRERE
FHEI0% M T%ETE - WA AARF]
BRTHAHBIMTARZEASSE
13,000,000 7T 5% 20,000,000/ T & £X
fE o

RZE-_WNF-_HA—H  ARaEAE
613,000,000/ 7T ([13M3TE %) &
TIELETREIES - AEER  ZKETE
FFEI0%ETE - WA RAR R BT
HHEIR R —F &L A A 4$%813,000,000
BT EEER - AR E13MITESF
BANNRAEIBMESEAE AR E
13MES 2 REELHEEIEIIMFES
2 REHIE -

FIBMEFES ~ 13MIES K 20MEH M
5 ELEMARIBHFERFIELSRLN A
10% ~ 10% % 7% ©

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

28 BONDS PAYABLE (Continued) 28 EMNEZ (&)
The maturity analysis of the unlisted corporate bond is set FEEMARIESF 2B BASTHT
out as below: N
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Within one year —FR 33,000 —
After one year but within two years —FREMFA — 33,000
Unlisted corporate bonds LT ARIES 33,000 33,000
29 DEFERRED TAX 29 EEMIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the FAN BEEHEEE (BE)ZE2H
year are as follows: W
Capital gain Losses
tax and  available for
withholding offsetting
tax on against future
Revaluation of  undistributed taxable
properties profits profits Total

BRRENEH ATRESRR
RARS A2 FER B A

B ANH M8 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET FHT
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_FMA—H 151,432 30,781 (877) 181,336
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to profit or FRNIERENHR /(T A)
loss during the year (note 10) ZIEFERIIE (F3E10) 11,699 (7,514) 103 4,288
Deferred tax charged to other FAREMZERENR 2
comprehensive income during the year — JEEFIE 529 — 529
Liabilities included in a disposal group st AHEHERz B E
(note 35) (Fi535) (57,538) — - (57,538)
Exchange realignment AR (3,853) — — (3,853)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZE-=Z4=A=+-H
R-ZE-_=FMNA—H 102,269 23,267 (774) 124,762
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FRRBRETAZ
during the year (note 10) EFERE (FiF10) (8,091) (10,659) — (18,750)
Deferred tax credit to other FAREMEZERSEFALZ
comprehensive income during the year RIERE (1,237) — (1,237)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE—RKB AR (ME34) — (895) — (895)
Exchange realignment [ % (2,645) — — (2,645)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_WN&E=A=1+—H 90,296 11,713 (774) 101,235
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$236,310,000 (2023: HK$191,860,000)
that are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$88,312,000 (2023: HK$98,544,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. In addition, the Group has temporary
differences arising from provision for inventories, accounts
receivable and other receivables of approximately
HK$25,637,000 (2023: HK$32,443,000) in aggregate as at
the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses of approximately HK$319,930,000
(2023: HK$285,713,000) and the above temporary
differences have not been recognised as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and
in the opinions of the directors, it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against the tax
losses can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

29

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

EERIE ()

REBRBFTREBEECHRBEBEENA
236,310,000 Tt (=& = = F :
191,860,000 L) + ATt FAVESISHE £
BB 2 DR 2 R RIERTBRF] - KAEE
TR B A E AR B D
88,312,000 (=T == F :
98,544,000 7C) * R —EZAFKHE
o DA B R R ERR B A o BEAb
RBERR  AEEEFE - EYWERIE
REMBVRBEREMEAEREZES
H#4925,637,0008 L (=T = = F
32,443,000 ) - M EE SR 2R
AEFRTE B E 49319,930,00008 T (==
=% :285,713,00087T) RIA FEES
ERARERER  RERAETDARDEE—
BREEONBARES  BEEERAT
Al Be 75 B R v W A PR VE ST SR S 1

e

REBBEERZSN P BEAMAZA
WBRRR®—_ZEZNF—A—HRBEL
R EFIFTD IR BESTEMT - A&
EMERAREA5%H10% o

ARB XIS TR ARG FIETE

A=
2o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 RA&
Shares % 12
Number of shares Share capital
R EAE [ &N
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: EE

31

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

RZE-_—FMWA—H -
—ZE-_=F=A=+t—-8"
“E-=FNA—HRK

—E-NFE=R=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BRIRBRE:
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, WZZ-—FmMA—H-
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —Z-=#=Zf=+—-H"
“E-=FMA-BRK
o MFE=R=+—H 1,466,820,600 146,682

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 August 2022, the share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) of the Company adopted on 15 August 2012
ceased to operate and a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme”) was adopted on 30 August 2022 to
comply with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules regarding share option schemes of a company. There
was no outstanding share option under the old scheme
upon its cessation.

The Company operates the Scheme and the New Scheme
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Eligible participants of these schemes
include the Company’s directors, including independent
non-executive directors, the Company’s shareholders and
other employees of the Group. The New Scheme became
effective on 30 August 2022 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.
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31 BREFE
RZZEZZFNA+MAE - RARKIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme and
the New Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Group at the
adoption date of the Scheme and the New Scheme.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme and the
New Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An
option may be exercised under the Scheme and the New
Scheme at any time during a period not exceeding 10 years
after the date when the option is granted and will expire
on the last date of such period.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company's shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of an ordinary share.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

BRRESE (&)
RBFTEIRFETE - BB TREZAK
TEBRERSHEE - RETER - 4
ERAEERRM S LS A
B9 2 10% °

PR+ — 8 A S i B A v AT
LA B BRA RS EERITRD
ZEEB  REUARREMRIRDET
BRAD 2 1% PR o (R —F R L HE B
LEPR R Z BB - AR KRS LB
R -

AARRBESE  TBTHRABSEER
REWFEMBEARLBERAE - BA
EREEIIFNITESIE - 1IN
i+ —{E A HEARA R R EZRRK
BUFRTEFTHEAREZHEAR
2 E BB AHE - R A R R AR
REE TR 0.1% B E (RKEEA
M ARBBRNERAE)BELEE
BT AFRERBRRRNEG LERRHY
JE ©

EFRAARBEHBREZLD 2 AEG
ZtRAXNREBAARENETTME
MBREEL - BRI 8 R at
AR BRERHE ARTBETFH
BT EREITE - MR ZBREN&E
— BB -

BREZTEERESEE - ETED
ROARRBRMRFEHBEREZOZA
REFSXFAFT R < T & ¢ (DA R BB
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Movement of outstanding share options under the Scheme
during the prior year:

B ESTE (&)
BRETERTHAAZAREINE
RRELREZERM -

W E— B4R - SHEIET WA
ENED

2023
—E_=%F

Weighted average
exercise price Number of
per share options

TR

kg3
TEE ElrEs A
HK$ ‘000
BT T
At beginning of year REY] 0.1205 33,652
Lapsed during the year FRBE KK 0.1205 (33,652)
At end of year RER — —

In the prior year, 33,652,000 share options lapsed and
HK$925,000 was released to retained profits. No share
options were granted, exercised nor lapsed during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

No share options were outstanding under the Scheme and
the New Scheme as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 107
and 108 of the consolidated financial statements.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 11 November 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, had entered into sale and purchase agreements
in relation to the acquisition of an additional 60% of the
registered share capital in the then 40% owned associate
of the Group, DMCL, at a total consideration of
HK$1,795,000.

Upon completion of the acquisition, DMCL had become a
100% owned subsidiary of the Company. The difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of 40%
shares on the acquisition date amounting to HK$1,984,000
was recognised as remeasurement loss on investment in an
associate for step acquisition in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

(GRS

RAFEREMBEFE  ARERESE
REZFHBEARGAMBHRREI07R
108EZ iR AR BEHRANZT -

W g — S FY 8 & =]
RZEZZF+—F+—8 &AQF)—
ME2EMBRAREFLEEHE  IE
FRMBHERSEM (AEBE R
BA0% T ZBE N R)) 5BIN60% 2 7
A - BAR{EA1,795,000/ 7T °

TR E - mE RS EMK AR QR
HEEI100%Em 2B AT - 40%&H
RRBEHBH EEEREATFEZBENZE
1,984,000 TN R & 1B &k NTER
BRESWE B E A RIRE ZEN
FTEEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

33 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

33 WiE—EKBLF (&)
REBEBEH  BREheEM 2 #5E

DMCL as at the date of acquisition were as follows: ERBEZAFERT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
BB S HERR
A¥ME
HK$'000
FET
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BMHE - Ze kA EKFIE 2,656
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEER 42
Other payables E fth i A5 R (379)
Tax payable JE A 7518 (2,132)
187
Goodwill on acquisition (note 13) W BE 2 & (FfsE13) 1,683
1,870
Satisfied by: FETEIHAEN
Cash Be 1,795
Fair value of previously held equity interests WERAREZRFE 75
1,870
Net cash outflow on acquisition: Wi 2 B R
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE (1,795)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B Ez R kR e FEER 42
(1,753)

The Group incurred no transaction cost for the acquisition.

Since the acquisition, DMCL contributed no revenue to the
Group’s revenue and HK$32,000 to the consolidated loss
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2023,
the revenue of the Group and the loss of the Group for the
year 2023 would have been HK$97,563,000 and
HK$93,672,000, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 30 August 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company had disposed of its entire equity interest in

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

34

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

HEKRB QTR
RZZE-_=FN\A=+H8 " xR a—H
2EMBRARELEERIVEXE(E

Honour Advance Real Estate (Hainan) Limited* to an H)BRARIZEIRET —BBILE
independent third party. =F-
Please refer to notes 21 and note 35 to the consolidated BTG B2RRA M BRERMNE21
financial statements for details. MBIzE35 -
HK$'000
T
Details of net assets disposed of are as EHEEEFEFEBENOT
follows:
Completed properties held for sale BERTRHEME 36,845
Other payables and accruals H AR RIBRIEFER (141)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 29) LR IR B E (M7E29) (895)
35,809
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B ARz K 31,015
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve e 2% B) 7% 8 1 D) 594
Satisfied by: IAT5 7 KER
Cash Re 67,418

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

FHLE—RHNBRARZRENRSS
BEERAFESNOT

HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration BeRE 81,111
Less: Effect of discounting the outstanding W RARBEREZITREE
consideration (6,355)
Legal and professional fee and transaction ENEEREXBERURRS
costs paid DN (7,338)
Net consideration RIEFHE 67,418
Less: Deposits received o BliRe (2,106)
Outstanding consideration to be received & T U el mARIEERE (55,449)
Add: Imputed interest income o EE R B U A 1,760
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in FHLE—HMBARZRERIR
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary TEEEARAFRE 11,623
* English name for identification purpose only. * EXATHEMEHER -
HERREBREBARAR Z—TZUFFR
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

34 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 34 HEMEBE2F (F)
On 31 March 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the RZFEZ=F=H=+—H ' KQ7A—
Company had disposed of its entire equity interest in /& MEENEARENEERNEEA MY
2P AR AR A A to an independent third party, GBI EERAR 22 RET —2 B
with a cash consideration of HK$1. NE=F RERERVET-
Details of the net assets disposed of are as follows: EREEEFENFBOT
HK$'000
FHEIT
Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) W - KB KR (s 14) 4,265
Accounts receivables JE W AR 5K 2
Inventory PENY 749
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERFIE « e R H M E R ZIE 667
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEHEIEE 6
Other payables and accruals H At A~ 50IE K AT B A (1,221)
Non-controlling interests FEFRE AR i 2 (2,333)
2,135
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FENB AR ZEBE (2,147)
Exchange fluctuation reserve EZOR B R E R E 6

Satisfied by:
Cash

AT 5 75 BT
RE

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary during the year

ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:

EENBE_TE_=F=A=1+—HI
FEALE—HNBRARZEE LIRS
FEEBRLFEINAOT

HK$'000
TAET

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of and net
outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal of a subsidiary

EHERSRRSEEEANREMR
HE-HNBRARAzRE MRS
F{EIA B i FE

*  Below HK$1,000

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE

As at 31 March 2023, the Disposal 1 and Disposal 2 were
still in progress, which was subject to further negotiations
between the parties and the execution of formal definitive
agreement by the relevant parties.

Consequently, the related assets and liabilities from the
Disposal 1 and Disposal 2 were classified as held for sale.

The Disposal 1 and Disposal 2 were completed on 30
August 2023 (notes 21 and 34). The accounting profit on
the Disposal 2, after deducting related transaction cost of
HK$28,857,000, amounted to HK$44,129,000 and was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal 1
and Disposal 2 classified as held for sale as at 31 March
2023 were as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

35

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

TER/GEZHEAR

R-EBE-_=F=ZA=+—H HEFHE
1 RHESEE2DEETR - HALRTH

THE- DAL AR AT FELIER
RRBHEE  HAMEE -

At - HEFHIRHEFH2ZHEME
ENBENBEREE -

HEFHEIREEFHE2ENR S =F
NA=Z+BEK(HFE21%34) c HE
FE2Z G FHEHNBRERR SR A
28,857,000 1% + & 5F44,129,000%
T WEREBE-_E-_NE=A=1+—
AIEFEZHEBRRPER -

R-ZEB_=F=A=+—H HEFHA
IRHEEFRH2 2T EEERBBEEND
BREEWNT

Notes HK$'000
B 5 T T
Assets BE
Investment properties mEYE 15 299,250
Properties held for sale under development /&R iFEME R IFEME
and properties held for sale 32,807
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEHEIER 120
Assets classified as held for sale DEEBGEEE 332,177
Liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals B RIENETEA (210)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE 29 (57,538)
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOBAREEAEERMERY
assets classified as held for sale afE (57,748)
Net assets directly associated with disposal £2 & 48 Bl B # MR 2
group* BEFE 274,429
# Intragroup balances of HK$5,983,000 was eliminated and thus not # £ B A5 #25,983,000/8 T 2 S8 - 0

included in assets/liabilities classified as held for sale.

FANERKEEZEE /AER-
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

35 A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 35 4S8 ASExHeE4AR (&)

SALE (Continued)

Details of disposal of investment properties under Disposal
2 during the year ended 31 March 2024 were as follows:

BEARBE_Z-_WF=A=+—HIt
FEARBHEFH2HEREMEZ

B

HK$'000
FHEIT
Cash consideration BeRE 342,417

Less: Effect of discounting the outstanding B RAKFEREBZITREE
consideration (26,827)

Legal and professional fee and transaction ENERREXBAURRS

costs paid DN (28,857)
Net consideration REFHE 286,733
Less: Net assets disposed* B BEHEEEFEY (245,092)
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREMHE 2 W 41,641

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of investment properties is as

follows:

ERLEREMEZRELAESEFER
BRAFEINT

HK$'000
FAT
Cash consideration RENRE 342,417
Less: Effect of discounting the outstanding W MRBERBEZITRAEE
consideration (26,827)
Legal and professional fee and transaction EMERERBEEBERURR S
costs paid BN (28,857)
Net consideration REBFEE 286,733
Less: Deposits received o B e (8,894)
Outstanding consideration to be received T E Lz mARBERE (234,082)
Add: Imputed interest income o AE RS WA 7,432
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERHEREMELRERBEE
respect of the disposal of investment properties  {AIE B i A F 5 51,189
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

35 A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 35 S EASEZHEAR (&)
SALE (Continued)

* Details of the net assets disposed of are as follow: * BHEFEEZHBOT
HK$'000
FHET
Investment properties REY X 280,875
Deferred tax liabilities RIEBITA B & (57,538)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve R bR BB R B RE B 21,755
Net assets disposed BEHEFEE 245,092
36 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36 MREeaBR&REXRKET
CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transaction (@) FEHFREXRS
An unlisted corporate bond at a principal amount of — I8 7K € %813,000,000/% T 2 FE
HK$13,000,000 is offset with a newly subscribed EMRARESFBH-EFTREES
bond. HH o
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(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

36 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36 #&HRE&REBXRM T (&)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METBELENEERE
activities
Note to consolidated cash flow HEBEERENTF
Interest-
bearing
bank and Due to
Lease other Bonds related
liabilities borrowings payable parties Total
HERITR ) EfRE N
HERE H4EE EGES At 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET FTET FHET FTET
At 1 April 2022 R-E--“§HmA—AH — 457,050 — — 457,050
Changes from financing cash MERSREZH
flows
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITEHMBHE - — 33,000 — 33,000
New bank and other borrowings HESRIRAMES
raised ‘ — 329,767 — — 329,767
Repayment of bank and other BRRIREMEE
borrowings — (389,681) — — (389,681)
Principal portion of lease liabilites ~ & & &2 &4 17 (30) — — — (30)
Advance from a related party RE—EBEATZ
E — — — 51,300 51,300
Total changes from financing cash BMER&HEBR BHAE
flows (30) (59,914) 33,000 51,300 24,356
Other changes: ﬁﬂﬂﬁib
New lease =1 1,031 — — — 1,031
Interest expenses recognised EﬁE 2RI BB % — 40,690 1,927 2,483 45,100
Exchange adjustment @Ruﬂ N — (20,835) — — (20,835)
Changes from operating cash flows E&E&HTEEZH — (40,690) (1,927) (2,483) (45,100)
Total other changes Hitt B EEE 1,031 (20,835) — — (19,804)
At 31 March 2023 and R-—Z-=f=8
1 April 2023 =+-BkK
—E-_=FDMA—-H 1,001 376,301 33,000 51,300 461,602
Changes from financing cash MEREREZH
flows
New bank and other borrowings HESROIREMEE
raised — 214,589 — — 214,589
Repayment of bank and other BRRTREMEER
borrowings ) — (306,285) — — (306,285)
Principal portion of lease liabilites ~ & & &2 A& 1) (327) — — — (327)
Repayment to a related party m—2BEATER — — — (10,900) (10,900)
Total changes from financing cash BERSRESBHEE
flows (327)  (91,6%) —  (10,900)  (102,923)
Other changes: Hitr 8
Interest expenses recognised BHRRFEHE 45 24,433 2,707 3,862 31,047
Exchange adjustment Eﬁbuﬂ% . — (10,941) — (2,600) (13,541)
Changes from operating cash flows &&BR&HEEH) (45) (24,433) (2,707) (3,862) (31,047)
Total other changes Hitt BB A — (10,941) — (2,600) (13,541)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-F
=ZA=+-8 674 273,664 33,000 37,800 345,138
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

37 AiE
A EERRE R LT B AR

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
—E-ME —_ET-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: BT HNEREE
Capital contributions payable to equity — ERHIZAFE AR
investments at fair value through @R RERE &
profit or loss FiN 1,435 1,201
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38 BEEALIRS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) BZEGRAVEHmREMAMEF

elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions

M2 R MBI T RER
AEEEBEALETZIEAR

with related parties during the year: 2
2024 2023
—EZMEF —E=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET
Management fee income kE—HBEEARZ
from a related company EREERA (i) — 55
Management fee income ke —EEE QA2
from an associate ERERA (ii) 1,379 1,353
Rental income from a related KB —EBERRFZ
company HaL WA (iii) 216 210
Rental income from ke —MEBEARZ
an associate Ea WA (iv) 120 120
Management fee to a related  [A1—ERBIE R A X
company EEB (v) 360 360
Interest expense to a related m—REEALTZNS
party BRI (vi) 3,862 2,483
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(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(Continued)

(a)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The management fee was charged to FCL by reference to
actual costs incurred for the services provided by the Group.
Mr. Tjia is a director of and has beneficial interests in the
Company and FCL, while Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William is a
director of the Company and FCL.

The management fee was charged by reference to actual costs
incurred for the services provided by the Group.

During the vyear, rental income was charged to FCL at
HK$18,000 (2023: HK$18,000) per month in average.

During the year, rental income was charged to an associate at
HK$10,000 per month as mutually agreed between the
parties.

The management fee was paid to FCL by reference to the
terms of agreement as agreed between both parties.

The interest expense was charged by the loan from a related
party, namely, Mr. Wang, executive director of the Company
(note 25). On the basis that the loan is a financial assistance
received by the Group from a connected person which is
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and is not
secured by the assets of the Group, such financial assistance
constitutes a continuing connected transaction which is fully
exempted.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s balances with associates as at
the end of the reporting period are included in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group's balances with related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are included in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group’s balances with non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 24(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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(a)

(#)

(i) EIRE Y2 RANEERHE 2 RIS PR
B2 BRI A RURE Al IR
B WEERADRRRBEAREZ
EEVHAEGED  MABEL
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(ii) EIRE Y2 RANEERHE 2 RIS PR
EEZEBERARMUE

iy FARN-HBEEADRFEHEA
18,0007 7L(— & — =4 : 18,000/&
) 1A K B A 22 R

(iv)  FRN - EFTHEFHE - A — R
&N aEE 2 KA E A 10,0007
77: o

(v) ERBENSBENHE 2 B ER
i FREE Al -
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FE AW B A B (LE— AR
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2 o
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e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
() Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors and the chief executive of the Company.
Details of their remuneration are disclosed in note 8
to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions above also constituted
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

3838 BEALRS (&)

(0 AEEXEEEABZHH:

AEBFZEBRABRARAZ
EENRTETHRAER - WE 2B

THBRERE

5% o

BTSSR MY AE 8 3%

EXHRzBBEBALRSHEXETR
AFVVAEREZHEBERS -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39 BERESZEMIA
Financial assets TREE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through RZQFEFABEEREZ
profit or loss SREE
Equity investments at fair value through £ A F(EFTABREY
profit or loss IR % & 39,815 157,463
Financial assets at amortised cost REBEREATFEZSH
BE
Due from associates JE Wt = A 7 3,868 2,532
Accounts receivable JEW AR IR 32,658 14,048
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFBfTFIE « 2& &
deposits and other receivables H fth e W RIE ) & Bl
BE 315,015 14,456
Pledged deposits [z iR EE N 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEER 42,338 24,408
397,879 59,444
437,694 216,907
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(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39 ZREREszEeMIA (&)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities cRAsE
2024 2023
—E-OmF —E=F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R A EZ SR
a&
Accounts payable FEfTERTE 22,699 5,062
Financial liabilities included in other A A FER SR8 K
payables and accruals EErERNSRAE 77,090 56,838
Due to associates FEASTHSE 2 A A 63 —
Due to related parties FERTEEE AL 41,714 58,296
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITEREMEER
borrowings 295,603 392,169
Lease liabilities HEaE 674 1,001
Bonds payable &S 33,000 33,000
470,843 546,366
FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40 @B TEAAFERAFEER

40

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRE{E NFE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEDmE —T-= ZEDmE —T-=
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT FERT FAT
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments BRATES AERE
at fair value through R RERE
profit or loss 39,815 157,463 39,815 157,463
Financial liabilities A==
Interest-bearing bank and T ERIT R EAM
other borrowings (with & & (B IEENER
non-current portion) &) 108,614 169,521 108,614 169,521
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the financial
controller is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
the directors of the Company. At each reporting date, the
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the directors of the Company.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amounts
due from/to associates and related parties, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings classified as
current liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

40

HEHREREEERAQA

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

TMTAZAFERLIFESER
(&)

B BAERENAREZ AR 5H
BaEETeRm I AN FETENK
BREF - AR BEBFEERARF
EXER NEREAHY 2AHKE
Bofrem T ABENKIIETEGE
PEMNEIEHARE - AEHAR
REFEEMRILE -

EEECDHEREAAEEFERE X
REIRE - DEFFR - BURE - &
FRRIE - FEATENFIR - BE REME
Wz & BEE - st AR MR FR
REFERZEBREE  BU e
ERAREEALTRELGBRITRE
EE(DBERRBAE) 2ATE R
FRAAREEERERS  T2RA
REETEEREHAZIE -

SRAERABOATENEEERZ
EHNEM TR ZERT S (%
SR EEERINERIN) ST A -
HATHT AR BRY A FEETH
i :

ZEZIUFEFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

40

LA TTEIR)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been
estimated using market-based valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are supported by observable market prices
or rates. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, certain unlisted
equity investments carry out property redevelopment
projects and the fair values of the properties under these
projects are considered in the fair value assessment by the
directors; while an unlisted investment carries a listed equity
investment and its quoted market price is also considered in
the fair value assessment by the directors. The valuation
requires the directors to determine comparable public
companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple for
each comparable company identified. The multiple is
calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then adjusted for considerations such as
illiquidity and size differences between the comparable
companies based on company-specific facts and
circumstances. A discount for lack of marketability
("“DLOM") is applied in the fair value assessment,
representing the amounts of premium and discounts
determined by the Group that market participants would
take into account when pricing the investments. The
adjusted multiple is applied to the corresponding equity and
earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments to
measure the fair value. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
techniques, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in
fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period. The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings repayable beyond one year after the end of the
reporting period as assessed on an individual borrowing
basis have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023.
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TMTAZAFERLIFESR
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FLEMBRERERFEERAAEED
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40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of unlisted equity investments, together with
a quantitative sensitivity analysis, as at 31 March 2024 and

2023.

Valuation techniques

DR

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTABERGARE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

SHMITAZAFERDFEER
(%)
ATAR-Z-NER-B-=F=Zf
S -AYELTREREAGEZER
FABRRBABRBMEERTEREE
A -

Range/weighted average

BE MEFHY

Sensitivity of fair value to
the inputs
APEHBABBE 2 HRE

Investment method

Residual method

FREE

Asset approach

BER

Estimated rental value (per

square meter per

month) and revisionary

yield

it HeBEE(BASYT

TR RER KRR

Average market unit
selling price

Discount for lack of
marketability

Bz Mg mimlEiT R

RMB145 to RMB201 and 5.75%
to 6.00% (2023: RMB154 to
RMB231 and 5.50% to 5.75%)

ARE145 T2 ARE201 TR

5.75%%6.00% (ZZ =%

ARBIS4TEARE 231 TR
5.50%£5.75%)

HK$21,522 (2023: HK$24,535)

21528 (22 =%
24,5357 7T)

N/A (2023: 3.00%)

TEB(ZE==%:3.00%)

MERREBEEFRAAF

1% increase/decrease in estimated
rental value and reversionary yield
would result in increase/decrease in
fair value by HK$138,000 (2023:
HK$344,000)

e EBERERREEE M WD

1% & B BN TFEE I, H4 138,000
BT (ZTZ=4% : 344,000/ 7T)

1% increase/decrease in average market
unit selling price would result in
increase/decrease in fair value by
HK$1,270,000 (2023:
HK$2,716,000)

THTIGEMLEEEM 1% 15 H
HATFEE M HAD 1,270,000 T
(ZZZ=%:2,716,000/%T)

N/A (2023: 1%) increase/decrease in
discount for lack of marketability
would result in decrease/increase in
fair value by N/A (2023: HK$42,000)

TRz TS M T AR AR i A
(ZEZ=%1%) BER R FER

L/ ENTER(ZE =5
42,0007 )

ZEZIUFEFR
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40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40 R IBZAFERAFEEZH

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (#%&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIIFAEEEHIANQTESNE
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments: 4
Assets measured at fair value BRAFEATENEE

2024

—EomE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NEBMEZ BEAXTBE EATAEE
HE WAE WAE

(& B1—) (&ABI=) (RBI=) CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Equity investments at fair value %A F{E&F A
through profit of loss Bk R
BE — — 39,815 39,815
2023
—TC=F
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERTSEZ EAUER BEATHUBER
HwiE BABE BABE

(#3—) (A=) (A=) =X
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Equity investments at fair value &R AF{EzT A
through profit of loss BRI
BRE — — 157,463 157,463
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40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

40

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

TMTAZAFERLIFESER
(&)

DNFEERAE)
BRAFETEHNEE (&
ERBRH=AFEHEZBBWT

2024 2023
—E-OEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT T
Equity investments — unlisted: RERE — FLm:

At beginning of year REL) 157,463 229,790
Purchases BA 3,765 3,382
Refund of investment RERK (16,520) —

Fair value loss recognised in profit RIERERABRN QT
or loss BEE (104,893) (75,709)
At end of year RER 39,815 157,463

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s financial liabilities not
measured at fair value but for which fair values were
disclosed included those interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with non-current portion of HK$108,614,000
(2023: HK$169,521,000). The fair values of these financial
liabilities disclosed were measured based on valuation
techniques of income approach of which the key input,
being the market interest rate ranging from 7.64% to
9.83% (2023: from 5.21% to 10.29%), which has a
significant effect on the fair value are observable (Level 2).

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

HEHREREEERAQA

R-ZE-_NME=ZA=+—0 AEHZ
WEANFEFEERILIEEAFEZ
TR AEREZ SIS MO BIRTT
N EAEE 108,614,000 (- T - =
F :169,521,00087C) - ZE2MEE
s o A EDERRACEEET A
Mate  EFHATFEEEEATEY
FEHABE BIWIBHENT7.64%
£983% (ZZE-=F : NF521% %
10.29%)) H AR (B =) -

FR eREENERAGBZHEN A
AR — 2 B AT EFE 2B - IR
BEEREEREMN = (T =5
&) -

ZEZIUFEFR
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41

LA TTEIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, equity
investments, cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts
receivable, accounts payable, deposits and other receivables,
balances with associates and related parties, and other
payables and certain accruals, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are disclosed in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. Other
financial assets and liabilities of the Group do not have
significant interest rate risk. Interest-bearing bank loans and
overdrafts, other interest-bearing loans, loan from a related
party, bonds payable, cash and cash equivalents, and
short-term deposits are stated at cost and are not revalued
on a periodic basis. Floating-rate interest income and
expense are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as incurred.

The nominal interest rates of the financial instruments
approximate to their respective effective interest rates.
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HHEEREEREERBEE

AEET2EMTABREABRITRE
fofE s - BERE  ReMRESFER
BREEAER  ZFERMTAZEER
RzERtEEXBERES - A5H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and
equity (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

MHEEREEBRERBE (&)

FRE ks (E)
TRERRATEEMESRFTEMNE
T REBERBATEEREZ (BB
FERIREBESE) WA RAIEEHES
BEE) 2 SURE o

Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) in Increase/
(decrease) in loss before (decrease) in
basic points tax equity*
2 EHR RR B AT & 18 M
(TE)  ®A/(Em) (R D) *
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
2024 —E-MME
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (927) —
RMB AR 100 (2,129) —
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 927 —
RMB AR (100) 2,129 —
2023 —E-=
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (949) —
RMB AR 100 (3,070) —
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 949 —
RMB AR (100) 3,070 —
* Excluding retained profits. * TEIERBEF -
Credit risk FEERR

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

AEBEERRERAREBAENE=T
BITR S o RBAKBEMBEK - AR
BERGRRETRINEP  HAKLS
EERERFR  FAEE - USh - &
KSESRHEEREREHNBR  MA
SEMZERERIY FEX -

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

41 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41 B#¥EMERERBZERBUR (#)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERB (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERBRITEFZER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRERENRFTEEEEIRNEEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, =hEsEERR (X2RaBERSE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other L BRIFEE A RIS B RHE TR LR INK
information is available without undue cost or effort, and REBH)  UERZZ_MFR-ZF
year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2024 and ZEF=A=tT—HAMFERERE -
2023. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts FENeEAcmEEMBIREmE -
for financial assets.
2024
—B-NEF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=@EA
EHEE
Bx 2HEHREERX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
E-ER  EoEER E=RER Ak @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FEx TERT TERT FET
Accounts receivable* JFE Wi B 7R + — — — 48,294 48,294
Financial assets included in FFATERFRIE
prepayments, deposits and RERHEME
other receivables** WHIER 2/
ﬁé**
— Normal — % 315,015 — — 315,015
— Doubtful — &k — — 22,429 — 22,429
Due from associates** JRE W B 2 8 A+ 3,868 — — — 3,868
Pledged deposits BHEMAER
— Not yet past due — R 4,000 — — 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents e ke %E
HE
— Not yet past due — X@a 42,338 — — — 42,338
365,221 — 22,429 48,294 435,944
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

41 MHEREEBESERBEE)

EERE (&)
RERBRITEFEER (&

(continued)
2023
—E-=HF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=@A
BHEE
=PS FHIEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—EE  FREE  F=RE  BtHE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHET FHT FAT
Accounts receivable* JFEE Uit B 38 * — — — 27,434 27,434
Financial assets included in FFATERFIE -
prepayments, deposits and e REAMER
other receivables** FIBHEE
?ﬁé**
— Normal — I 14,456 — — — 14,456
— Doubtful — XK — — 23,549 — 23,549
Due from associates** JFEE LA B A R )+ 2,532 — — — 2,532
Pledged deposits BHEATER
— Not yet past due — R 4,000 — — — 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RelHe%E
1BH
— Not yet past due — K@ 24,408 — — — 24,408
45,396 — 23,549 27,434 96,379
* For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the simplified * B AN 52 B FE BB L 77 0 A FE URCBR 3K i

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and amounts due from associates is
considered as “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets have a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered as “doubtful”.

* %

BEEREREABFRAT

T REBEBEEEEENENNGEMH
IRRMIGT20HER -

5t ATE IR - R R E A WA
CREEREREEATRATEDHA
TERENBREREENEERRAYS
ERREEEN  BAGEEARRERIE
Ble-RzZ eREENGEHEERRAES
[RER] e

ZEZIUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

41

LA TTEIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption
of default based on reasonable and supportable
information, including the Group’s credit risk control
practices and the historical recovery rate of the financial
assets over 90 days past due.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
overdrafts, bank loans and other interest-bearing
borrowings. The Group's policy is to ensure the match in of
maturity of its financial liabilities against that of its financial
assets, and the maintenance of a current ratio, which is
defined as current assets over current liabilities, at above
one so as to enhance stable liquidity.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

REBESERE ()
RBEHR - AREZBEREDTLH
BERBBENRZBBMBEROT

(BSHEZHIN

A TSI R)

MHEREEBRREREE(E)

2024
—E-OF
On demand or
less than
12 months 1 to 5 years Total
RERKDR
T=@EA —ZRF et
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
Accounts payable JET BRI 22,699 — 22,699
Financial liabilities included in &t A X b &~ 58 K &
other payables and accruals FTEHAZERAE 77,090 — 77,090
Due to related parties FERTRAE A+ 43,543 — 43,543
Interest-bearing bank and ATERITREMEE
other borrowings 247,043 62,654 309,697
Bonds payable JERTE 34,635 — 34,635
Lease liabilities HE&E 371 340 711
425,381 62,994 488,375
2023
—E=F
On demand or
less than
12 months 1 to 5 years Total
BERRDR
+ =& A —E=RF HEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Accounts payable et BR T8 5,062 — 5,062
Financial liabilities included in &t A X b &~ 718 & &
other payables and accruals :tEFAZ&m/EE 56,838 — 56,838
Due to related parties FEfTRAE AT 11,530 53,411 64,941
Interest-bearing bank and SARRITRHEMEE
other borrowings 260,796 180,600 441,396
Bonds payable JETEFH 2,700 33,773 36,473
Lease liabilities HEEE 371 710 1,081
337,297 268,494 605,791
MEEREFEEARAT —T_WHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

41

LA TTEIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

in economic

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
accounts payable, other payables and accruals, amounts due
to associates and related parties, bonds payable, lease
liabilities, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
less pledged deposits, and cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods

were as follows:

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

MHEREEBRREREE(E)

EXREE (F)
R|ERKR - ERNBELEDT

2024 2023
—E-OF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Accounts payable FE T AR IE 22,699 5,062
Other payables and accruals H S 5/ R ERT B A 91,239 95,697
Due to associates AN NG 63 —
Due to related parties FEfTREE AL 41,714 58,296
Bonds payable FERHE 33,000 33,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 674 1,001
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings 295,603 392,169
Less: Pledged deposits o B IRFR (4,000) (4,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReMREeEFEEER (42,338) (24,408)
Net debt BIAF 5 438,654 556,817
Capital F=N 1,353,075 1,477,726
Capital and net debt BARREIEFRE 1,791,729 2,034,543
Gearing ratio AXaELE 24% 27%
HEFREREEARLAR Z—T_NFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42 ZXATZHEMRRE
COMPANY
2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHE AR 2 RE 619,777 663,137
Total non-current assets kARBEEHRE 619,777 663,137
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments TET IR 2 2
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEHEIEE 357 374
Total current assets REBEEHE 359 376
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals JEEtER 949 951
Due to subsidiaries FESHHT B A A) 54,456 53,976
Bonds payable FERIE S 33,000 —
Interest-bearing borrowings HTEEE 20,000 27,500
Total current liabilities RBaERE 108,405 82,427
Net current liabilities RBEEFEE (108,046) (82,051)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHBERRBER 511,731 581,086
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Bonds payable JERTE S — 33,000
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 20,000 38,000
Total non-current liabilities kFBEEHAE 20,000 71,000
NET ASSETS EEFE 491,731 510,086
EQUITY R
Issued capital B ITRY A 146,682 146,682
Reserves (note) e (M) 345,049 363,404
TOTAL EQUITY S 491,731 510,086
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

42 ARTFzHHMRRE (&)

Note: B 5 -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARREREWT -
Share Capital
premium Contributed redemption Share option Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve losses Total
B R ER EREG REABOFEE BRERR RIAER £
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FET FHT FET FHT FET
At 1 April 2022 R-E--FWA—H 240,853 155,531 14,457 925 (30,333) 381,433
Loss for the year and total ~ AFEEERAFE
comprehensive loss for the SEEBEE
year — — — (18,029) (18,029)
Transfer of share option BRI A EERE
reserve upon the lapse of s
share options — — (925) 925 —
At 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=F
1 April 2023 =A=+—-Bk
—Z-=F1MA—H 240,853 155,531 14,457 — (47,437) 363,404
Loss for the year and total ~ AFEBEBRAFE
comprehensive loss for the PEEBERE
year — — — (18,355) (18,355)
At 31 March 2024 KT _mF
—A=+—H 240,853 155,531 14,457 — (65,792) 345,049

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21 May 1997
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), a distribution may be made out of
the contributed surplus, provided that the Company will be
able to pay its liabilities as they fall due and subsequent to
the distribution, the aggregate amount of its total liabilities,
issued share capital and share premium is less than the
realisable value of its assets.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

ARRBHBRBERER - NANEF
FA-T-BXREEEAEAMBANBR
AR 2 AT ER BT RREZ SR
MZARBBRINEEIER - REAR
E—NN\—FREPAREFR) - ERA
BRAEDIR - R RARBIKBRENE
NHEIMENEE  BRDIK®E - H&
B ERTRAMREMEEZEF
MEERINEEE A EREE-

BREREERDROEINRITENE
BENDTE SEMBHRERME2.4
PREA BAR I RER Z MRS K
REEEAENRE - ERASFH/RA
RN EETERERERMEER -
SR AR RIS B JE I S ORI B
RE A o

MERREBREEARAT —ToWFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

43 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

Lease of premises

On 25 June 2024, Deson E-Commerce (Kaifeng) Co.,
Ltd. CREBZEHE (M) BMRAF) and Deson
Property Development (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd. (il & 32
B (F$)ARLDA), both being indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered
into eight lease agreements in respect of the lease of
eight premises with eight lessors, all are independent
third parties, for a period of 180 months
commencing from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2039 (both
days inclusive) (“Lease Agreements”). Under HKFRS
16, the Company will recognise the present value of
the aggregate lease payments of approximately
RMB29,203,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,540,000) as a right-of-use asset in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
The entering into of the Lease Agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a
major transaction of the Company and is subject to
the notification, announcement, circular and
shareholder’s approval requirements under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules.

Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 June 2024.

Amended Deed in respect of 20M Bond

On 6 May 2024, the Company executed the
Amendment Deed by way of deed poll pursuant to
which the Company agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the 20M Bond (as disclosed in note
28). Pursuant to the Amendment Deed, the Company
undertook and agreed to repay part of the principal
amount under the 20M Bond to HK$15,000,000 and
extend the maturity date of the remaining principal
for a further two years from 21 August 2024 to 21
August 2026. Save as disclosed above, the principal
terms of the 20M Bond remain unchanged and are
still in full force and effect.

44 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year's presentation of the consolidation financial
statements.

45

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June

2024.
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A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five

financial years is set out below.

Summary of Financial Information

MBERBME

TXHEIIAERERNEEREMBRFEED T H#

CEBUREE BENMFERBSHME -

RESULTS ¥E
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —E-=F —T--F —T-—F —E-FTE
HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FATT FATT FAETT FATT
REVENUE WA 128,074 97,563 109,995 103,799 351,614
LOSS FROM OPERATING R BERREBLE
ACTIVITIES AFTER FINANCE EXREE
COSTS (61,681) (87,743) (65,829) (34,280) (33,223)
Share of profits and losses of 2l B & 2 &l3& FIl
associates, net BE  FE 40 1,807 20,750 2,037 (1,790)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRI AIEE (61,641) (85,936) (45,079) (32,243) (35,013)
Income tax (expense)/credit FIER(AX),/ Ee (15,133) (7,998) 14,092 (6,659) (2,523)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEEHRE (76,774) (93,934) (30,987) (38,902) (37,536)
Attributable to: AT AL RERN
Owners of the Company KRB A (75,691)  (90,967) (27,274) (36,738) (35,296)
Non-controlling interests RS (1,083) (2,967) (3,713) (2,164) (2,240)
(76,774) (93,934) (30,987) (38,902) (37,536)
MEREREEBABRAT "—E-NEER
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Summary of Financial Information

BREERBE
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BERFEZERER
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —FE-o=F —FT-o-F —TE-—F —T-FHE
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FRT FAETT FATT FATT FAETT
Total assets BEE 1,978,784 2,262,780 2,469,835 2,391,039 2,227,228
Total liabilities wad (637,194)  (795,529)  (797,731)  (804,617)  (711,552)
Non-controlling interests RS 11,485 10,475 5,606 2,979 5,029
1,353,075 1,477,726 1,677,710 1,589,401 1,520,705
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